
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Finance and Audit 
Committee

Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Monday, 
18 February 2019 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to 
be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 12)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public. 

5. Presentation from Multi-Asset Funds Managers PRESENTATION 

6. Treasury Management Strategy and Capital Strategy 2019/20 (Pages 13 - 84)

7. Audit & Counter Fraud Update - Q3 2018-19 (Pages 85 - 
110)

8. Audit & Counter Fraud Strategy Review (Pages 111 - 
122)



9. Audit & Counter Fraud Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme 
Review 

(Pages 123 - 
134)

10.Development of the Corporate Risk Register for 2019-2020 (Pages 135 - 
188)

11.Budget Monitoring Report - 2018-19 (Q3) (Pages 189 - 
226)

12.PSAA Audit Quality Monitoring Arrangements (Pages 227 - 
234)

13.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

14.Exclusion of the public 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

Part B

Items likely to be considered in private

Members

Cllr Lenny Rolles (Chair)
Cllr William Lambert (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: John Burden
Leslie Hills
Karen Hurdle
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Peter Rayner
Robin Theobald

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Finance & Audit Committee
 

Tuesday, 14 November 2018                                      7:30pm 

Present:

Cllr Lenny Rolles (Chair)
Cllr Michael Wenban (Acting Vice-Chair)  

Cllrs: John Burden 
Karen Hurdle 
Leslie Hills  
Shane Mochrie-Cox 
Peter Rayner 
Robin Theobald  

Sarah Parfitt Assistant Director (Corporate Services)
Wale Adetoro Assistant Director (Housing) 
Alexandra Jarvis 
Andrew Barnett 
Helen Thaqi 
Mark Cayzer 

Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) 
Principal Accountant (General Fund)
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Team Leader 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Team Leader 

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes) 

79. Apologies for absence 

Apologies of absence were received from Cllr William Lambert (Cllr Michael Wenban 
subbed), Emily McKeown and Elizabeth Jackson, the two representatives from Grant 
Thornton. 

80. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on Tuesday, 11 September 2018 were signed by the Chair

81. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr John Burden declared a non-pecuniary interest in respect of item 4.1 on page 106 of the 
report relating to the Older Persons Champion.  It refers to Age UK and Cllr Burden is the 
Chair and Director of Age UK North West Kent. 

Cllr John Burden also declared an other interest in respect of item 3.11.6 on page 104 as he 
is a Director of the Gr@nd. 

82. Audit & Counter Fraud Update - Q2 2018-19 

Members were provided with an update on the work, outputs and performance of the Audit & 
Counter Fraud Team for the period 1 August 2018 to 30 September 2018. 

The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Team Leader stated that the update at Appendix 
2 is the second of three updates to be produced during 2018-19; detailing the work 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Finance and Audit Committee 14.11.2018

2

undertaken by the Audit & Counter Fraud Team between 1 August and 30 September 2018 
and the progress made against the annual work plan. 

The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Team Leader highlighted a number of key points 
to the Committee: 

 Paragraph 3.4 of the update, on page 16, explains that due to staff sickness, an 
unexpected vacancy created by a promotion within the team and one Audit & 
Counter Fraud Officer taking flexible retirement from 01 September 2018, the level of 
resources available has been affected. 

 As of 30 September, the net loss from the original resource budget of 660 days for 
Gravesham, resulting from these issues is approximately 56 days. Overall the team 
is forecasting a loss of 155 days; the 56 days is Gravesham’s proportion of that 
based on the agreed split of resources and work that has already been completed. 

 Despite the resourcing issues the work plan for 2018-19 is progressing well and the 
table in section 4, which starts on page 18, provides an update on all work completed 
during the period. During this period four audits were finalised.  

 An update against the team’s key performance indicators is given in the table at 
section 5, which starts on page 25. 

 The outturns provided are as at 30 September; however as of today (for the year to 
date): 

- A&CF10 Proportion of productive time spent on assurance and consultancy work 
is 62% 

- A&CF11 Proportion of productive time spent of counter fraud work is 38% 
- A&CF12a Proportion of agreed assurance assignments delivered is 32% 
- A&CF12b Proportion of agreed assurance assignments underway is 24% 

 Section 6, on page 27 of the update, sets out a request to defer the audits of 
Tenancy Enforcement and Repairs & Maintenance to the 2019-20 plan due to 
changes in the Services. This will allow for more effective reviews to take place next 
year. 

 There are no further expectations to request changes to the plan at this time; the 
resource situation is being continually monitored to see if we can recover lost time 
through other means. Revisions of the plan may become necessary in the future, in 
which case Members will be provided with a full explanation and approval sought.  

 Section 7, which starts on page 28, provides an update on all Audit & Counter Fraud 
recommendations; including a table on page 34, which lists agreed recommendations 
that are outstanding more than 6 months past the scheduled implementation date. All 
of the recommendations in this table were reported to the Committee in September; 
the Director (Housing & Regeneration) gave assurance at the previous Committee 
meeting that these recommendations will be implemented by December 2018. 
Further updates will be provided at the February committee meeting once the revised 
implementation dates set by the client have passed.  

Concern was voiced by a Member over the ‘Manual Handling’ audit listed on page 21 as it 
was a health and safety concern rather than an audit issue. 

The two Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Team Leaders explained that it is an audit 
concern from the point of view of staff wellbeing and insurance implications. They assured 
Members that the safety of the workforce is the first priority and the audit will seek assurance 

Page 4



Finance and Audit Committee 14.11.2018

3

that the right policies are in place that they are being followed and training is given to keep 
staff safe. The audit will also seek assurances that effective support is available to any staff 
that may be injured at the workplace. Once the review is completed, the findings will be fed 
back to Members.  

The two Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Team Leaders fielded questions from the 
Committee and explained the following: 

 Page 26 – The proportion of available resources spent on productive work (85%) is 
calculated based on the amount of time spent on core audit assurance, consultancy 
and counter-fraud work; the 15% non-productive time is calculated based on time 
associated with things such as IT issues, admin work, 1-1s / appraisals and time 
spent at team meetings etc. One particular issue during this period was the upgrade 
to Office 365 which meant there was some IT down time affecting the productive time 
overall. As of today, the percentage of time spent on productive work has increased 
to 88%. In terms of contingency in place, all work is now saved electronically, with 
paper copies securely destroyed. All Officers now have a Surface Pro and in the 
unlikely event of a power cut or IT problems the Surface Pros can remotely access 
the Gravesham and Medway networks securely from any Wi-Fi network, at any 
location. 

The Committee was still concerned with the ongoing issue on page 29 on Planning 
Enforcement which still hasn’t been dealt with after four and half years. Members impressed 
the need for it to be rectified so that arrangements could be improved to monitor planning 
conditions on applications and checks on developers. 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that she would pass the comments 
back to the Assistant Director (Planning) and the Director (Housing & Regeneration). In 
terms of monitoring, it was agreed at the Committee that senior officers would attend an F&A 
Committee if a recommendation for their department was outstanding for longer than six 
months. That agreement has been accepted at Management Team. The Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services) added that on this basis, if the recommendation has not been rectified 
in December, then either one of the aforementioned Directors can attend the February 
meeting of F&A Committee to explain the reason why it hasn’t been implemented. 

The Committee made a formal request that the Assistant Director (Planning) and/or the 
Director (Housing & Regeneration) attend the Finance & Audit Committee on Monday, 18 
February 2019 if the planning enforcement issue has not been dealt with. 

Clarification was sought by a Member on what powers the F&A Committee had to enforce 
that or whether it had to go through Council or Cabinet. 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services), referencing the Terms of Reference of the 
committee, explained that the Committee has the ability to  monitor and review the 
effectiveness of management’s responses to any recommendations made, and make 
recommendations on reports to the Council by Internal Audit. It was reiterated that there has 
been a commitment from Management Team to enforce senior officer’s attendance at F&A 
Committee meetings if their items are outstanding.  

The Chair inquired over the red and amber opinions on the Rent Deposit Scheme and 
Housing Revenue Account Building Management – Compliancy audits, respectively.   

Page 5



Finance and Audit Committee 14.11.2018

4

The Assistant Director (Housing) explained that he would have to consult with the Director 
(Environment & Operations) to get answers to the latter opinion but with regard to the Rent 
Deposit Scheme, the audit itself was actually instigated by the Housing Department over the 
way the scheme was being operated. However, the Assistant Director (Housing) stated that 
he was confident that all the recommendations will now be delivered in time due to the new 
controls in place.   

For clarification, the Assistant Director (Housing) explained that the scheme is a tool used to 
prevent homelessness in cases where people are threatened with becoming homeless. The 
scheme supports them in acquiring private accommodation by paying the deposit and first 
month’s rent in advance. However, it is a loan so it has conditions; it is only given out to 
people who can demonstrate to the Council that they can pay it back and it is usually 
collected over a two year period. Sometimes the money is not always retrieved but it is a far 
cheaper option available to the Council.    

Resolved that Members:  

 noted the outputs and performance of the Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for Gravesham 
for the period 1 August 2018 to 30 September 2018 as detailed at Appendix two 

 approved the amendments to the 2018-19 Audit & Counter Fraud work plan as 
outlined in section 6 of the report at Appendix 2 

83. Treasury Management 2018-19 - Mid-Year Review 

Members were provided with a mid-year review update report to Members of the Finance 
and Audit Committee on treasury management activity undertaken during the period April to 
September 2018. 

Section 3 (page 38) includes an economic background update from Link along with an 
interest rate forecast.  Following the Quarterly inflation report and minutes from the MPC 
meeting, Link is anticipating an interest rate rise in 3nd quarter of 2019, and further rate rises 
in 2020 and 2021. Those forecasts will form the basis of the investment income forecast 
when setting the 2019/20 budget.

As at 30th September, the Council’s investment balance was £55.3m. That is a significant 
increase which reflects the investable balances that the Council is holding as a result of the 
St George’s Centre development. The redevelopment of the St George’s centre has led to 
an increase in the Council’s capital programme which has resulted in revised estimates for 
the capital expenditure and financing of the capital programme prudential indicators which 
can be found in section 6 of the report at pages 41 and 42 of the pack.

Full details of the Council’s investments as at 30 September can be found in appendix 2 and 
3 of the report.

Of the £55.3m, £34.9m is currently managed internally and £20.4m is managed externally 
within Property and Multi Asset Funds. 

The Principal Accountant (HRA & Exchequer) highlighted an error in the report; in paragraph 
7.2 the yield on the internally managed investments is shown as 0.453% against a 3 month 
LIBID benchmark of 0.21%.  Those are the figures for 2017-18. The correct figures should 
be the average investment return is 0.43% against a 3 month LIBID figure of 0.67%. 

Page 6



Finance and Audit Committee 14.11.2018

5

In turn that means that GBC were below the benchmark and this is primarily due to the 
volume of cash GBC hold and having to hold relatively large balances in the Money Market 
Funds.  Whilst the TMSS was amended to increase the total sums that can be invested with 
each counterparty following the St George’s redevelopment, as a result of the EU MIFID2 
legislation that came about in January the funds haven’t been able to be placed immediately. 
The next step is to go through an on-boarding process with new counterparties which has 
been time consuming and therefore as a result GBC have had to hold monies in the Money 
Market Funds until such time as investments can be placed. However GBC have now been 
able to place longer term investments, and are now starting to achieve over 1%, therefore 
the yield should start to rise. 

Moving onto the Property Funds and Multi Asset funds the team have continued to see 
capital growth across all three property funds as can be seen in the table on page 45 of the 
pack.  The capital value of Multi Asset Funds continues to be very volatile and is currently 
below the opening value.  It is important to remember those are long term investments and 
the value can go up as well as down.  The funds will be monitored closely and contact will be 
ongoing with the Fund Managers.  The intention is to invite one of the Multi Asset Funds 
along to Finance and Audit Committee in February ahead of the TMSS for 2019-20 being 
presented. 

The cashflow model has been updated to reflect the Q2 MTFP and HRA Business plan as 
well as the cashflow relating to the St Georges development and the latest version can be 
found in appendix 4 and 5.  The changes are having a positive impact on the cash balances.

At section 12 (page 46) IFRS9 is referred to which is a change in accounting standards that 
came into effect on 1 April 2018. The overarching aim of the accounting standard is to 
recognise changes in values of investments in the comprehensive I&E as they occur rather 
than just when they are realised on sale.  For GBC, this means that if the value of our 
property funds and multi asset funds have a net increase in value, the gain will be taken 
through to the I&E and ultimately taken through to reserves but if a net loss is seen, this is 
also taken through to the I&E and essentially need funding, even though it hadn’t been 
realised as a result of sale.  The Government consulted on the standard and have agreed a 
temporary override will be applied for 5 years instead of the original 3 years that was 
proposed, during which time the Council will be able to build a reserve to fund any potential 
losses or disinvest from the funds.  The Government also advised that it will be kept under 
review. 

Referencing page 46 section 12, the Committee agreed that too much technical jargon is 
used and the paragraph should be written in more plain English so that it could be 
universally understood. The Chair added that acronyms should be avoided where possible. 

Following a question regarding property fund investment returns, the Principal Accountant 
(HRA & Exchequer) explained that GBC realise income returns and an element of capital 
growth by holding such investments. The table in the report shows capital growth in addition 
to the returns from the income stream. 

Resolved that Members: 

 noted the report 
 recommended to Full Council that the revised estimates against the prudential and 

treasury indicators are endorsed 

Page 7



Finance and Audit Committee 14.11.2018

6

84. Corporate Risk Register 2018-19 - Mid-Year Review 

Members were presented with mid-year progress information in respect of all risks recorded 
in the 2018-19 Corporate Risk Register which can be found at appendix two of the report.

The 2018-2019 Corporate Risk Register was approved by Council on 17 April 2018 and is 
attached at appendix two to the report for Member information. Seven strategic risks were 
identified as being above the Council’s risk tolerance threshold and were therefore included 
in the register. Management action is provided against each of those risks by the officers in 
charge of them and the quarterly risk assessment for each risk is located on pages 81- 93 of 
the report.   

The Principal Accountant (HRA & Exchequer) welcomed Member input on adding or moving 
any risks for the 2019/20 register. 

The notion was raised by a Member that risk 5 and 6 should be combined for the new 
register as they link to each other and homelessness can be increased by the rollout of 
Universal Credit. The amount of Universal Credit given compared to high rent levels is not 
compatible and makes large swathes of people homeless in a vicious cycle. But the point 
was stressed that something needed to happen immediately as the nights are growing 
increasingly colder as winter approaches, action needs to be carried out before the 
paperwork. 

The Assistant Director (Housing) advised that there are synergies between those two risks 
and there are several lobbying groups nationally that are looking into that correlation. It is a 
national problem although as of yet no one has linked those two problems together. 
Measures are in place addressing the risks separately at Gravesham. Over the last four 
years housing rent arrears have reduced by approximately £800K, however upon roll-out of 
Universal Credit that rate of reduction rate has slowed down. MT have agreed to the 
procurement of a particular software which is an analytical tool which helps to better focus 
the rent recovery work undertaken by staff ; the software will be active from January 2019. 
The Homelessness Reduction Act that came into effect in April 2018 has directly impacted 
the figures especially causing an increase in approaches to the council for assistance and 
also in the numbers placed in temporary accommodation (the figure now stands at 90 as at 
the end of quarter 2). Some of the temporary accommodation used is in privately rented 
accommodation, which are charged for at a nightly rate and therefore more expensive.  The 
grant received from Central Government goes towards topping up some of the rents paid for 
such accommodation where housing benefit doesn’t cover the cost of the accommodation.  

After a further short discussion on homelessness and Universal Credit, Members agreed that 
more light should be shone on the difficulties the Housing Team face and it should be made 
publicly aware that Universal Credit is causing more people to become homeless. Members 
felt that the public needed to be more aware of the problem people face with claiming for 
Universal Credit. 

Referencing risk 1, concern was raised by a Member and following a detailed overview he 
asked that the two actions below be incorporated into the Risk Register: 

 Making ongoing financial pressures that Local Government are facing more public
 Review the best deals and development opportunities for Local Government as a 

whole  

Page 8



Finance and Audit Committee 14.11.2018

7

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) highlighted the following in response: 

 In terms of public reporting there have been double page spreads in the ‘Your 
Borough’ magazines talking about ‘Bridging the Gap’ activity, why the Council is in 
that position and what is being done to combat the problem. As part of the 
consultation for the new Corporate Plan, a document has been prepared that sets out 
the financial position of the Council. Next year GBC will receive the outcome of the 
Fair Funding Review 

 The Council responds to far more consultations than two or three years ago and the 
Council has become a lot more robust in expressing its views on issues or proposals 
from Government. 

 GBC are very active in relation to the District Council Network, David Hughes is a 
member of and engages in that group. This Group, as well as the Local Government 
Association, are both voicing local government views to the Government  

 One thing that has changed is about trying to put the case together for a better deal 
for Local Government overall 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that she would take all the information 
back to Management Team for review. 

A Member sought clarification on his earlier point of Health and Safety. The Principal 
Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) advised that the health and safety risks will be managed 
through each services own departmental risk register. The Corporate Risk Register only 
deals with overarching risks for the whole Council. A risk that doesn’t exceed the risk 
tolerance threshold will be given back to individual department risk registers and business 
plans to be reviewed annually.      

Resolved that Members: 

 noted the progress that has been made so far in managing or mitigating each risk 
that is recorded within the 2018-2019 Corporate Risk Register 

 propose the merger of risk 5 and 6 on the 2017/18 Risk Register in the 2019/20 
register as one risk dealing with Homelessness and Universal Credit 

 propose that the below two actions be incorporated into the 2019/20 register 

- Making ongoing financial pressures that Local Government are facing more 
public 

- Review the best deals and development opportunities for Local Government as a 
whole 

85. Quarter Two Budget Monitoring Report 2018-19 - to end September 2018 

Members were provided with information on actual performance against the approved 
Revenue and Capital budgets for 2018/19, including known variances agreed or identified 
through budgetary control activity. Members were also updated on other key areas of 
financial performance that may impact on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, 
Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan or Financial Statements.

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) advised that it is the second budget report of the 
2018/19 financial year for second quarter to 30 September 2018 and directed Members 

Page 9



Finance and Audit Committee 14.11.2018

8

attention to Page 96 of the report. It was a detailed one page executive summary that 
highlighted and explained the main points from the report regarding:  

 General Fund (Revenue)
 General Fund (Capital)
 HRA (Revenue)
 Housing Capital

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) and the Principal Accountant (Housing & 
Exchequer) elaborated further on their respective fields outlined in the executive summary, 
quoting the figures from the report.   

General Fund 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) and the Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 
fielded questions from Members explaining that: 

 The statue of the Queen was fully funded by third party contributions but the 
statue has to be included on the asset register as a council asset and therefore 
any capital costs incurred against the statue has to be reflected in the General 
Fund Capital Programme 

 Waste Freighter Vehicle Parts £25K adverse variance – GBC bought the vehicles 
new but they were new models and budgetary provision for replacement parts 
was not sufficiently made. The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) will liaise 
with the Operational Services Team to obtain further information on the matter.

 Town Pier Remedial Works – It is unsure if any money has been reimbursed for 
the works that were carried out at the Town Pier; it will be followed up on and 
brought back to the Committee.  The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 
advised that GBC are reviewing our repairs and remedial works requirement for 
the Civic Centre, all civic buildings and assets; the sea wall by St Andrews 
Church will be taken into account as a part of that planning.  

 The Principal Accountant (General Fund) added that there are working groups 
which look at assets within the Borough, at what needs to be done with them, 
when it needs to be carried out by and funding arrangements such as securing 
external funds from the Heritage Lottery Fund 

 A £91k Flexible Homelessness Grant was received in 2017/18 and has been 
released to fund temporary accommodation costs; the Homelessness Reduction 
grant varies from year to year and the grant is held until it is required to be drawn 
upon to fund services the same as other grants are used 

 Refuse Collection – KCC contribution: KCC have fully reimbursed the council for 
the additional tipping-away costs (such as fuel and staffing) incurred due to the 
fire at the Pepperhill site 

 On page 109, Developer Contributions: Whitehill Road is possibly a typo, it 
should be Whitehill Lane, it will be clarified for the Committee  

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) gave an overview of the Autumn Budget 
announcement at the behest of the Chair:  

 Government announced an extra £45 million funding for Disabled Facilities Grant for 
2018/19 however a dialogue will need to be had with KCC as to how any additional 

Page 10



Finance and Audit Committee 14.11.2018

9

money will be allocated between the two organisations due to the service 
arrangements under the Better Care Fund

 £675 million of co-funding was announced for a High Street Fund which will be used 
to rejuvenate high streets and change unused business and commercial property into 
residential; The Assistant Director (Communities) and his Economic Team are 
already looking into that fund and how it could be used in Gravesham 

 Retails premises with a rateable value of under £51K will have their business rates 
reduced by a third for the next two years; the Council will receive a Section 31 grant 
from Central Government to be reimbursed for the impact of this announcement 
which should result in a neutral variance  

 Continuation of discounts to local paper offices as well as 100% relief for public 
toilets

 A heads up was given a to spending review for 2019 and talked about average real 
term increases in annual Resource Departmental Expenditure Limit (RDELS) over 
the next five years of around 1.2% per annum.  However when looking into details 
behind that announcement there is reference to above inflation increases for NHS, so 
it is currently unclear what this will mean for local government. Local Government will 
have to wait for the outcome of the 2019 spending review 

HRA and Treasury Management

The Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer) answered questions and comments from 
the Committee explaining that:  

 There will be a Member training session on the 29 January 2019 given by Link on 
Treasury Management

 The properties purchased on the open market reference at 6.4.1 tend to be former 
right to buy properties which are located nearby to other Council properties and have 
similar maintenance requirements as existing stock. GBC can use right to buy 
receipts to purchase such properties but they are susceptible to right to buy 

The Chair thanked the officers for an informative update.  

86. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update 

The Committee was informed of the progress to date on the work of external audit and 
attention was drawn to emerging national issues and developments that may be relevant. 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) explained to Members that Elizabeth Jackson 
unfortunately had a situation arise which meant she was unable to attend. She has replaced 
Darren Wells as the Associate Director representative from Grant Thornton for our external 
audits. The Directors rotate between different authorities after a certain amount of time in 
order to maintain their independence and although it was a pleasure working with Darren 
Wells, the Finance team are looking forward to working with Elizabeth Jackson as she was a 
previous onsite auditor in 2010. 

In terms of the report, at appendix two it provides Members with an update on the delivery of 
external audit responsibilities against the planned work for 2017/18 and 2018/19, a summary 
of emerging national issues and a number of challenge questions in respect of these 
emerging issues which the Committee may wish to consider.

Page 11



Finance and Audit Committee 14.11.2018

10

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) added that the 2017/18 Housing Benefit 
Certification work is due to be completed by the end of this month; officers are working with 
the auditor to finalise the audit, the outcomes of which will be brought back to the Committee 
in the future. 

One Member raised two questions to be answered or taken back to Grant Thornton: 

 Can assurances be given that none of Elizabeth Jacksons team, nor herself, were 
involved with the financial audit of Patisserie Valerie 

 Page 144 – Concerns are raised over the language used in paragraph about setting 
up the LATc, the downgrading of staff in the terms and conditions and the references 
to pension rights 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that she would take those points back 
to Grant Thornton although with regard to the first point, she anticipated that they were not 
involved as Grant Thornton operates separate arms of the company for private and public 
organizations. 

Resolved that Members noted the information contained within the report. 

87. PSAA Report on the results of auditors' work 2017/18 

Members were informed of the PSAA Report on the results of the auditors’ work for 2017/18. 

The report summarises the results of auditors’ work for 2017/18 at 495 public sector bodies 
including councils, fire and rescue authorities, police bodies and other local government 
bodies. The report summarises:

 the audit of the financial statements;
 the review of arrangements to secure value for money; and
 any exercise of statutory reporting powers.

The report sets out that for 2017/18, the statutory accounts publication deadline came 
forward by two months to 31 July 2018. This was challenging for bodies and auditors and the 
PSAA are encouraged that 87 per cent of audited bodies received an audit opinion by the 
new deadline.

The report also highlights that the number of qualified conclusions issued by auditors on the 
arrangements to secure value for money remains relatively constant at seven per cent (32 
councils, one fire and rescue authority, one police body and two other local government 
bodies) compared to eight per cent for 2016/17, with a further 30 conclusions for 2017/18 
still to be issued.

The Chair thanked the officers for an informative meeting. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9:20pm. 

Page 12



1

Classification:  Part 1 – Public
Key Decision:  No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance and Audit Committee

Date: 18 February 2019

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Treasury Management Strategy and Capital Strategy 2019/20

PURPOSE AND SUMMARY OF REPORT:

To consider the Treasury Management Strategy and associated Annual Investment Strategy 
and the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy for 2019/20 along with the Capital Strategy for 
2019/20.

RECOMMENDATIONS:
The Finance & Audit Committee recommends to the Full Council that:

1) The Treasury Management Strategy for 2019/20 as set out in Appendix 2 be agreed.

2) Delegated authority be given to the Director (Corporate Services), in consultation with 
the Chair of the Finance and Audit Committee, to amend the prudential and treasury 
indicators as necessary as a result of the budget approved by Full Council on 
26 February 2019.

3) The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) calculation on all new capital expenditure as 
set out in Section 5 of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement be approved for 
2019/20 and beyond in accordance with the Authority’s Capital Programme.

4) The Annual Investment Strategy for 2019/20 as set out in Section 14 of the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement be agreed

5) The Capital Strategy for 2019/20 as set out in Appendix 3 be agreed.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that 
cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury 
management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with 
cash being available when it is needed.  Surplus monies are invested low risk in 
counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Council’s low risk appetite, 
providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return.

Page 13 Agenda Item 6



2

1.2 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 
Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need 
to the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure that the 
Council can meet its capital spending obligations.

1.3 The contribution the treasury management function makes to the authority is 
critical, as the balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the 
ability to meet spending commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-day 
revenue or for larger capital projects.

1.4 Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury 
function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, (arising 
usually from capital expenditure), and are separate from the day to day treasury 
management activities.

1.5 CIPFA defines treasury management as: “The management of the authority’s 
borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital 
market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those 
activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks”.

1.6 Revised reporting is required for the 2019/20 reporting cycle due to revisions of the 
MHCLG Investment Guidance, the MHCLG Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
Guidance, the CIPFA Prudential Code and the CIPFA Treasury Management 
Code.  The primary reporting changes include the introduction of a capital strategy, 
to provide a longer-term focus to the capital plans, and greater reporting 
requirements surrounding any commercial activity undertaken under the Localism 
Act 2011.  The capital strategy is being reported separately.

2. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

Treasury Management Reporting

2.1 Full Council is required to receive reports and approve, as a minimum, three main 
reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals.

 Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy – The first, 
and most important report is forward looking

 A mid-year treasury management report – This is primarily a progress 
report and will update members on the capital position, amending 
prudential indicators as necessary, and whether any policies require 
revision.

 An annual treasury report – This is a backward looking review document 
and provides details of a selection of actual prudential and treasury 
indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the estimates within 
the strategy.

Capital Strategy

2.2 The CIPFA revised 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require, for 
2019-20, all local authorities to prepare a capital strategy report setting out a high-

Page 14



3

level long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury 
management activity contribute to the provision of services.

2.3 This capital strategy is reported separately from the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement; non-treasury investments will be reported through the former. 
This ensures the separation of the core treasury function under security, liquidity 
and yield principles, and the policy and commercialism investments usually driven 
by expenditure on an asset.  

2.4 The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being 
recommended to the Council.  This role is undertaken by the Finance and Audit 
Committee.

Page 15



4

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             APPENDIX 6

LEGAL As per section 1.13B.67 of the Council’s Constitution, the Chief Finance 
officer has delegated responsibility from Cabinet. 

 “in respect of borrowing and investments to arrange such loans as are legally 
permitted to meet the Council’s borrowing requirements”

FINANCE AND 
VALUE FOR 
MONEY 

Due to the nature of the report, the financial implications are contained 
throughout the report.

In order to achieve a balanced budget, the authority relies upon generating 
maximum interest from its investments whilst minimising the exposure to 
risk.  In order to achieve this, investments are only placed with institutions 
which meet the criteria set out within this report.  Investment durations do 
not exceed those as advised by Capita Asset Services credit ratings which 
are associated with the specific institutions.

Where the authority is required to borrow to meet the needs of the 
authority, officers will seek advice from Capita Asset Services on timings 
and options in order to ensure the best deal for the authority.

RISK 
ASSESSMENT

The risks associated with Treasury Management and capital expenditure 
are detailed within this report.

EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

SCREENING FOR EQUALITY IMPACTS

QUESTION ANSWER EXPLANATION

a. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended 
through this paper 
have potential to 
cause adverse impact 
or discriminate 
against different 
groups in the 
community?

No

b. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended 
through this paper 
make a positive 
contribution to 
promoting equality?

N/A

c. What steps are you 
taking to mitigate, 
reduce, avoid or 
minimise the impacts 
identified above?

N/A

Page 16



5

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as 
noted in the table above

CORPORATE 
BUSINESS 
PLAN

Corporate Objective Four – a Sound and Self Sufficient Council 

CRIME AND 
DISORDER

Treasury Management activities are carried out in accordance with the 
Treasury Management Strategy and Annual Investment Strategy which 
minimises the risk of criminal activities.  The arrangements to ensure 
appropriate governance around capital expenditure are set out in the 
Capital Strategy. 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



1

TREASURY 
MANAGEMENT 

STRATEGY
Gravesham Borough Council

2019 - 2020

Page 19



2

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION......................................................................................................................4

2. TRAINING ................................................................................................................................4

3. TREASURY MANAGEMENT CONSULTANTS .......................................................................4

4. THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2019/20 TO 2021/22 .........................................5

5. MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION POLICY............................................................................8

6. BORROWING...........................................................................................................................9

7. TREASURY INDICATORS: LIMITS TO BORROWING ACTIVITY........................................11

8. PROSPECTS FOR INTEREST RATES.................................................................................13

9. THE BORROWING STRATEGY............................................................................................14

10. POLICY ON BORROWING IN ADVANCE OF NEED............................................................14

11. DEBT RESCHEDULING ........................................................................................................14

12. MUNICIPAL BONDS AGENCY..............................................................................................15

13. AFFORDABILITY PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS ....................................................................15

14. ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2019/20 ......................................................................17

15. CREDITWORTHINESS POLICY............................................................................................19

16. OTHER LIMITS ......................................................................................................................20

17. INVESTMENT STRATEGY....................................................................................................21

18. END OF YEAR INVESTMENT REPORT...............................................................................22

19. SERVICE INVESTMENTS .....................................................................................................23

Page 20



3

20. OTHER TREASURY ACTIVITY .............................................................................................23

21. SCHEME OF DELEGATION..................................................................................................24

22. ROLE OF THE SECTION 151 OFFICER...............................................................................24

23. RISK .......................................................................................................................................24

24. SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME & DISORDER ACT 1998 .......................................................24

25. BACKGROUND PAPERS ......................................................................................................25

Page 21



4

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2019/20 covers two 
main areas:

 Capital Issues

a. The capital plans and the prudential indicators
b. The minimum revenue provision (MRP) strategy

 Treasury Management Issues

a. The current portfolio position
b. Treasury Indicators: which will limit the treasury risk and activities 

of the council
c. The prospects for interest rates
d. The borrowing strategy
e. Policy on borrowing in advance of need
f. Debt rescheduling
g. The annual investment strategy 2019/20
h. Credit worthiness policy
i. Policy on use of external service providers

1.2 These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the 
CIPFA Prudential Code, MHCLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code and MHCLG Guidance.

2. TRAINING

2.1 The CIPFA code requires the responsible officer to ensure that members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury 
management.  This especially applies to members responsible for scrutiny.  
Training scheduled for 29 January 2019 was cancelled and therefore further 
training will be arranged following the Local Elections in May 2018.

2.2 The training needs of treasury management officers are periodically reviewed.

3. TREASURY MANAGEMENT CONSULTANTS

3.1 The Council currently uses Link Asset Services, Treasury Solutions as its external 
treasury management advisors.

3.2 It was the intention of Finance to undertake a full procurement process for treasury 
management consultancy services in February 2019 to seek to put arrangements 
in place for a three year period starting 1 April 2018.

3.3 With the uncertainty around the UK leaving the EU and the impact this may have 
on the requirements for treasury support and advice around this time, coupled with 
the proximity of the renewal date to financial year-end, it was felt prudent and in 
the Council’s best interest to extend the existing arrangement with Link for a further 

Page 22



5

18 months (till September 2020) when there will hopefully be more stability in the 
economic situation of the country.  This also enables any future TMSS to be written 
based on advice and support provided by the incumbent consultant.

3.4 To this end the Director (Corporate Services) has signed a request for exemption 
from seeking competitive quotations and tenders in accordance with paragraph 3.1 
of the Contract Procedure Rules.

3.5 The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the organisations at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is 
not placed upon our external services providers.  All decisions will be undertaken 
with regards to all available information, including, but not solely, our treasury 
advisers.

3.6 It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources.  
The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by 
which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and 
subjected to regular review.

3.7 Link Asset Services have provided a summary on the economic background.  This 
can be found in Appendix 1.

3.8 The scope of investments within the Council’s operations now includes both 
conventional treasury investments, (the placing of residual cash from the Council’s 
functions), and more commercial type investments, such as investment properties.  
The Council engages external consultants to provide a valuation report when 
purchasing an investment property.  The consultants will vary depending on the 
nature of the property.

4. THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2019/20 TO 2021/22

4.1 The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management 
activity.  The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential 
indicators, which are designed to assist Members overview and confirm capital 
expenditure plans.

4.2 Capital Expenditure. This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s 
capital expenditure plans, both those agreed previously, and those forming part of 
this budget cycle.  Members are asked to approve the capital expenditure 
forecasts.

4.3 Given where the authority is in the annual budget setting process, the capital 
estimates on the following page are based on the latest information available.  
Members are asked to approve the capital expenditure forecasts and also to 
delegate authority to the Director (Corporate Services) in consultation with the 
Chair of the Finance and Audit Committee to amend the forecasts and other 
indicators as necessary in line with the authority’s budget which will be discussed 
and approved by Full Council on 26 February 2019:

Page 23



6

Capital Expenditure 2017/18
Actual

£m

2018/19
Estimate

£m

2019/20
Estimate 

£m

2020/21
Estimate 

£m

2021/22
Estimate 

£m

Non-HRA 2.915 5.846 8.259 7.265 1.268

HRA 12.657 12.290 15.889 19.362 14.381

Commercial activities/ 
non-financial 
investments

2.180 13.252 12.122 0.00 0.00

Total 17.752 31.388 36.270 26.627 15.649

4.4 The table below summarises the above capital expenditure plans and how these 
plans are being financed by capital or revenue resources.  Any shortfall of 
resources results in a funding borrowing need.

Capital Expenditure 2017/18
Actual

£m

2018/19
Estimate

£m

2019/20
Estimate 

£m/

2020/21
Estimate 

£m

2021/22
Estimate 

£m

Non-HRA 2.915 5.846 8.259 7.265 1.268

HRA 12.657 12.290 15.889 19.362 14.381

Commercial 
activities/non-financial 
investments

2.180 13.252 12.122 0.00 0.00

Total 17.752 31.388 36.270 26.627 15.649

Financed by:

Capital receipts 0.247 0.927 0.925 0.150 0.150

Grants/Contributions 2.302 5.399 6.475 6.510 0.833

Reserves 5.593 5.309 8.762 6.281 3.785

Revenue 0.048 0.000 0.000 3.396 3.681

Major Repairs Reserve 7.382 6.401 8.221 7.140 7.088

Net financing need 
for the year

2.180 13.352 11.887 3.150 0.112

Page 24



7

4.5 The net financing need for commercial activities/non-financial investments 
included in the above table against expenditure is shown below.

Commercial 
Activities/non-
financial investments

2017/18
Actual

£m

2018/19
Estimate

£m

2019/20
Estimate

£m/

2020/21
Estimate

£m

2021/22
Estimate

£m

Capital Expenditure 2.180 13.352 12.122 0 0

Financing costs 0.000 0.000 0.116 0.000 0.000

Net financing need 
for the year

2.180 13.252 12.238 0.000 0.000

Percentage of total 
net financing need 
%

0.000 0.000 0.948 0.000 0.000

4.6 The Council’s Borrowing Need (the Capital Financing Requirement). The 
second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). 
The CFR is the total historic outstanding capital expenditure that has not yet been 
paid for from either revenue or capital resources.  It is essentially a measure of the 
Council’s indebtedness and so its underlying borrowing need.  Any capital 
expenditure above (that has not been immediately paid for) will increase the CFR.

4.7 The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) 
is a statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the borrowing need in 
line with each assets life, and so charges the economic consumption of capital 
assets as they are used.

4.8 The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance 
leases).  Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing 
requirement, these types of scheme include a borrowing facility and so the Council 
is not required to separately borrow for these schemes.  The Council does not 
have such long term liabilities.

4.9 The Finance and Audit Committee is recommending to Council to approve the 
CFR projections below:

2017/18
Actual

£m

2018/19
Estimate

£m

2019/20
Estimate 

£m/

2020/21
Estimate 

£m

2021/22
Estimate 

£m

Capital Financing Requirement

CFR – Non HRA 8.407 10.558 10.394 10.334 10.306

CFR – HRA 88.665 82.336 77.597 79.151 77.679

CFR – Commercial 
activities/non-

financing activities

11.760 24.769 36.148 35.401 34.655

Total CFR 108.832 117.663 124.139 124.886 122.640

Movement in CFR (3.712) 8.831 6.476 0.747 (2.246)

Page 25



8

Movement in CFR represented by

Net financing need 
for the year (above)

2.181 13.352 11.887 3.150 0.112

HRA contribution to 
loan repayment

(3.504) (4.101) (4.738) (1.597) (1.584)

Local Authority 
Mortgage Scheme 

(LAMS)

(2.000) - - - -

Less MRP and other 
financing movements

(0.389) (0.420) (0.673) (0.806) (0.774)

Movement in CFR (3.712) 8.831 6.476 0.747 (2.246)

4.10 A key aspect of the regulatory and professional guidance is that elected members 
are aware of the size and scope of any commercial activity in relation to the 
authority’s overall financial position.  The capital expenditure shown in paragraph 
4.3 and the details above demonstrate the scope of this activity and, by approving 
these figures, consider the scale and proportionate to the Authority’s remaining 
activity.

4.11 Core funds and expected investment balances.  The application of resources 
(capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital expenditure or other budget 
decisions to support the revenue budget will have an ongoing impact on 
investments unless resources are supplemented each year from new sources 
(asset sales etc.).  Detailed below are estimates of the year-end balances for each 
resource and anticipated .

2017/18
Actual

£m

2018/19
Estimate

£m

2019/20
Estimate 

£m/

2020/21
Estimate 

£m

2021/22
Estimate 

£m

Fund Balances / 
Reserves (HRA and 
Non-HRA)

(24.385) (27.052) (20.718) (16.115) (14.200)

Capital receipts (5.832) (5.187) (3.736) (4.145) (4.555)

Grants / Contributions (2.173) (2.253) (1.222) (1.222) (1.222)

Total core funds (32.390) (34.492) (25.676) (21.482) (19.977)

5. MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION POLICY

5.1 The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund 
capital spend each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the minimum 
revenue provision – MRP), although it is also allowed to undertake additional 
voluntary payments if required (voluntary revenue provision – VRP).

5.2 MHCLG regulations have been issued which require the Full Council to approve an 
MRP Statement in advance of each year.  A variety of options are provided to 
councils, so long as there is a prudent provision.  The Council is recommended to 
approve the following MRP Statement.

Page 26



9

5.3 For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 and capital expenditure 
incurred on or after that date which the authority is satisfied forms part of its 
Supported Capital Expenditure the MRP policy will be

The Regulatory Method - Under the previous MRP regulations MRP was set 
at a uniform rate of 4% of the adjusted General Fund Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) i.e. adjusted for “Adjustment A” on a reducing balance 
method. Adjustment A was introduced to coincide with changes to the capital 
finance system on 1 April 2004 to ensure local authorities were not adversely 
affected financially by these changes. The Capital Financing Requirement is a 
measurement of the council’s underlying need to borrow.

5.4 From 1 April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing will be:

Asset Life (Equal Instalment Method) – MRP will be based on the 
estimated life of assets, in accordance with the regulations.  This provides for 
a reduction in the borrowing need over approximately the asset’s life.

5.5 There is no requirement on the HRA to make a minimum revenue provision but 
there is a requirement for a charge for depreciation to be made.

5.6 If assets are transferred between funds, where the transfer results in an increase in 
the General Fund CFR, it will be considered whether it is prudent to make an MRP 
provision on the higher CFR in subsequent years.

5.7 MRP Overpayments – A change introduced by the revised MHCLG MRP Guidance 
was that the allowance that any changes made over the statutory minimum 
revenue provision (MRP), voluntary revenue provision (VRP) or overpayments, 
can, if needed, be reclaimed in later years if deemed necessary or prudent.  In 
order for these sums to be reclaimed for use in the budget, this policy must 
disclose the cumulative overpayments made each year.  Up until the 31 March 
2019 the total VRP overpayments were £16.326m.  This is equivalent to the value 
of HRA self-financing loans that have been repaid since the start of the scheme.

6. BORROWING

6.1 The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 6 provide details of the service 
activity of the Council. The treasury management function ensures that the 
Council’s cash is organised in accordance with the relevant professional codes, so 
that sufficient cash is available to meet this service activity and the Council’s 
capital strategy. This will involve both the organisation of the cash flow and, where 
capital plans require, the organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities. The 
strategy covers the relevant treasury / prudential indicators, the current and 
projected debt positions and the annual investment strategy.

6.2 The current portfolio position - The Council’s treasury position as at 31 March 
2018 and for the position as at 31 January 2019 are shown below for both 
borrowing and investments.

Page 27



10

Actual Actual Current Current
31/03/2018 31/03/2018 31/01/2019 31/01/2019

Treasury Investments £'000 % £'000 %
Banks 2,000 6% 8,000 12%
Building Societies 1,000 3% - 0%
Money Market Funds 569 2% 16,215 24%
Certificate of Deposits 7,450 24% 17,000 25%
Call Accounts - 0% 8,000 12%
Total managed in house 11,019 35% 49,215 71%
Multi Asset Funds 9,746 31% 9,029 13%
Property Funds 10,335 33% 10,602 15%
Total managed externally 20,081 65% 19,631 29%
Total treasury investments 31,100 100% 68,846 100%

Treasury External Borrowing
PWLB 90,082 92% 90,001 92%
Stock Loan 8,000 8% 8,000 8%
Total external borrowing 98,082 100% 98,001 100%

Net treasury investments / (borrowing) (66,982) (29,155)

TREASURY PORTFOLIO

6.3 The Council’s forward projections for borrowings are summarised in the next table.  
The table shows the actual external debt, against the underlying capital borrowing 
need (the Capital Financing Requirement – CFR), highlighting any under or over 
borrowing.

6.4 Within the above figures the level of debt relating to commercial activities / non- 
financial investment is:

2017/18
Actual

£m

2018/19
Estimate

£m

2019/20
Estimate 

£m/

2020/21
Estimate 

£m

2021/22
Estimate 

£m
External Debt
Debt at 1 April 101.677 98.093 93.911 94.992 84.724

Expected Change 
in Debt

(3.584) (4.182) 1.081 (10.268) (7.072)

Actual gross 
debt as at 31 

March
98.093 93.911 94.992 84.724 77.652

The Capital 
Financing 

Requirement

108.832 117.663 124.139 124.886 122.640

(Under)/Over 
Borrowing

(10.739) (23.752) (29.147) (40.162) (44.988)

Page 28



11

6.5 Within the range of prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to 
ensure that the Council operates its activities within well-defined limits.  One of 
these is that the Council needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the 
short term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of 
any additional CFR for 2019/20 and the following two financial years (shown as net 
borrowing above).  This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future 
years, but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes.

6.6 The Director (Corporate Services) reports that the Council complied with this 
prudential indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the 
future.  This view takes into account current commitments, existing plans, and the 
proposals in the budget report.

7. TREASURY INDICATORS: LIMITS TO BORROWING ACTIVITY

7.1 The Operational Boundary - This is the limit beyond which external debt is not 
normally expected to exceed.  In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the 
CFR, but may be lower or higher depending on the levels of actual debt and the 
ability to fund under-borrowing by other cash resources.

Operational Boundary 2018/19

Estimate £m

2019/20

Estimate £m/

2020/21

Estimate £m

2021/22

Estimate £m

Debt (including HRA Settlement) 116.200 122.600 123.400 121.100
Other Long Term Liabilities 1.500 1.500 1.500 1.500
Commercial activities / non-financial 
investments

15.000 30.000 30.000 30.000

Total 132.700 154.100 154.900 152.600

7.2 The Authorised Limit for external debt – This is a key prudential indicator 
represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing.  This represents a legal 
limit beyond which external debt is prohibited, and this needs to be set or revised 
by the Full Council.  It reflects the level of external debt which, while not desired, 
could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.

 This is the statutory limit, determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003.  The Government retains an option to control either 
the total of all councils’ plans, or those of a specific council, although this 
power has not yet been exercised.

 The Finance and Audit Committee is asked to recommend to Council the 
following Authorised Limit:

2017/18
Actual

£m

2018/19
Estimate

£m

2019/20
Estimate 

£m/

2020/21
Estimate 

£m

2021/22
Estimate 

£m

External Debt for Commercial activities / non-financial investments
Actual debt as at 

31 March 0.000 0.000 5.900 0.000 0.000

Percentage of 
total external 

debt %

0.000 0.000 6.211 0.000 0.000

Page 29



12

Authorised limit 2018/19

Estimate £m

2019/20

Estimate £m/

2020/21

Estimate £m

2021/22

Estimate £m
Debt (including HRA Settlement) 117.700 124.100 124.900 122.600
Other Long Term Liabilities 1.600 1.600 1.600 1.600
Commercial activities / non-financial 
investments

20.000 35.000 35.000 35.000

Total 139.300 160.700 161.500 159.200

7.3 In October 2018, the Prime Minister announced a policy change of abolition of the 
HRA debt cap.  The Chancellor announced in the Budget that the applicable date 
was 29 October 2018.  The current position against this historic limit is currently:

HRA Debt Limit 2018/19

Estimate £m

2019/20

Estimate £m/

2020/21

Estimate £m

2021/22

Estimate £m
HRA Debt Cap 117.900 117.900 117.900 117.900
HRA CFR 88.336 77.598 77.695 77.227
HRA Headroom 29.564 40.302 40.205 40.673

7.4 The operational boundary and authorised limits set out above are based on 
revenue expenditure detailed within the Medium Term Financial Plan and HRA 
Business Plan as well as the capital programme as reported in the General Fund 
and HRA Budget Setting Reports presented to Cabinet on 4 January 2019.  Any 
amendments required as a result of significant additional expenditure in relation to 
the Heritage Quarter East and West developments will be reported as part of the 
Member reporting process at the appropriate time.

7.5 The table below and the following pictorial representation of the Council’s 
Operational and Authorised limits against the Capital Finance Requirement and 
External Debt levels for the period 2017/18 to 2027/28.

Actual Est Est Est Est Est Est Est Est Est Est
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
HRA CFR 88.67 82.34 77.60 79.15 77.68 76.12 74.59 73.10 71.63 72.68 74.62
GF CFR 8.41 10.56 10.39 10.33 10.31 10.30 10.30 10.30 10.30 10.30 10.29
Commercial Activity / non 
financial instruments 11.76 24.77 36.15 35.40 34.66 33.91 33.16 32.42 31.67 30.92 30.18
Total CFR 108.83 117.66 124.14 124.89 122.64 120.33 118.06 115.81 113.60 113.90 115.09

External Borrowing 98.09 93.91 94.99 84.72 77.65 69.89 61.52 52.51 42.83 45.36 48.83
Other Long Term Liabilities 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Total Debt 98.09 93.91 94.99 84.72 77.65 69.89 61.52 52.51 42.83 45.36 48.83

Authorised Limit 128.10 139.30 160.70 161.50 159.20 156.90 154.70 152.40 150.20 150.50 151.70
Operational Boundary 108.80 132.70 154.10 154.90 152.60 150.30 148.10 145.80 143.60 143.90 145.10

CAPITAL FINANCING REQUIREMENT

Page 30



13

8. PROSPECTS FOR INTEREST RATES

8.1 Link Asset Services are the Council’s current treasury advisor and part of the their 
service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.  The following 
table gives their central view.

8.2 Investment and borrowing rates

 Investment returns are likely to remain low during 2019/20 but to be on a 
gently rising trend over the next few years.

 Borrowing interest rates have been volatile so far in 2018-19 and while 
they were on a rising trend during the first half of the year, they have 
backtracked since then until early January.  The policy of avoiding new 
borrowing by running down spare cash balances has served well over the 
last few years.  However, this needs to be carefully reviewed to avoid 
incurring higher borrowing costs in the future when authorities may not be 
able to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure and/or the 
refinancing of maturing debt;

 There will remain a cost of carry, (the difference between higher borrowing 
costs and lower investment returns), to any new long-term borrowing that 
causes a temporary increase in cash balances as this position will, most 
likely, incur a revenue cost.

Page 31



14

9. THE BORROWING STRATEGY

9.1 The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position.  This means that 
the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been fully 
funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and 
cash flow has been used as a temporary measure.  This strategy is prudent as 
investment returns are low and counterparty risk is still an issue that needs to be 
considered.

9.2 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be 
adopted with the 2019/20 treasury operations.  The Director (Corporate Services), 
will monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to 
changing circumstances:

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in long and 
short term rates (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into 
recession or of risks of deflation), then long term borrowings will be 
postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into short 
term borrowing will be considered.

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in long 
and short term rates than that currently forecast, perhaps arising from an 
acceleration in the start date and in the rate of increase in central rates in 
the USA and UK, an increase in world economic activity or a sudden 
increase in inflation risks, then the portfolio position will be re-appraised 
with the likely action that fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst interest 
rates are still lower than they will be in the next few years.

9.3 Any decisions will be reported to the Finance and Audit Committee at the next 
available opportunity.

10.POLICY ON BORROWING IN ADVANCE OF NEED

10.1 The Council will not borrow more than, or in advance of its need, purely in order to 
profit from the investments of the extra sums borrowed.  Any decision to borrow in 
advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates, 
and will be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be 
demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.

10.2 Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior 
appraisal and subsequent reporting through mid-year or annual reporting 
mechanisms.

11.  DEBT RESCHEDULING

11.1 As short term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer term fixed 
interest rates, there may be potential opportunities to generate savings by 
switching from long term debt to short term debt.  However, these savings will 
need to be considered in the light of the current treasury position and the size of 
the cost of debt repayment (premiums incurred).

11.2 The reasons for rescheduling to take place will include:

- the generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings

- helping to fulfil the treasury strategy

Page 32



15

- enhancing the balance of the portfolio

11.3 Consideration will also be given to identify if there is any residual potential for 
making savings by running down investment balances to repay debt permanently 
as short term rates are likely to be lower than rates paid on current debt.

11.4 Any rescheduling will be reported to the Finance and Audit Committee, at the 
earliest meeting following its action.

12.MUNICIPAL BONDS AGENCY

12.1 It is possible that the Municipal Bond Agency will be offering loans to local 
authorities in the future.  The Agency hopes that the borrowing rates will be lower 
than those offered by the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB).  This Authority may 
make use of this new source of borrowing as and when appropriate.

13.AFFORDABILITY PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS

13.1 The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential 
indicators, but within this framework prudential indicators are required to assess 
the affordability of the capital investment plans.   These provide an indication of the 
impact of the capital investment plans on the Council’s overall finances.  Finance 
and Audit Committee are asked to recommend the following indicators to Full 
Council for approval: 

13.2 Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream - This indicator identifies the trend in 
the cost of capital, (borrowing and other long term obligation costs net of 
investment income), against the net revenue stream.

13.3 2019/20 will be the final year in which we operate a single loans pool, therefore it is 
only possible to show the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream for the 
commercial activity/non-financial investment from 2020/21.  Until this point the 
impact of the borrowing is included within the Non-HRA figure in the table below.

13.4 Commercial Activity – The following local indicator identifies the trend in income 
from commercial properties purchased through the Property Acquisition 
Programme in relation to net revenue spend.

% 2017/18
Actual

2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

Non- HRA 3.67 2.99 7.14 4.62 4.09

HRA 23.43 25.63 27.91 15.12 14.21

Commercial activities / 
non-financial 
investments

13.57 13.57

Total 17.89 18.30 21.52 12.30 11.54

Page 33



16

13.5 HRA ratios – the following indicators identifies the trend of HRA debt in relation to 
revenue income and HRA debt per dwelling.

13.6 Maturity Structure of Borrowing - These gross limits are set to reduce the 
Council’s exposure to large fixed rate sums falling due for refinancing, and are 
required for upper and lower limits.

Maturity Structure of fixed interest rate borrowing 2019/20
Lower Upper

Under 12 months 0% 50%

12 months to 2 years 0% 50%

2 years to 5 years 0% 75%

5 years to 10 years 0% 75%

10 years to 15 years 0% 100%

15 years to 20 years 0% 100%

Over 20 years 0% 100%

2017/18
Actual

2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

Income from 
Commercial 
activity £m

0.687 1.106 1.177 1.285 1.285

Net Revenue 
Spend £m

12.300 12.403 11.472 11.651 12.144

Ratio of income of 
net revenue 
spend %

5.59 8.92 10.26 11.03 10.58

2017/18
Actual

2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

HRA debt £m 89.920 85.819 81.081 82.634 81.162

HRA debt cap £m 117.900 117.900 117.900 117.900 117.900

HRA revenue 
income £m

28.579 27.531 27.234 28.353 29.279

Ratio of income of 
net revenue 
spend %

31.783 32.080 33.589 34.312 36.075

Number of HRA 
dwellings

5,686 5,679 5,699 5,717 5,687

Debt per dwelling 
£

15,814 15,112 14,227 14,454 14,271

Page 34



17

Maturity Structure of variable interest rate borrowing 2019/20
Lower Upper

Under 12 months 0% 50%

12 months to 2 years 0% 50%

2 years to 5 years 0% 75%

5 years to 10 years 0% 75%

10 years to 15 years 0% 100%

15 years to 20 years 0% 100%

Over 20 years 0% 100%

14.ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2019/20

14.1 Investment Policy – Management of Risk - The MHCLG and CIPFA have 
extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial and non-financial 
investments.  This report deals solely with financial investments, (as managed by 
the treasury management team).  Non-financial investments, essentially the 
purchase of income yielding assets, are covered in the Capital Strategy, (a 
separate report).

14.2 The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following:-

 MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”)

 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and 
Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”)

 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018

14.3 The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second 
and then yield, (return).

14.4 The above guidance from the MHCLG and CIPFA place a high priority on the 
management of risk. This authority has adopted a prudent approach to managing 
risk and defines its risk appetite by the following means:-

1. Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate 
a list of highly creditworthy counterparties.  This also enables 
diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk. The key 
ratings used to monitor counterparties are the short term and long-
term ratings.

2. Other information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the 
quality of an institution; it is important to continually assess and 
monitor the financial sector on both a micro and macro basis and in 
relation to the economic and political environments in which 
institutions operate. The assessment will also take account of 
information that reflects the opinion of the markets. To achieve this 

Page 35



18

consideration the Council will engage with its advisors to maintain a 
monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and 
overlay that information on top of the credit ratings. 

3. Other information sources used will include the financial press, 
share price and other such information pertaining to the banking 
sector in order to establish the most robust scrutiny process on the 
suitability of potential investment counterparties.

4. This authority has defined the list of types of investment 
instruments that the treasury management team are authorised to 
use. There are two lists in appendix 2 under the categories of 
‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments. 

 Specified investments are those with a high level of credit 
quality and subject to a maturity limit of one year.

 Non-specified investments are those with less high credit 
quality, may be for periods in excess of one year, and/or are 
more complex instruments which require greater consideration 
by members and officers before being authorised for use.

5. Non-specified investments limit. The Council has determined that 
it will limit the maximum total exposure to non-specified investments 
as being £30m of the total investment portfolio, (see paragraph 
15.1).

6. Lending limits, (amounts and maturity), for each counterparty is set 
at £8m and in accordance section 14 and appendix 2.

7. Transaction limits for groups, counterparties and money market 
funds are set at £8m.

8. This authority will set a limit for the amount of its investments which 
are invested for longer than 365 days, (see paragraph 15.1).  

9. Investments will only be placed with counterparties from countries 
with a specified minimum sovereign rating, (see paragraph 15.1).

10. This authority has engaged external consultants, (see paragraph 
3.1), to provide expert advice on how to optimise an appropriate 
balance of security, liquidity and yield, given the risk appetite of this 
authority in the context of the expected level of cash balances and 
need for liquidity throughout the year.

11. All investments will be denominated in sterling.

12. As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2018/19 under 
IFRS 9, the Council will consider the implications of investment 
instruments which could result in a capital loss being charged to the 
General Fund at year end. (In November 2018, MHCLG concluded a 
consultation for a temporary override to allow English local 

Page 36



19

authorities time to adjust their portfolio of all pooled investments or 
build sufficient reserves by announcing a statutory override to delay 
implementation of IFRS 9 for five years commencing from 1 April 
2018.  

14.5 However, this authority will also pursue value for money in treasury management 
and will monitor the yield from investment income against appropriate benchmarks 
for investment performance, (see paragraph 16.8). Regular monitoring of 
investment performance will be carried out during the year.

15.CREDITWORTHINESS POLICY

15.1 This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services.  
This service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings 
from the three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moodys and Standard and 
Poors.  The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented with the following 
overlays:

 Credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies

 Credit Default Swaps (CDS) spreads to give early warning of likely 
changes in credit ratings

 Sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy 
countries

15.2 This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit 
outlooks in a weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of 
CDS spreads for which the end product is a series of colour coded bands which 
indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  These colour codes are 
used by the Council to determine the duration for investments.  The Council will 
therefore use counterparties within the following durational bands.

Colour/ long term rating Maximum Period of investment
Yellow 5 Years

Purple 2 Years

Orange 1 Year

Blue 1 Year (nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks)

Red 6 Months

Green 100 days

No Colour Not to be used

15.3 The Link Asset Services creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information 
than just primary ratings.  Furthermore, by using a risk weighted scoring system, 
does not give undue preponderance to just one agency’s ratings.

15.4 Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a Short Term 
rating (Fitch or equivalents) of F1 and a Long Term rating of A-.  There may be 
occassions when the counterparty ratings from one rating agency are marginally 
lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In these instances consideration 
will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other topical market 
information, to support their use.

15.5 All credit ratings will be monitored on a daily basis by officers within the Finance 
Department.  The Council is alerted to changes to ratings of all three agencies 
through its use of the Link Asset Services creditworthiness service.

Page 37



20

 if a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer 
meeting the Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment 
will be withdrawn immediately.

 in addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of 
information in movements in the Credit Default Swap market against the 
iTraxx benchmark and other market data on a weekly basis. Extreme 
market movements may result in downgrade of an institution or removal 
from the Council’s lending list.

15.6 Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition this 
Council will also use market data and market information, information on any 
external support for banks to support its decision making process.

15.7 UK Banks (Ring Fencing) - The largest UK banks, (those with more than £25bn 
of retail / Small and Medium-sized Enterprise (SME) deposits), were required, by 
UK law, to separate core retail banking services from their investment and 
international banking activities by 1st January 2019. This is known as “ring-
fencing”. Whilst smaller banks with less than £25bn in deposits are exempt, they 
can choose to opt up. Several banks are very close to the threshold already and so 
may come into scope in the future regardless.

15.8 Ring-fencing is a regulatory initiative created in response to the global financial 
crisis. It mandates the separation of retail and SME deposits from investment 
banking, in order to improve the resilience and resolvability of banks by changing 
their structure. In general, simpler, activities offered from within a ring-fenced bank, 
(RFB), will be focused on lower risk, day-to-day core transactions, whilst more 
complex and “riskier” activities are required to be housed in a separate entity, a 
non-ring-fenced bank, (NRFB). This is intended to ensure that an entity’s core 
activities are not adversely affected by the acts or omissions of other members of 
its group.

15.9 While the structure of the banks included within this process may have changed, 
the fundamentals of credit assessment have not. The Council will continue to 
assess the new-formed entities in the same way that it does others and those with 
sufficiently high ratings, (and any other metrics considered), will be considered for 
investment purposes.

16.OTHER LIMITS

16.1 Due care will be taken to consider the exposure of the Council’s total investment 
portfolio to non-specified investments, countries, group and sectors.

 Non-Specified Investment Limit – The Council has determined that it will 
limit the maximum total exposure to non-specified investments as being 
£30m of the total investment portfolio.

 Country Limits – As in previous years the Council has determined that it 
will only use approved counterparties from countries with a minimum 
sovereign rating of AAA, as determined by at least two of the three rating 
agencies (Fitch, Moody’s or Standard and Poor’s).  The list of countries 
that currently qualify using the credit criteria as at the date of this report 
are shown in Appendix 3.  Officers will amend this list during the year 
should ratings change in accordance with this policy.

 The UK Sovereignty Rating - Previous Treasury Management Strategy 
Statements recommended that the UK should be an exemption from the 

Page 38



21

above country limits and that officers would continue to place investments 
with counterparties within the UK provided that the sovereign rating 
remained above AA-, in consultation with the Section 151 Officer, who 
(under the Constitution) can take all necessary action in respect of the 
management of the Council’s investments to ensure their security is 
maintained.

 Other Limits - In addition:

a. no more than £16m will be placed with any non-UK country at any 
time;

b. limits in place above will apply to a group of companies;

c. sector limits will be monitored regularly for appropriateness.

17. INVESTMENT STRATEGY

17.1 In-house Funds - Investments will be made with reference to the core balance 
and cash flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates 
for investments up to 12 months). Greater returns are usually obtainable by 
investing for longer periods. While most cash balances are required in order to 
manage the ups and downs of cash flow, where cash sums can be identified that 
could be invested for longer periods, the value to be obtained from longer term 
investments will be carefully assessed.

 If it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the time 
horizon being considered, then consideration will be given to keeping most 
investments as being short term or variable.

 Conversely, if it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within that time 
period, consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently 
obtainable, for longer periods.

17.2 The UK Bank Rate is forecast to increase steadily but slowly over the next few 
years to reach 2.00% by quarter 1 of 2022.  Bank Rate forecasts for financial year 
ends (March) are: 

Year Bank Rate Forecast

2018/19 0.75%

2019/20 1.25%

2020/21 1.50%

2021/22 2.00%

17.3 The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments 
placed for periods up to about three months during each financial year are as 
follows:

Page 39



22

17.4

Year

2018/19 0.75%

2019/20 1.00%

2020/21 1.50%

2021/22 1.75%

2022/23 1.75%

2023/24 2.00%

Later years 2.75%

 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably 
neutral.

 The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB 
rates, are probably also even and are dependent on how stron GDP 
growth turns out, how slowly inflation pressures subside, and how quickly 
the Brexit negotiations move forward positively.

17.5 Investment treasury indicator and limit – total principal funds invested for 
greater than 365 days.  These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity 
requirements and to reduce the need for early sale of an investment, as are based 
on the availability of funds after each year end.

Maximum principal sums invested > 365 days

2019/20

£m

2020/21

£m

2020/21

£m

Principal sums invested > 365 days 20.000 20.000 20.000

17.6 Whilst the Council has placed £10m with three Property Funds and a further £10m 
with three Multi Asset Funds with a view to holding the funds for a longer term, due 
to the funds liquidity they are not taken into account for the purposes of the above 
indicator.  The indicator applies to funds invested for a fixed period only.

17.7 As at xx, the Council held no investments that matured in excess of 1 year.

17.8 For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its instant 
access and notice accounts, money market funds and short dated deposits 
(overnight to 100 days) in order to benefit from the compounding of interest.

17.9 Investment Risk Benchmark - The Council will use an investment benchmark to 
assess the investment portfolio of 3 month LIBID.

18.END OF YEAR INVESTMENT REPORT

18.1 At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investments activity as 
part of its Annual Treasury Report.

Page 40



23

19.SERVICE INVESTMENTS

19.1 The Investment Strategy recognises that the Council may, from time to time, make 
investment decisions are part of its policy decision making process or to help it fulfil 
its strategic objectives. Such decisions will be subject to due diligence checks but 
will be classified as a service investment, rather than a treasury managment 
investment, and will therefore fall outside of the specified/non specified investment 
categories.

19.2 At the time of preparing this report the Council had interests in two such service 
investments:

 Municipal Bonds Agency (MBA) - In January 2015, a report to Cabinet 
from the then Assistant Director (Finance) outlined proposals by the Local 
Government Association (LGA) to set up the MBA with the aim that the 
Agency would be able to provide councils with the opportunity to raise 
funds at significantly lower rates than those offered by the Public Works 
Loan Board (PWLB).  The Assistant Director (Finance), having liaised with 
the LGA (and in consultation with the Leader and the Chief Executive), 
concluded that the Council along with many other local authorities should 
become a member of the MBA and therefore £20,000 was paid in 
February 2015 towards the Agency’s estimated start-up costs of £1m.  It is 
anticipated that there will, at some point, be a financial return (to be 
remunerated at commercial rates) for these capital subscriptions to the 
Agency’s establishment costs.  The setting up of the MBA continues to 
progress and a Proof of Concept study is currently being undertaken.  
Under the Constitution, the Director of Corporate Services has delegated 
responsibility for the execution and administration of treasury management 
decisions in accordance with the agreed Treasury Management Strategy.  
Therefore should the Council have a need to borrow in future then use of 
MBA (if available at the time) will be considered.

 Commercial acquisitions – In previous Treasury Management Strategy 
Statements, updates on commercial properties was reported under the 
Service Investments section of the report.  Due to the revised reporting 
reqiuirements from MHCLG, the impact of such investments are 
incorporated throughout this report and the Capital Strategy provides a 
longer term focus of such investments.

20.OTHER TREASURY ACTIVITY

20.1 A long term cashflow model continues to be maintained and a summary of this can 
be found at Appendix 8 and Appendix 9 to this report.  Two graphs have been 
presented following requests made at the previous Finance and Audit Committee.  
The first shows the current long term cashflow along with key events such as the 
repayment of the £8 million stock issue loan in May 2020.  The current cashflow 
has been amended, to reflect the changes in the Medium Term Financial Plan and 
the HRA Business Plan.  The second shows the current long term cashflow against 
that which was presented to the previous Finance and Audit Committee to enable 
Members to see the movement that has occurred as a result of the changes 
detailed above.

Page 41



24

21.SCHEME OF DELEGATION

21.1 The Treasury Management Scheme for Delegation is outlined in Appendix 4.

22.ROLE OF THE SECTION 151 OFFICER

22.1 The council’s Section 151 Officer is the Director of Corporate Services and their 
role is outlined in Appendix 5.

23.RISK

23.1 Given the nature, size and volume of the transactions involved, Treasury 
Management continues to remain a high risk area and as such is reflected in the 
corporate risk register.  A summary of the perceived risks associated with Treasury 
Management is identified below.

Risk Area 
Identified

Potential Impact of Risk Mitigation

Interest rates Interest rate forecasts vary 
from the assumptions made in 
the financial forecasts resulting 
in a shortfall in investment 
interest.

Professional and specialist 
advice taken on interest rate 
forecast.
Cash flow modelled against 
anticipated financial forecast.
Treasury Management 
Strategy and Policies.

Cash flow Unexpected adverse 
movements of significant sums 
of money may vary from the 
cash flow estimated and 
therefore result in a reduction 
in investment interest.

Cash flow modelled against 
anticipated financial forecast.

Risk Area 
Identified

Potential Impact of Risk Mitigation

Sums lost in 
imprudent 
investment

Loss of sums invested in 
institution that is unable to pay 
its creditors.

Invest in institutions in 
accordance with Capita Asset 
Services creditworthiness 
service and in conjunction with 
Finance Teams assessment of 
the various counterparties.

Downgrading of 
banks and building 
societies

Loss of sums invested Invest with the Government’s 
Deposit Management Account 
Facility if necessary.

Legal and regulatory 
risk

The council fails to act in 
accordance with its legal 
powers

Comprehensive 
documentation of the 
organisations legal powers.

Sums lost through 
fraud, error and 
corruption

Financial Loss Proper system of internal 
controls.

Refinancing 
borrowing on 
appropriate terms 
and conditions.

Higher borrowing costs Reliable forecasts of maturing 
loans and capital expenditure 
to enable the council to 
negotiate appropriate terms.

24.SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME & DISORDER ACT 1998

24.1 Section 17 of the Crime & Disorder Act 1998 has been taken in account when 
preparing the Treasury Management Strategy and the Annual Investment Strategy.

Page 42



25

25.BACKGROUND PAPERS

25.1 CIPFA Treasury Management in the public services - Guidance Notes for Local 
Authorities 2011.

25.2 Templates and forecasts provided by Link Asset Services.

Page 43



19

APPENDIX 1
Link Asset Services – Economic Background

GLOBAL OUTLOOK.  World growth has been doing reasonably well, aided by strong 
growth in the US.  However, US growth is likely to fall back in 2019 and, together with 
weakening economic activity in China and the eurozone, overall world growth is likely to 
weaken.

Inflation has been weak during 2018 but unemployment falling to remarkably low levels in 
the US and UK has led to an acceleration of wage inflation. The US Fed has therefore 
increased rates nine times and the Bank of England twice.  However, the European Central 
Bank (ECB) is unlikely to start raising rates until late in 2019 at the earliest.

KEY RISKS - central bank monetary policy measures
Looking back on nearly ten years since the financial crash of 2008 when liquidity suddenly 
dried up in financial markets, it can be assessed that central banks’ monetary policy 
measures to counter the sharp world recession were successful. The key monetary policy 
measures they used were a combination of lowering central interest rates and flooding 
financial markets with liquidity, particularly through unconventional means such as 
quantitative easing (QE), where central banks bought large amounts of central government 
debt and smaller sums of other debt.

The key issue now is that period of stimulating economic recovery and warding off the 
threat of deflation, is coming towards its close. A new period is well advanced in the US, and 
started more recently in the UK, of reversing those measures i.e. by raising central rates 
and, (for the US), reducing central banks’ holdings of government and other debt. These 
measures are now required in order to stop the trend of a reduction in spare capacity in the 
economy and of unemployment falling to such low levels, that the re-emergence of inflation 
is viewed as a major risk.

UK. Economic growth in Quarter 1 of 2018 was 0.1% followed by 0.4% in quarter 2 and by a 
strong performance in quarter 3 of +0.6%.  However, growth in quarter 4 is expected to 
weaken significantly.

In the November quarterly Inflation Report meeting, the MPC repeated that future Bank Rate 
increases would be gradual and would rise to a much lower equilibrium rate, (where 
monetary policy is neither expansionary of contractionary), than before the crash.  They 
gave a figure for this of around 2.5% in ten years’ time, but declined to give a medium term 
forecast. However, with so much uncertainty around Brexit, they warned that the next move 
could be up or down, even if there was a disorderly Brexit. While it would be expected that 
Bank Rate could be cut if there was a significant fall in GDP growth as a result of a 
disorderly Brexit, so as to provide a stimulus to growth, they warned they could also raise 
Bank Rate in the same scenario if there was a boost to inflation from a devaluation of 
sterling from increases in import prices and more expensive goods produced in the UK 
replacing cheaper goods previously imported.  In addition, the Chancellor could potentially 
provide fiscal stimulus to support economic growth, though at the cost of increasing the 
budget deficit above currently projected levels.

It is unlikely that the MPC would increase Bank Rate in February 2019, ahead of the 
deadline in March for Brexit.  Getting parliamentary approval for a Brexit agreement on both 
sides of the Channel will take well into spring 2019.  However, in view of the stance of the 
MPC at their November meeting, the next increase in Bank Rate is now forecast to be in 
May 2019, (on the assumption that a Brexit deal is agreed by both the UK and the EU).  The 

Page 44



20

following increases are then forecast to be in February and November 2020 before ending 
up at 2.0% in February 2022.

Inflation.  The Consumer Price Index (CPI) measure of inflation has been falling from a 
peak of 3.1% in November 2017 to 2.1% in December 2018. In the November Bank of 
England quarterly Inflation Report, inflation was forecast to still be marginally above its 2% 
inflation target for the next two years ahead, given a scenario of minimal increases in Bank 
Rate. 

The October labour market figures showed unemployment at 4.1% was marginally above a 
43 year low of 4%.  A combination of job vacancies hitting an all-time high, together with 
negligible growth in total employment numbers, indicates that employers are now having 
major difficulties filling job vacancies with suitable staff.  It was therefore unsurprising that 
wage inflation picked up to 3.3%, (3 month average regular pay, excluding bonuses). This 
meant that in real terms, (wage rates less CPI inflation), earnings are currently growing by 
about 1.2%, the highest level since 2009. This increase in household spending power is 
likely to feed through into providing some support to the overall rate of economic growth in 
the coming months. This tends to confirm that the MPC was right to start on a cautious 
increase in Bank Rate in August as it views wage inflation in excess of 3% as increasing 
inflationary pressures within the UK economy.   

In the political arena, the Brexit deal put forward by the Conservative minority government 
was defeated on 15 January.  It is unclear at the time of writing, how this situation will move 
forward.  However, our central position is that Prime Minister May’s government will endure, 
despite various setbacks, along the route to reaching an orderly Brexit though the risks are 
increasing that it may not be possible to get full agreement by the UK and EU before 29 
March 2019, in which case this withdrawal date is likely to be pushed back to a new date.  If, 
however, the UK faces a general election in the next 12 months, this could result in a 
potential loosening of monetary and fiscal policy and therefore medium to longer dated gilt 
yields could rise on the expectation of a weak pound and concerns around inflation picking 
up.

USA.  Fiscal policy is fuelling a temporary boost in consumption which has generated an 
upturn in the rate of strong growth which rose from 2.2% in quarter 1 to 4.2% in quarter 2 
and 3.5% in quarter 3.  The strong growth in employment numbers and the reduction in the 
unemployment rate to 3.9%, near to a recent 49 year low, has fed through to an upturn in 
wage inflation which hit 3.2% in November.  However, CPI inflation overall fell to 2.2% in 
November and looks to be likely to drop below the Fed’s target of 2% during 2019.  The Fed 
has continued on its series of increases in interest rates with another 0.25% increase in 
December to between 2.25% and 2.50%, this being the fifth increase in 2018 and the ninth 
in this cycle.  However, they did also reduce their forecast for further increases from three to 
two.  This latest increase compounded investor fears that the Fed is over doing the speed 
and level of increases in rates and that it is going to cause a US recession as a result.  
Consequently, stock markets around the world have fell from the fear of the Fed’s actions, 
the trade war between the US and China and an expectation that world growth will slow.

The tariff war between the US and China is not expected to have much of a significant effect 
on US or world growth. However, there is a risk of escalation if an agreement is not reached 
soon between the US and China.

Eurozone.  Growth was 0.4% in quarters 1 and 2 but fell to 0.2% in quarter 3, though this 
was probably just a temporary dip.  In particular, data from Germany has been mixed and it 
could be negatively impacted by US tariffs on a significant part of its manufacturing exports 
e.g. cars.  For that reason, although growth is still expected to be in the region of nearly 2% 
for 2018, the horizon is less clear than it seemed just a short while ago.

Page 45



19

Appendix 2

Specified and Non Specified Investments

Investments that councils can make are of two types and these are identified in the 
subsequent paragraphs and table.

Specified Investments offer high security and high liquidity, must be in sterling and have a 
maturity of no more than a year. Such investments made with the UK government, UK local 
authorities and town/parish councils automatically count as specified investments.

Non Specified Investments are those investments not meeting the definition of specified 
investments, which are therefore of greater potential risk. Any investments with a maturity 
exceeding one year are automatically classed as non specified investments. The criteria for 
selecting counterparties for longer term investments is the same as that for short term 
investments i.e. Link Asset Services Durational Colour bands.

All specified and non-specified Investments will be

 Subject to the sovereign, group and counterparty exposure limits identified in the 
Annual Investment Strategy

 Subject to the duration limit recommended by Link Assets Services Treasury 
Solutions at the time each investment is placed

 Subject to a maximum of £30m of cored funds, in aggregate, being held in non-
specified investments at any one time (£10m in property funds, £10m in Multi Asset 
Funds and £10m in other non-specified investments).

SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: All such investments will be sterling denominated, with 
maturities up to maximum of 1 year

Minimum Credit Criteria Maximum maturity period

Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility N/A 6 months

UK Government Gilts UK sovereign rating 12 months

UK Government Treasury Bills UK sovereign rating 12 months

Bonds issued by multilateral development 
banks AAA 6 months

Money Market Funds AAA Liquid

Enhanced money market funds with a credit 
score of 1.25 AAA Liquid

Enhanced money market funds with a credit 
score of 1.5 AAA Liquid

Local authorities N/A 12 months

Term deposits with housing associations
Blue
Orange
Red

12 months
12 months
6 months

Page 46



20

Green
No Colour

100 days
Not for use

Term deposits with banks and building 
societies Link’s “Green” rating As per Link’s rating

Term deposits with part nationalised banks Link’s “Blue” rating As per Link’s rating

Certificates of deposit (CD’s) or Corporate 
bonds with banks and building societies Link’s “Green” rating As per Link’s rating

Certificates of deposit (CD’s) with part 
nationalised banks Link’s “Green” rating As per Link’s rating

Gilt Funds UK sovereign rating

Sovereign bond issues (other than the UK 
govt) AAA

NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: All such investments will be sterling denominated, with 
maturities in excess of 1 year

Minimum Credit 
Criteria

Max. 
maturity 
period

Fixed term deposits with 
variable rate and variable 
maturities: -Structured 
deposits with UK nationalised 
and part nationalised banks

UK Sovereign 
rating 2 years

Fixed term deposits with 
variable rate and variable 
maturities: -Structured 
deposits with banks and 
building societies

UK Sovereign 
rating 2 years

Term deposits with unrated 
counterparties : ie Local 
Authorities, Housing 
Associations

UK Sovereign 
rating 2 years

Term deposits with UK 
nationalised and part 
nationalised banks excluding 
Ulster Bank (part of RBS)

Link’s “Purple” 
rating 2 years

Term deposits with banks and 
building societies

Link’s “Purple” 
rating 2 years

Certificates of deposits with 
UK nationalised and part 
nationalised banks excluding 
Ulster bank (part of RBS)

Link’s “Purple” 
rating 2 years

Certificates of deposits with 
banks and building societies

Link’s “Purple” 
rating 2 years

Commercial paper issuance 
with UK nationalised and part 
nationalised banks excluding 
Ulster Bank (part of RBS)

UK sovereign 
rating 2 years

Page 47



21

Commercial paper issuance 
bank and building societies 

Link’s “Purple” 
rating 2 years

Bonds issued by multilateral 
development banks AAA 5 years

Sovereign bond issues (other 
that the UK Government) AAA 5 years

UK Government Gilts UK Sovereign 
rating

Max of 25% 
5 years

Property Funds N/A No Limit

Multi Asset Funds N/A No Limit

ACCOUNTING TREATMENT OF INVESTMENTS - The accounting treatment may differ 
from the underlying cash transactions arising from investment decisions made by this 
Council. To ensure that the Council is protected from any adverse revenue impact, which 
may arise from these differences, we will review the accounting implications of new 
transactions before they are undertaken.

Page 48



22

APPENDIX 3

Approved countries for investments (Position as at 25/01/19)

All counterparties in addition to meeting the minimum credit criteria specified in the Annual 
Investment Strategy must be regulated by a AAA sovereign rated as such by at least two of 
the three rating agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s) with the exception of the 
UK.

The list will be reviewed and amended if appropriate on a daily basis by the Director of 
Corporate Services.

As of 25/01/19 sovereigns meeting the above requirement were:

 Australia

 Canada

 Denmark

 Germany

 Luxembourg

 Netherlands

 Norway

 Singapore

 Sweden

 Switzerland

 U.K. (currently rated AA by Standard and Poor’s, AA by Fitch and Aa2 by 
Moody’s)

 USA (currently rated AAA by Fitch and Moody’s, AA+ Standard and Poor’s)

Page 49



23

APPENDIX 4

Treasury Management Scheme for Treasury Delegation

(i) Full Council

 receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices and 
activities

 approval of annual strategy.

(ii) Finance & Audit Committee

 To receive and scrutinise the council’s Treasury Management Strategy and the 
prudential indicators prior to the start of the financial year and make 
recommendations thereon to the  Full Council

 To receive and scrutinise the Treasury Management Annual Report and comment on 
any actions that may have taken during the course of the year.

 To monitor the overall state of the council’s finances on at least a quarterly basis and 
advise on any actions it recommends.

 To consider the division of responsibilities in respect of the Treasury Management 
function.

 To consider the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 
appointment.

Page 50



24

APPENDIX 5

The treasury management role of the section 151 officer

The S151 (responsible) officer

 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance

 submitting regular treasury management policy reports

 submitting budgets and budget variations

 receiving and reviewing management information reports

 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function

 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 
effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function

 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit

 recommending the appointment of external service providers

 preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, non-
financial investments and treasury management, with a long term timeframe 

 ensuring that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and prudent in 
the long term and provides value for money

 ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial 
investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority

 ensure that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure on 
non-financial assets and their financing

 ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not 
undertake a level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level of 
risk compared to its financial resources

 ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, 
monitoring and ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and long 
term liabilities

 provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including material 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial guarantees

 ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk exposures 
taken on by an authority

 ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally 
provided, to carry out the above

Page 51



25

APPENDIX 6
GLOSSARY
Authorised Limit This represents a level of borrowing which, 

though not desired, could be afforded but 
may not be sustainable.

Borrowing For Capital Purposes
- Supported

-      Unsupported

The amount of borrowing to finance capital 
projects for which the government will give 
revenue support through the grant system.

Additional borrowing the council may wish 
to undertake, but for which there will be no 
financial contribution through the grant 
system.

Capital Financing Requirement A measurement of the council’s underlying 
need to borrow for a capital purpose.

CIPFA Treasury Management Code Of 
Practice

The professional code governing treasury 
management, which the council has 
formally adopted.

Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility This deposit facility allows short-term or long 
term deposits to be lodged with the 
government. This offers the highest security 
for the
Principal sum on short-term placements.

Money Market Funds A money market fund is a “pool” of different 
types of investments, managed by a fund 
manager. The pool of investments will 
typically include bank deposits, certificates of 
deposit (CDs) amongst other investments. A 
number of organisations will invest in a 
particular fund. The interest rate yield on an 
MMF deposit is not known at the time of the 
deal. In return for this uncertainty, money 
can be accessed whenever necessary.

Municipal Bond Agency An agency has been established by the 
Local Government Association intended to 
offer council’s an alternative and less costly 
option for borrowing of long-term funds 
than the PWLB through the introduction of 
competition and diversity to the 
marketplace.

Net Revenue Stream (NRS) The NRS for the general fund is the 
“amount to be met from government grant 
and local taxpayers”, as shown in the 
consolidated revenue account. This 
represents the budget requirement for the 
council. The NRS for the housing revenue 
account is the amount to be met from 

Page 52



26

housing subsidy and rent income as shown 
in the HRA accounts.

Operational Boundary This indicator is based on the probable 
external debt during the course of the year; it 
is not a limit. Actual external debt could vary 
around this boundary for short times during 
the year. It should act as a monitoring 
indicator to ensure that authorised limit is not 
breached.

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) Part of the government’s debt management 
office, making long-term funds available to 
local authorities on prescribed terms and 
conditions. The PWLB is normally the 
cheapest source of long-term borrowing for 
a local authority.  

Page 53



Appendix 7

27

P
age 54



Appendix 8

28

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Capital Strategy
Gravesham Borough Council

2019 - 2024

Page 57



Table of contents

1. Introduction...............................................................................................................................4

2. Corporate Priorities and links to other strategic documents.....................................................5

3. Capital Expenditure ..................................................................................................................7

4. Capital Expenditure and Treasury Management Investments .................................................8

5. Commercial Activity and Property Investment Decisions .........................................................9

6. Loans........................................................................................................................................9

7. Priority Areas for capital investment .......................................................................................10

8. Sources of Capital Funding ....................................................................................................12

9. Capitalisation Flexibilities .......................................................................................................13

10. Identification and appraisal of capital project proposals.........................................................13

11. Revenue implications of Capital Expenditure.........................................................................14

12. Capital Programme 2019/20 to 2023/24 ................................................................................14

13. Governance and monitoring of the capital programme ..........................................................15

14. Understanding and Managing Risk ........................................................................................16

15. S151 Officer Assurance..........................................................................................................16

Page 58



1. Introduction

1.1 This Capital Strategy is intended to outline the principles followed by Gravesham 
Borough Council in its approach to capital investment over the long-term.  It sets out the 
framework within which the council will plan, procure, prioritise and manage its capital 
investment and financing decisions in support of the delivery of the council’s priorities, as 
set out in the Corporate Plan 2015-2019, and has intrinsic links to the Treasury 
Management Strategy of the council.

1.2 The Local Government Finance Act 2003 provides the statutory framework for the 
consideration of affordability in the council’s capital investment decisions, taking into 
account both initial capital investment and ongoing revenue implications of the capital 
investment activity.  Capital projects undertaken by the council will primarily focus on 
those which deliver long-term economic benefits to the borough and/or generate 
beneficial financial returns that will contribute to maintaining its ongoing financial 
sustainability.

1.3 The strategy has been developed by the Financial Services Team in conjunction with 
Housing colleagues and representatives of the Asset Management Group (AMG), which 
is chaired by the Director (Communities) and works corporately to promote good practice 
in Asset Management. 

1.4 The strategy will be reviewed at least annually to ensure it remains fit for purpose and in 
line with other key strategic documents of the council.  Minor updates will be made to the 
document with the agreement of the S151 Officer.  Any material updates will be 
presented to Full Council for adoption.

Page 59



2. Corporate Priorities and links to other strategic documents

2.1 The council’s Constitution provides the Framework for how the council operates, how 
decisions are made and the procedures that are to be followed to ensure that these are 
efficient, transparent and accountable to local people.  The Constitution contains specific 
references to how capital investment planning decisions should be taken.

2.2 The Corporate Plan is the key document for setting the strategic direction of the council.  
The plan is developed through consideration of local priorities, understanding the key 
community characteristics of the borough, consultation with residents, businesses and 
key stakeholders in the borough and government policies.  The Corporate Plan 2015-
2019: Delivering for the Community was adopted by Full Council in October 2015 and set 
the four strategic objectives of the council as being:

 Safer Gravesham – where local residents and visitors can live, work and 
travel in a safe, clean and green borough.

 Stronger Gravesham – a healthier more cohesive community where children 
have the best start in life and people are proud to call home.

 Sustainable Gravesham – a thriving and sustainable local economy, built on 
the foundations of high quality regeneration and development projects.

 Sound and self-sufficient council – a well-run and innovative council 
supporting its staff to realise commercial opportunities whilst transforming its 
services to deliver at the best possible value for money.

2.3 Each council department is required to prepare an annual Business Plan to demonstrate 
how its activity in the forthcoming year contributes to the delivery of the Corporate Plan 
objectives.  The Business Planning template identifies where projects to be undertaken 
during the year are likely to require capital investment.

2.4 The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MFTS) sets out how the council will plan for and 
meet the financial challenges it faces over the medium term as a means of delivering a 
robust and stable financial basis on which to deliver quality council services.  The council 
recognises the importance of ensuring that its increasingly limited revenue and capital 
resources are aligned with key policy priorities.

2.5 The Treasury Management Strategy documents how the council will manage its cash 
flows and investment transactions and seek to effectively control the risks associated with 
such activities in the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. The 
strategy also sets out how the council will make use of external professional advisors and 
ensure that the knowledge and skills of officers and Members involved in such activity are 
maintained.  The Capital Strategy will seek to determine the borrowing need of the 
council, with this informing long term cash planning and therefore the treasury 
management activity of the council.

Page 60



2.6 The Housing Strategy shows how the council and its partners will work together to 
address the borough’s housing needs and includes specific priorities to improve the 
quality of housing in both the private and public sector and to maximise the supply of 
affordable housing.  This is intrinsically linked to the Housing Development Strategy, 
which identifies how the council intends to add to its housing stock and the types of 
homes the council aims to deliver.  Historically, expenditure on the council’s housing 
stock had represented the largest element of the council’s capital investment programme.  
In more recent years focus has been on maintaining the standard of the council’s housing 
stock and delivering the council’s commitment to delivering new council housing units.  

2.7 The corporate Property Strategy presents a framework for the strategic management of 
the council’s non-dwelling property assets.  The principle objectives of the Property 
Strategy are:

 To provide members and senior management with a source of reference for 
property related assets.

 To retain, increase and develop new sources of income from assets.

 To provide a financial return through its investment portfolio and sales of surplus 
assets.

 To support a programmed, planned maintenance programme.

 To assist Housing Development with the council’s new build housing development 
programme.

 To support adequate and appropriate accommodation for services

 To assist with the delivery of major projects (e.g. Fleet Leisure and Heritage 
Quarter).

2.8 The Property Acquisition Strategy provides a framework for purchasing commercial 
property assets as a way of securing a better total return (i.e. from both income and 
capital appreciation) than cash investments, whilst still maintaining a high level of 
security.   

2.9 The IT Strategy details how Information and Communication Technology (ICT) can be 
applied and developed to support the delivery of the Corporate Plan, the transformation 
agenda of the council and drive service improvement by enabling change and 
efficiencies.

2.10 The Digital Strategy supports the customer service and access strategy of the council 
and aims to expand the service delivery options by providing and encouraging customers 
to use the most convenient and cost-effective digital contact channels, where 
appropriate.

Page 61



3. Capital Expenditure

3.1 Capital expenditure involves the acquisition, creation or enhancement of fixed assets such 
as land, buildings or equipment which have a long term value to the council.  Such assets 
support the delivery of council services over the long term and create ongoing financial 
commitments to the council, either through capital financing requirements or ongoing 
revenue costs.  The council uses the following classification of assets:

Asset Classification Asset Type Examples

Council dwellings

Land and buildings

Vehicles, plant and equipment

Infrastructure assets (e.g. paths, street furniture)

Community Assets (e.g. parks and open spaces, 
allotment sites) 

Property, Plant and Equipment

Assets Under Construction

Intangible Assets IT Software

Investment Properties Properties principally held by the council to 
provide a revenue income stream/capital 
appreciation

Heritage Assets Assets of historic or cultural interest to the 
borough (e.g. statues, monuments, civic regalia)

Assets Held for Sale Assets that are being actively marketed for 
disposal

3.2 The council applies a de minimis level of £12,000 for individual items to be charged as 
capital expenditure.  Items below this level are charged to revenue in the year that the 
expenditure is incurred.

Page 62



4. Capital Expenditure and Treasury Management Investments

4.1 Treasury Management investments take place as a consequence of the council’s cash 
flows and debt management activity and will seek to maximise the return on the cash 
balances held by the council until this is required for use in the delivery of council 
business.

4.2 The council’s treasury management investment priorities will be security first, liquidity 
second and then return.  The management of these activities is documented in the 
Treasury Management Strategy and the Annual Investment Strategy.

4.3 The council’s Annual Investment Strategy recognises that the council may, from time to 
time, make investment decisions as part of its policy decision making process or to help it 
fulfil its strategic objectives. Such decisions will be subject to due diligence checks but 
will be classified as a service investment (and capital expenditure) rather than a treasury 
management investment. At the time of preparing this strategy the council had interests 
in two such service investments:

 Municipal Bonds Agency (MBA) – established by the Local Government 
Association (LGA) to provide councils with the opportunity to raise funds at 
significantly lower rates than those offered by the Public Works Loan Board 
(PWLB).  

 Commercial acquisitions – assets purchased under the council’s Property 
Acquisition Strategy with the intention of generating a revenue income stream 
for the council.

Page 63



5. Commercial Activity and Property Investment Decisions

5.1 Commercial property investment decisions are directed by the requirements of the 
Property Acquisition Strategy.  The strategy forms part of the council’s overall activity to 
proactively respond to ongoing pressures on local government funding and sets out the 
principal criteria for selecting investable property assets as being:

 The investment provides a regular income with the net initial yield exceeding a 
minimum level of 3% above the prevailing 25 year PWLB fixed maturity rate, 
after taking into account all costs associated with the acquisition.

 That the purchases be from the retail, industrial and business (i.e. office 
premises) sectors.

 Acquisitions are not limited to being within the Borough of Gravesham.

5.2 Funding of £26.2m has been approved by Full Council for implementation of the strategy.  
The powers to acquire or dispose of properties purchased under the strategy have been 
delegated to the Chief Executive or Director (Corporate Services), supported by a cross-
political party working group advised by the Chief Executive, Director (Corporate 
Services) and the Monitoring Officer.  As appropriate, independent external professional 
advice is sought as part of the due diligence arrangements in evaluating potential 
acquisitions. These arrangements ensure that appropriate governance arrangements are 
in place whilst also reflecting the need for the council to be able to respond quickly in the 
event of a suitable property coming to market.

5.3 Any decisions made by the Chief Executive or Director (Corporate Services) are reported 
to the next meeting of the Cabinet for information purposes.  Monitoring of activity under 
the strategy will be reported to Cabinet and the Finance & Audit Committee through 
budget monitoring reports, specific reports on the performance of the council’s property 
investment portfolio and through the council’s Performance Management Framework and 
Treasury Management Indicators. 

5.4 The council has recognised that its decisions to invest in commercial property will expose 
it to fluctuations in the commercial property market.  To this end, the council has 
established a Commercial Income Protection Reserve intended to meet any maintenance 
and upkeep requirements of assets purchased under the Property Acquisition Strategy or 
to smooth the impact on the General Fund revenue budget of any unplanned void 
periods.  The Reserve is valued at 15% of the Rental Income reflected in the Medium 
Term Financial Plan.

6. Loans

6.1 The council has discretion to make loans for a number of reasons, but primarily for 
economic development of furtherance of housing delivery to meet the needs of the 
borough.  Any such loans will be treated as capital expenditure.

6.2 In making loans the council will undertake appropriate due diligence to evaluate the 
borrower and the risk of borrower default on repayment amounts, ensuring that loan 
terms are reflective of this evaluation. As per the Constitution of the council, any decision 
to issue a loan will be taken in accordance with the treasury management policies and 
practices approved by Full Council.

Page 64



7. Priority Areas for capital investment

7.1 The council recognises the importance of strategic consideration of capital project 
proposals as a means of prioritising the limited capital resources it has whilst ensuring 
the availability of resources so that essential assets continue to be provided and 
maintained.  

General Fund 

7.2 The financial resources available to meet corporate priorities are constrained in the 
current economic and political climate. Central government support for capital investment 
has reduced significantly over recent years, and the council recognises that capital 
investment will increasingly need to rely more on internal resources or through the 
council pursuing capital projects which are either self-sustaining or generate positive 
returns, both in terms of meeting corporate objectives and producing revenue savings. 

7.3 The council’s capital investment priorities for the General Fund will be:

 Corporate Property Assets – the council has a land and property portfolio valued 
at some £37m (at 31 March 2018) which is subject to periodic review by Property 
Services and the Asset Management Group to ensure that these assets continue to 
support the delivery on council services over the long term.  The council has 
established a maintenance programme to support its key property assets which 
considers both capital and revenue requirements to ensure that these assets 
remain operational. Where acquisition or disposal of land or property assets is 
recommended, this will be actioned in accordance with the Property Strategy.

 Sustainability of the council – the council will seek to invest in capital projects 
that support the sustainability of the council over the longer term.

 Regeneration Investment – the council will seek to invest in capital projects that 
support longer term economic growth and place shaping.  This will include the 
acquisition of strategic sites for the purpose of delivering such projects.

 Community – the council will focus its capital investment activity on the provision 
facilities that will directly increase community wellbeing.

 Technology and Digitalisation – the council will undertake appropriate 
investment in its IT infrastructure to achieve improved access to services, 
enhanced performance and deliver financial efficiencies.

7.4 The following material investments are planned to take place between 2019 and 2024:

 St Georges Shopping Centre – investment of £14.2m over a three year period to 
deliver improvements to the Shopping Centre, including the construction of the 
Leisure Quarter, mall enlivenment and entrance enhancement works.  

 Land Development – plans are in place to develop council-owned land at Dering 
Way and at the Brookvale Depot to provide commercial space to support economic 
development within the borough.

 Commercial Property Acquisition – continuation of the activity to secure ongoing 
revenue returns to support the delivery of council services. 

Page 65



Housing Revenue Account

7.5 The financial resources available to meet corporate priorities are constrained in the 
current economic and political climate. Central government support for capital investment 
has reduced significantly over recent years, and the council recognises that capital 
investment will increasingly need to rely more on internal resources or through the 
council pursuing capital projects which are either self-sustaining or generate positive 
returns, both in terms of meeting corporate objectives and producing revenue savings. 

7.6 The council’s capital investment priorities for the Housing Revenue Account will be:

 Council Dwellings – the council has dwellings portfolio valued at some £313m (at 
31 March 2018).  As a Landlord, the council has a responsibility to ensure that the 
dwellings it provides are fit for purpose and maintained to a decent standard.  
Where acquisition or disposal of dwellings is recommended, this will be actioned in 
accordance with the approved Housing Development Strategy. Investment in the 
council housing stock ensures properties remain lettable, helping to secure and 
sustain the rental income which fundamentally ensures the viability of the HRA.  
The council undertakes a programme of stock condition surveys to ascertain the 
status of its housing stock and inform both capital and revenue expenditure 
requirements over the next 30 years to ensure the stock is sufficiently maintained.

 New Build and Acquisitions – The council has put in place a new build, 
acquisitions and conversion programme to deliver its commitment to provide new 
affordable homes for its communities.  The programme utilises the ‘1-4-1’ receipts 
generated from the sale of council dwellings though the Right to Buy (RTB) 
scheme, which are to be used to meet 30% on the cost of eligible new build 
schemes and dwelling acquisitions.  This investment helps to deliver housing to 
meet the needs of the borough, as well as offsetting the loss of housing stock and 
associated rent income loss from sales through RTB.

 Disabled Facilities Grants – the council administers financial grants towards the 
cost of adaptations and provision of facilities to enable disabled persons to remain 
living in their home.

 Technology and Digitalisation – the council will undertake appropriate 
investment in its IT infrastructure to achieve improved access to services, 
enhanced performance and deliver financial efficiencies.

7.7 The following material investments are planned to take place between 2019 and 2024:

 Maintenance of existing dwelling stock – delivery of a programme of works 
focused on the replacement and improvement of elements within dwellings and 
ensuring the health & safety of our tenants.

 New Build and Acquisitions – investing in the expansion of the council housing 
stock for the purpose of delivering further affordable housing for use by residents of 
the borough.

Page 66



8. Sources of Capital Funding

8.1 Central government support for capital investment has reduced significantly over recent 
years and financial resources available to meet corporate priorities continue to be 
constrained in the current economic and political climate. There is a need, therefore, for 
greater reliance to be placed on internal resources or external funding, including 
borrowing, to fund capital investment.  Decisions on capital investment will need to have 
a greater focus on projects that are either self-sustaining or generate positive returns 
both in terms of meeting corporate objectives and producing revenue savings.

8.2 The capital programme will be funded from the following principal sources:

 Central government - Grants may be allocated in relation to specific 
programmes or projects, such as the Disabled Facilities Grant.

 Third Party funding - funding for capital projects may also be provided by quasi-
government sources, national organisations or other parties external to the 
council.  The Council will always seek to maximise external contributions, subject 
to any related grant conditions and/or match-funding obligations.

 Developer contributions - these represent contributions from developers on 
implementation of a permitted scheme towards the provision of public assets or 
facilities and are generally linked to the mitigation of impacts of developments on 
existing communities. These contributions are usually earmarked for specific 
purposes in planning agreements and are generally related to infrastructure 
projects.

 Unsupported borrowing - under the Prudential Code the council has discretion 
to finance the capital programme by undertaking borrowing to fund capital 
projects with the full cost of that borrowing being funded from within council 
resources. Each proposal for borrowing will be assessed in its own merit to 
ensure that it is prudent, affordable and sustainable. 

The council has set an authorised limit and operational boundary for gross debt 
with this reviewed and monitored by the Finance & Audit Committee as part of 
their treasury management responsibilities.  The limits for the forthcoming year 
and following two financial years are set out below:

Authorised limit 2018/19

Estimate £m

2019/20

Estimate £m/

2020/21

Estimate £m

2021/22

Estimate £m
Debt (including HRA Settlement) 126.500 126.500 130.200 131.400
Other Long Term Liabilities 1.600 1.600 1.600 1.600
Commercial activities / non-financial 
investments

20.000 35.000 35.000 35.000

Total 148.100 163.100 131.800 133.000
Operational Boundary 2018/19

Estimate £m

2019/20

Estimate £m/

2020/21

Estimate £m

2021/22

Estimate £m
Debt (including HRA Settlement) 125.000 125.000 128.700 129.900
Other Long Term Liabilities 1.500 1.500 1.500 1.500
Commercial activities / non-
financial investments

15.000 30.000 30.000 30.000
Total 141.500 156.500 130.200 131.400

 Capital receipts from asset disposal - council assets which are deemed surplus 
may be considered for disposal, generating capital receipts that can then be 
directed to fund other capital projects.

 Revenue , Balances and Reserves - capital expenditure may be funded directly 
from an in-year revenue contribution, a direct contribution from working balances 
or by specific revenue reserves set aside for such purposes.

Page 67



9. Capitalisation Flexibilities

9.1 Central government support for capital investment has reduced significantly over recent 
years and financial resources available to meet corporate priorities continue to be 
constrained in the current economic and political climate. There is a need, therefore, for 
greater reliance to be placed on internal resources or external funding, including 
borrowing, to fund capital investment.  Decisions on capital investment will need to have 
a greater focus on projects that are either self-sustaining or generate positive returns 
both in terms of meeting corporate objectives and producing revenue savings.

10. Identification and appraisal of capital project proposals

10.1 There is a requirement for the council to ensure continued funding for existing programmes 
of work and to prioritise new capital projects that come forward.  For this purpose the 
council has developed a capital bid process.  New project proposals will be submitted 
using the CP1 Form (see Appendix One) and will be initially endorsed by the relevant 
Director before being put forward for further evaluation by Financial Services.  

10.2 The council has adopted the following high level criteria in assessing such bids:

 the extent to which the project contributes to meeting the key aims and objectives 
of the Corporate Plan;

 the extent to which projects contribute to the priority areas set out in the strategy;

 the impact of the project on service provision and meeting statutory obligations;

 the financial viability of the project and the extent to which it provides future 
financial and performance benefits to the council and benefit to the wider 
community;

 the consequences of not undertaking the project.

10.3 On receipt of a CP1 Form, the evaluation process will be conducted by Financial Services 
as part of the annual budget setting process.  The outcomes of the evaluation exercise will 
then be presented to the council’s Management Team for review and endorsement of 
projects to be taken forward.  As part of the annual budget setting process, the endorsed 
capital programme will be presented to Cabinet initially before being proposed to and 
approved by Full Council.

10.4 Capital plans for the forthcoming five years are incorporated into the annual budget book. 
The Medium Term Financial Plan and HRA Business Plan incorporate the anticipated 
revenue effects arising from the capital programme. 

10.5 In year capital project proposal can be generated from a variety of sources, primarily from 
external funding opportunities or a need to respond to a particular issue that has arisen 
during the year.  Such proposals will be considered in the same way as those submitted 
through the annual capital bid process.   

Page 68



11. Revenue implications of Capital Expenditure

11.1 In approving projects for inclusion within the capital programme, the council will 
ensure that capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable, taking 
into account the arrangements for the repayment of debt through the Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) policy approved as part of its treasury management 
framework.  Anticipated ongoing revenue budget implications of capital expenditure 
decisions will be documented on the CP1 form used to capture and consider new 
project proposals.  

11.2 Capital financing charges, additional running costs, savings on expenditure or income 
arising from capital investment decisions will be reflected in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan.

12. Capital Programme 2019/20 to 2023/24

12.1 The council has a statutory responsibility to set a fully funded three year capital 
programme each year when agreeing the budget. These plans are published in the 
Budget Book which supports the budget and council tax setting considerations by Full 
Council in February each year.

12.2 For the purposes of strategic capital planning the council has extended its public 
capital programming horizon to five years and the proposed programmes for both the 
General Fund and HRA are provided at Appendix Two and Appendix Three, with a 
summary of these plans provided below:

TOTAL RESOURCES USED
2019/20  
Original 
Budget

2020/21  
Original 
Budget

2021/22  
Original 
Budget

2022/23  
Original 
Budget

2023/24  
Original 
Budget

£ £ £ £ £

General Fund Capital Expenditure 19,548,550 6,432,250 435,000 355,000 370,000
HRA Capital Expenditure 15,889,230 19,362,000 14,381,000 13,097,000 12,697,000
Non HRA Housing Capital Expenditure 832,800 832,800 832,800 832,800 832,800

TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 36,270,580 26,627,050 15,648,800 14,284,800 13,899,800

FINANCED BY:

Grants and Contributions 6,474,740 6,510,050 832,800 832,800 832,800
Major Repairs Reserve 8,221,420 7,140,000 7,088,000 7,088,000 7,093,000
Capital Receipts 925,120 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000
Specific Reserves 8,761,890 6,281,000 3,784,000 3,712,000 3,872,000
Revenue Contributions 0 3,396,000 3,682,000 2,502,000 1,952,000
External Borrowing 5,900,000 3,150,000 112,000 0 0
Internal Borrowing 5,987,410 0 0 0 0

TOTAL RESOURCES USED 36,270,580 26,627,050 15,648,800 14,284,800 13,899,800

12.3 The fully funded five year Capital Programme of the council has a total value of 
£106.73m, of which:

 £27.14m relates to General Fund projects

 £75.43m relates to HRA projects

 £4.16m relates to General Fund Housing projects

Page 69



13. Governance and monitoring of the capital programme

13.1 The Capital Strategy will be considered annually by the Finance and Audit Committee 
before being presented for approval by Full Council.

13.2 The Constitution of the Council (Financial Procedure Rules, Annex 2.6) requires:

 the Section 151 Officer to ensure that a three-year programme of capital 
expenditure is prepared on an annual basis, following the principles established in 
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. The programme will show projects 
already approved and those for future consideration. Such programmes will be 
considered by the Chief Officer Management Team and Cabinet before 
submission to the Full Council.

 the Section 151 Officer and the Director responsible for development 
management to maintain a register of capital funding sources.

 a full report to be presented to Cabinet for any planned or proposed capital 
expenditure exceeding £100,000 or which might entail the council taking on 
significant liabilities before any contractual commitment is entered into.

 A full report to be presented to Cabinet where a revised estimate of a scheme 
either exceeds £100,000 or exceeds the last reported estimate by an amount 
equal to 2% or £10,000, whichever the lesser figure.

13.3 The annual business planning process for the council requires each department to set 
out proposed projects for the year and identify where such projects are likely to require 
capital investment and how projects link to corporate plan objectives and policy 
commitments.

13.4 In-year capital requirements are assessed in accordance with the evaluation process 
defined in this strategy and are considered by Management Team prior to presentation to 
Members.

13.5 At least quarterly, responsible officers are requested to provide updates on the delivery of 
projects included within the annual capital programme.  This process is supplemented by 
financial monitoring information produced by Financial Services and circulated to key 
officers.

13.6 The capital programme is monitored on a quarterly basis as part of the Council’s budget 
monitoring arrangements by both Cabinet and the Finance and Audit Committee, with 
reports to Members provided on new projects, variations to existing projects, slippage in 
programme delivery and the progress of significant schemes.

13.7 The Capital Strategy and the capital programme in subject to Internal and External Audit 
review.

Page 70



14. Understanding and Managing Risk 

14.1 Risk is considered throughout the capital investment process set out in this strategy 
through the way in which projects are appraised, approved, monitored and reported on.  
The Prudential Indicators reported as part of the council’s treasury management 
monitoring arrangements also provide measures by which the council can assess and 
understand the risk of its capital investment decisions and ensure that capital expenditure 
remains affordable, prudent and sustainable.

14.2 The council has adopted a project management approach.  Project management tools 
will be used in accordance with the size and scale of the project, with a risk assessment 
carried out as part of the completion of any Project Initiation Document.

14.3 Each capital investment project is assessed to ensure that the council is aware of any 
VAT implications the project may present.

14.4 The council is facing diminishing capital resources and limited access to grants and 
external funding opportunities which means the council needs to monitor use of available 
funds to ensure that it is fully aware of the financial implications of capital investment.  
Suitability and availability of funding is considered on a project-by-project basis and 
levels of capital resources are reported to Management Team and Members through 
quarterly budget monitoring reports.

14.5 The acquisition or disposal of capital assets, or procurement contract to deliver or 
maintain capital assets are to be conducted in line with the council’s Contract Procedure 
Rules and Procurement Strategy. 

15. S151 Officer Assurance

15.1 This capital strategy has been prepared in line with the requirements of the 2018 CIPFA 
Prudential Code and 2018 Treasury Management Code.

15.2 The Section 151 Officer views the strategy to be prudent and affordable and fully 
reflective of the council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Treasury Management 
Strategy and other Strategic Plans.

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
CP1 Form 

PROPOSED CAPITAL PROJECTS 2019/20 AND BEYOND 
 
A. SUMMARY PROJECT DETAILS 
 

Project Title  

Project Summary 
(include an overview of the proposal including the main purposes and benefits of the project and 
how expected outcomes will be measured and evaluated) 
 
 
 

Expected Start Date  

Expected Completion Date  

 

Responsible Service Manager  

Responsible Project Manager  

Directorate  

Portfolio  

 

 
Approval by Director: 
 
 
 
Date: 
 
 
NB: Forms will be rejected and returned unless fully completed and appropriately authorised 
 

Please return completed and authorised forms to the Finance Team, 3rd Floor. Areas marked in 
grey are for Finance use only.

 

 

Page 73



CP1 Form 

 
B. CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES AND COMMITMENTS 
 

B1. Please insert the Corporate Plan commitments to which this project will contribute.   
A copy of the Corporate Plan can be accessed at 
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/207466/GBC-Corporate-Plan-2015-
19.pdf 

No. Corporate Plan commitments Score  
1 met (1), 2(4) 3+= (7) 

1 
 

 

2 
 

 

3 
 

 

4 
 

 

5 
 

 

 Total Score:     

 
 
 

B2. Please insert the Capital Strategy priority to which this project will contribute.   
A copy of the Capital Strategy can be obtained from the Finance Team 

No. Capital Strategy Priority Score  
1 met (1), 2+(4)  

1 
 

 

2 
 

 

3 
 

 

 Total Score:     

 
 
 
 
 

 Total Section Score:     

Page 74

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/207466/GBC-Corporate-Plan-2015-19.pdf
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/207466/GBC-Corporate-Plan-2015-19.pdf


Appendix 1 
CP1 Form 

C. RISK MANAGEMENT AND SERVICE CONTINUITY 
 

Is the capital project urgently required. 
 

Yes / No 

If yes, explain the urgency and any references to statutory obligations: 

 

No  
Response 
and Score 

Criteria 
Score  

C1 
Within what timescales is the project required to be 
delivered 

1 year (5) 
2 years (3) 
3 years+ (1) 

 

C2 
Is the project critical to avoid or minimise disruption to future 
service provision 

Yes (4) 
No  (0) 

 

C3 
Is the project critical to furtherance of partnership or joint 
working 

Yes (2) 
No (0) 

 

C4 
Is the project critical to avoid health & safety issues for 
Council clients or staff 

Yes (4) 
No  (0) 

 

C5 
Will this project increase the public perception of the Council 
or is the asset considered to be an important Local Asset 
(e.g. Heritage Asset)  

Yes (2) 
No (0)  

 Total Section Score:     

 
 
D. FUNDING RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 
 

No  
Response 
and Score 

Criteria 
Score  

D1 
Is the proposed project required to be approved to secure 
external grant funding 

Grant funding: 
75%+ (3) 
50%-75% (2) 
<50% (1) 

 

D2 
Is the project fully funded from revenue or reserve 
contributions 

Yes (3) 
No (0) 

 

D3 
Is the project required to secure ongoing revenue savings, a 
return and/or to generate a capital receipt 

Yes (3) 
No (0) 

 

D4 Will the project generate an ongoing revenue commitment 
<£10k pa (-1) 
£10k-£20k (-3) 
£20k+ (-5) 

 

 Total Section Score:     

Scores Carried Forward 

Section B  

Section C  

Section D  

Total Score  

Page 75



D. FUNDING RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS            CP1 Form 

 

 

 
Previous 

Years 
Allocation 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Total Comments 

 £ £ £ £ £ £  

CAPITAL COSTS        

Cost of works (building and other)        

Furniture & Equipment        

Fees        

Other (please state)        

TOTAL SCHEME COSTS        

        

CAPITAL FUNDING        

Capital Receipts        

Government Grant        

Other External Funding (please state)        

Supported Borrowing        

Unsupported Borrowing        

Other Funding        

TOTAL FUNDING 
 

      
(Must equal Total Scheme 
Costs otherwise form will 
be rejected) 

        

REVENUE IMPLICATIONS 
(excluding Capital Charges) 

       

Staff Costs        

Non Staff Costs (please state)        

Income (show as negative)       
Please specify income 
type ie rent, fees etc 

Total Expenditure        

P
age 76



  CP1 Form 

 

E. RISK REGISTER 
 
Please identify any relevant risks associated with the proposed capital scheme, probability, and the level of impact they could have on the scheme if 
not managed and the mitigating action you propose in order to minimise or reduce the risk. 
 
Please add or delete rows depending on the number of risks identified. 
 
If the scheme is added to the capital programme the risk register should be reviewed on a quarterly basis and updated as necessary. 
 

Key Theme Risk Impact Probability Mitigating Action Comments 

      

      

      

      

 

P
age 77



            CP1 Form 

 

F. VALUE FOR MONEY 
 
Please describe how the project is providing value for money 
 

 

 
G. OPTION APPRAISAL 
 
Please state the implications if the project proceeds with a reduced rate of investment or if it does not 
proceed. 
 

Scheme proceeds at a reduced level  

Scheme does not proceed  

 
 
H. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
Has due consideration for equality strands been given and are there any adverse impacts that need to 
be highlighted (please detail) 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 78



CP1 Form 

 

For Finance Use Only 
 
 
I. TAX/VAT 
Are there any resulting Tax/VAT implications, if so details here 
 

 

  
J. OTHER IMPACTS 
Are there any other issues which need to be taken into account 
 

 

 
K. ECONOMIC GROWTH 
Are there any other economic growth considerations which need to be taken into account (impact on 
council tax and business rates, number of jobs created, links to regional, local or national growth 
strategies) 
 

 

 

Page 79



            CP1 Form 

 

 
FINAL PROJECT EVALUATION 
 

Financial Considerations Score 

1 Does the project meet the criteria for capitalisation? YES/NO 

2 
Are the tax implications for the council fully understood? (see I 
above) 

YES/NO 

3 Are the financial plans clear and fully costed? YES/NO 

4 
Are the financial plans robust, viable and (where appropriate) 
sustainable? (i.e. sensitivity analysis where appropriate) 

YES/NO 

5 Does the project secure other benefits to the council (see K above) YES/NO 

All Yes (PASS), All No (FAIL) PASS/PARTIAL?FAIL 

 
 

  
Score 

No. Capital Strategy Priority  

1 Score Carried Forward  - Section B  

2 Score Carried Forward  - Section C  

3 Score Carried Forward  - Section D  

 Total Score:     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Presented to MT on:   …………………………………………………… 
 
Decision taken:   …………………………………………………… 
       

Page 80



General Fund Capital Programme 2019-20 to 2023-24 Appendix 2

INVESTMENT PLAN SUMMARY
2019-20 

Budget    

2020-21 

Budget    

2021-22 

Budget    

2022-23 

Budget    

2023-24 

Budget    

£ £ £ £ £

Chief Executive 0 0 0 0 0

Housing & Regeneration 0 0 0 0 0

Communities 953,000 510,000 230,000 150,000 165,000

Environment & Operations 971,500 205,000 205,000 205,000 205,000

Corporate Services 17,624,050 5,717,250 0 0 0

19,548,550 6,432,250 435,000 355,000 370,000

PROJECT
2019-20 

Budget    

2020-21 

Budget    

2021-22 

Budget    

2022-23 

Budget    

2023-24 

Budget    

£ £ £ £ £

Essential Repairs to Buildings 429,500 210,000 0 0 45,000

Gatekeeper Replacement 50,000 0 0 0 0

Replacement Artificial Sports Pitches 50,000 0 0 0 0

Envelope Filling Equipment 20,000 0 0 0 0

Heritage Assets 328,500 300,000 230,000 150,000 120,000

Back up Generator 75,000 0 0 0 0

953,000 510,000 230,000 150,000 165,000

PROJECT
2019-20 

Budget    

2020-21 

Budget    

2021-22 

Budget    

2022-23 

Budget    

2023-24 

Budget    

£ £ £ £ £

Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 535,000 205,000 205,000 205,000 205,000

Replacement Play Equipment 185,300 0 0 0 0

Parking Machines 251,200 0 0 0 0

971,500 205,000 205,000 205,000 205,000

PROJECT
2019-20 

Budget    

2020-21 

Budget    

2021-22 

Budget    

2022-23 

Budget    

2023-24 

Budget    

£ £ £ £ £

Brookvale Office Accommodation 1,400,000 0 0 0 0

Property Acquisition Programme 2,328,600 0 0 0 0

Land Acquisiton Programme 3,658,810 0 0 0 0

Heritage Quarter - St George's Centre 5,461,640 5,677,250 0 0 0

IT Equipment Air Conditioning Unit 40,000 40,000 0 0 0

Land at Dering Way 4,735,000 0 0 0 0

17,624,050 5,717,250 0 0 0

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Housing Capital Programme 2019-20 to 2023-24 Appendix 3

INVESTMENT PLAN SUMMARY
2019-20 

Budget    

2020-21 

Budget    

2021-22 

Budget    

2022-23 

Budget    

2023-24 

Budget    

£ £ £ £ £

HRA Capital Maintenance Expenditure 7,744,230 8,744,000 5,581,000 4,270,000 3,387,000

HRA New Build and Acquisitions 7,465,000 10,618,000 8,800,000 8,827,000 9,310,000

HRA Other Capital Expenditure 680,000 0 0 0 0

Non HRA Housing Capital Expenditure 832,800 832,800 832,800 832,800 832,800

16,722,030 20,194,800 15,213,800 13,929,800 13,529,800

PROJECT
2019-20 

Budget    

2020-21 

Budget    

2021-22 

Budget    

2022-23 

Budget    

2023-24 

Budget    

£ £ £ £ £

Replacement Programme 4,537,410 0 0 0 0

Improvement Programme 2,069,290 0 0 0 0

Health & Safety 1,137,530 0 0 0 0

Planned Maintenance 7,142,000 3,948,000 2,609,000 1,696,000

Heating Installations 1,224,000 1,248,000 1,270,000 1,293,000

Disabled Adaptations 306,000 312,000 317,000 323,000

Asbestos Management 72,000 73,000 74,000 75,000

7,744,230 8,744,000 5,581,000 4,270,000 3,387,000

PROJECT
2019-20 

Budget    

2020-21 

Budget    

2021-22 

Budget    

2022-23 

Budget    

2023-24 

Budget    

£ £ £ £ £

St Hilda's 1,285,000 0 0 0 0

Whitehill Road 3,680,000 3,963,000 0 0 0

Valley Drive Bedsits 2,500,000 6,655,000 120,000 0 0

Other New Build Scheme 0 0 8,680,000 8,827,000 9,310,000

7,465,000 10,618,000 8,800,000 8,827,000 9,310,000

PROJECT
2019-20 

Budget    

2020-21 

Budget    

2021-22 

Budget    

2022-23 

Budget    

2023-24 

Budget    

£ £ £ £ £

Housing Computer System 600,000 0 0 0 0

Play Equipment 80,000 0 0 0 0

680,000 0 0 0 0

PROJECT
2019-20 

Budget    

2020-21 

Budget    

2021-22 

Budget    

2022-23 

Budget    

2023-24 

Budget    

£ £ £ £ £

Renovation Grants (DFG) 832,800 832,800 832,800 832,800 832,800

832,800 832,800 832,800 832,800 832,800

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 18 February 2018

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: Audit & Counter Fraud Update 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with an update on the work, outputs and performance of the Audit & 
Counter Fraud Team for the period 1 October 2018 to 31 December 2018. 

Recommendations:
1. Members note the outputs and performance of the Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for 

Gravesham for the period 1 October 2018 to 31 December 2018 as detailed at 
Appendix 2. 

2. Members approve the amendment to the 2018-19 Audit & Counter Fraud Workplan as 
outlined in section 6 of the report at Appendix 2.

1. Background

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require that: The chief 
audit executive must report periodically to senior management and the board on 
the internal audit activity’s purpose, authority, responsibility and performance 
relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk exposures and 
control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other matters needed 
or requested by senior management and the board.

2. Update Report

2.1 The report at Appendix 2 is the third update to be produced during 2018-19; 
detailing the work undertaken by the Audit & Counter Fraud Team between 1 
October and 31 December and the progress made against the annual workplan.

2.2 Section 6 of the report contains details of a proposed revision to the 2018-19 
workplan, which is necessary to respond to the loss of resources created by 
sickness and the flexible retirement of one officer.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 Nil

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 85 Agenda Item 7



2

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible 
for establishing the internal audit service.  Gravesham Borough Council has 
delegated this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver 
internal audit services through the Shared Service to both authorities. The Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards are supported by CIPFA’s Local Government 
Application Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

An adequate and effective Audit & Counter Fraud function provides the council with 
assurance on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources 
in delivery of services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have 
an adverse effect on the financial statements of the council.

Risk Assessment This report, summarising the work of the Audit & Counter Fraud team, provides a 
key source of assurance for the council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its 
internal control arrangements.  

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Page 86

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


3

Corporate Plan The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Business Plan but is particularly relevant to 
Objective 4: Sound & self-sufficient council. 

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

The council’s performance management framework includes the publication of the 
outturns against the Performance Measures and Indicators in the Corporate 
Business Plan. The proportion of recommendations made by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team that are implemented by Management is one of the council’s overall 
Performance Indicators (PI141) and is therefore reported to the public via the 
council’s Annual Report published on the council’s website. 

The Local Government Transparency Code requires the publication of data relating 
to Fraud Investigation; this is published in line with the requirements on the 
council’s website.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 22

Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council

Audit & Counter Fraud 
Update 

Gravesham Borough Council
For the period:

1 October 2018 – 31 December 2018

Page 89



Page 2 of 22

1. Introduction
1.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council was established 

on 1 March 2016. The team provides internal audit assurance and consultancy, proactive counter fraud and 
reactive investigation services, and the Single Point of Contact between both authorities and the Department 
for Work & Pensions Fraud & Error Service for their investigation of Benefits Fraud.  

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require that: The chief audit executive must report 
periodically to senior management and the board on the internal audit activity’s purpose, authority, 
responsibility and performance relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk exposures and 
control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other matters needed or requested by senior 
management and the board.

2. Independence
2.1. The Audit & Counter Fraud Charter was approved by Gravesham’s Finance & Audit Committee in March 2018 

and sets out the purpose, authority and responsibility of the team. The Charter sets out the arrangements to 
ensure the team’s independence and objectivity through direct reporting lines to senior management and 
Members, and through safeguards to ensure officers remain free from operational responsibility and do not 
engage in any other activity that may impair their judgement.  The work of the team during the period covered 
by this report has been free from any inappropriate restriction or influence from senior officers and/or 
Members. 

2.2. Given its responsibilities for counter-fraud activities, the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service cannot provide 
independent assurance over the counter-fraud activities of either council. Instead independent assurance over 
the effectiveness of these arrangements will be sought from an external supplier of audit services on a periodic 
basis. 

3. Resources
3.1. The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Team reports to the Section 151 Officers of Medway Council and 

Gravesham Borough Council. The team currently has an establishment of 14 FTE officers, consisting of; the 
Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud, three Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders, eight Audit & Counter 
Fraud Officers (one post currently vacant due to three officers being part time), one audit & Counter Fraud 
Intelligence Analyst and one Audit & Counter Fraud Assistant, following a restructure in early 2018. 

3.2. The Shared Service Agreement sets out the basis for splitting the available resources between the two councils, 
approximately 36% for Gravesham with the remaining 64% for Medway. At the time the Audit & Counter Fraud 
Plans for 2018-19 were prepared, this establishment was forecasted to provide a total of 1,834 days available 
for audit and counter fraud work (net of allowances for leave, training, management, administration etc.) The 
Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for Gravesham was prepared with a resource budget of 660 days. 

3.3. Net staff days available for Gravesham for the period 1 October 2018 to 31 December 2018 amounted to 136 
days and 113 days (83%) were spent on productive audit and counter fraud work. Of this productive time, 65% 
was spent on audit assurance and consultancy work, while 35% was spent on counter fraud and investigations 
work. The current status and results of all work carried out are detailed at section 4 of this report.  

3.4. Staff sickness, the unexpected vacancy earlier in the year and the fact that one Audit & Counter Fraud Officer 
has taken flexible retirement from 01 September 2018 has affected the level of resources available. To date 
this has resulted in a net loss of approximately 75 days from the original resource budget of 660 days for 
Gravesham.

Page 90



Page 3 of 22

3.5. The vacancy was filled with effect from 15 October and the officer has now returned from sick leave.  

4. Results of planned Audit & Counter Fraud work 
4.1. The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2018-19 for Gravesham was approved by the Finance & Audit Committee in 

March 2018. The Plan is intended to provide a clear picture of how the council will use the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Service, reflecting all work to be carried out by the team for Gravesham during the financial year 
including the council’s core finance and governance arrangements, operational assurance work, proactive 
counter fraud work, responsive investigations and consultancy services. 

4.2. The tables below provide details of the work from 2017-18 that has been finalised in 2018-19, the progress of 
work undertaken as part of the 2018-19 annual plan and the results of investigative work completed during the 
period.    

Page 91



Page 4 of 22

2017-18 Internal Audit Assurance work completed in 2018-19 

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

8 Creditors 10 13.8 Final Report 
Issued

Findings already reported to Finance & Audit Committee – September 2018 Meeting

15 Borough Market – 
Income 

10 13.9 Final Report 
Issued

Findings already reported to Finance & Audit Committee – September 2018 Meeting

22 Business Continuity 10 7.3 Final Report 
Issued

Findings already reported to Finance & Audit Committee – September 2018 Meeting

26 Housing Revenue 
Account Building 
Management – 
Compliancy

10 18 Final Report 
Issued

Findings already reported to Finance & Audit Committee – September 2018 Meeting

28 Void Property 
Management & Re-
let

15 11.7 Final Report 
Issued

Findings already reported to Finance & Audit Committee – September 2018 Meeting

2018-19 Internal Audit Assurance work 

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Core governance and financial systems assurance work
1 Finalisation of 2017-

18 planned work
25 24.9 Complete All 2017-18 reviews have been finalised.

2 Performance 
Management

5 1 Complete A&CF Officers have worked with the Corporate Performance team to verify the 2017-
18 corporate performance information reported. 

3 Corporate & Business 
Planning

10 N/A Not Yet Started N/A

4 Performance 
Management 
Framework

10 5.8 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Arrangements exist to monitor and report on corporate performance.
The review found that robust procedures are in place to monitor and report corporate 
performance.
The Performance Management Framework (PMF) was implemented in October 2015 
following Full Council approval. This was introduced to monitor the delivery of the 

P
age 92



Page 5 of 22

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Corporate Plan 2015-19. The PMF is split into three sections including Performance 
Measures (PM), Performance Indicators (PI) and Management Indicators (MI). 
A Data Quality Policy is in place which sets out how target setting should be 
conducted on an annual basis for all PMs.  Ultimately, the final sign off lies with the 
relevant Portfolio Holder; however, it was found that this is rarely documented. The 
policy needs to be updated at point 5.8 regarding appendix 4 as returning a signed 
checklist to the Corporate Performance Team is no longer relevant.
In accordance with the Data Quality Policy, the role of Members is to scrutinise the 
data that they are presented with in order for them to make informed decisions on 
behalf of the council; however, they are not routinely provided with training regarding 
the Performance Management Framework.
Procedure notes are produced for each PM, PI and MI, giving detailed information on 
the reason the data is required and how it should be calculated. 
Reports are produced on a quarterly and annual basis detailing performance 
information and measures are in place to challenge poor performance.

Annual validation of performance outturns is conducted by the Audit and Counter 
Fraud Team on a risk basis. Opinion: Green
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: Three low priority.
Recommendations relate to an elected Member training document being devised, 
the Data Quality Policy being updated regarding point 5.8 and Appendix 4 and 
documented agreement from the relevant Portfolio holder being obtained for all 
targets

5 Ethics 15 N/A Fieldwork 
Underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - All council employees behave with integrity, demonstrate strong 
commitment to ethical values and respect the rule of the law.    

6 General ledger 10 N/A Fieldwork 
Underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to ensure that information is recorded accurately 
on the General Ledger.

7 Bad Debt Provision 15 12.8 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – The council are providing a realistic level of provision for bad debts within 
their accounts: 

Bad debt provision is being applied in line with the most up to date principles of CIPFA 
guidance.

P
age 93



Page 6 of 22

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Not all elements of council debt have been included in the provision calculation as an 
element of benefit debt that has not been included.

All calculations except for one are accurate and the figures used in the calculations 
could be matched back to the source documents.

All the elements included in the calculations for bad debt provision have their own 
criteria, based on either the age of the debt, the value of the debt or the historic 
information of debt.

There are principles and procedures set for each element of debt, however these are 
not all fully documented. Opinion: Amber
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: One medium and two low priority.
Recommendations relate to ensuring all elements of debt within the council are 
considered, producing written notes on the methodologies being used and checking 
data used in calculation is accurate.

8 NNDR Recovery 15 8.2 Final Report 
Issued

Findings already reported to Finance & Audit Committee – November 2018 Meeting

9 VAT 10 N/A Draft Report 
with Client for 
Consideration

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Adequate procedures are in place for identifying, processing and accounting 
for VAT.

10 Financial statements 
preparation

15 9.5 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Final accounts are prepared in accordance with the latest CIPFA code and 
statutory reporting deadlines are met.
The finance team responsible for the preparation of the final accounts prepared the 
draft accounts for the 2017/18 financial year by the statutory reporting deadline of 31 
May 2018 and in accordance with the latest CIPFA code.

The external auditors were able to audit the accounts in time for the accounts to be 
signed off and published on the website by 31 July 2018. Opinion: Green
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: None.

11 Grant payments 10 N/A Proposal to 
Defer to 2019-
20

As outlined at section 6 of this report, due to significant loss of resource, there has 
been a request to defer this audit to 2019-20. 

12 Responsive assurance 
work

8 N/A Fieldwork 
Underway

A review of arrangements to meet the requirements of the Transparency code has 
been undertaken at the request of the Director (Corporate Services).

P
age 94



Page 7 of 22

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Corporate risks assurance work
13 IT Strategy & 

implementation
10 N/A Fieldwork 

Underway
The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:

RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to review and implement the council’s IT needs.

14 Use of Bailiffs 10 N/A Terms of 
Reference 
Being Prepared

N/A

15 Procurement 
compliance

10 7.5 Final Report 
Issued

Findings already reported to Finance & Audit Committee – November 2018 Meeting

16 Refunds 10 N/A Fieldwork 
Underway 

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objectives:

RMO1 - Adequate policies and procedures are in place to the administration of 
refunds.
RMO2 - Adequate arrangements are in place for the administration and processing 
of refunds.

17 Write Offs 15 N/A Fieldwork 
Underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
There are arrangements and procedures in place regarding debt write off.  

18 Counter Fraud 5 N/A Not Yet Started N/A
19 General Data 

Protection Regulation
15 N/A Not Yet Started N/A

20 Homelessness 15 N/A Terms of 
Reference 
Being Prepared

N/A

21 Establishment 
Management

15 10.1 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:

RMO1 - The council’s establishment is appropriately managed.
The review found that all employee and HR establishment details are recorded within 
the Resource Link HR system and an establishment list can be extracted which shows 
all posts, as well as current budgeted and actual full time equivalent (FTE). A process 
is in place whereby all changes to the council’s establishment must be approved by 
council’s Management Team (MT); however inconsistencies were identified in the 
depth of information provided with each request. Arrangements exist for the financial 
considerations of all proposed changes to the establishment to be taken into account; 
however, while some managers do consult the HR team, there is no requirement for 
HR implications to be considered in the same way. In addition, although widely known 

P
age 95



Page 8 of 22

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

by managers, the process for making changes to the council’s establishment has not 
been documented in a policy or procedure note. Managers are responsible for 
approaching the HR team once changes to the establishment have been agreed by MT 
and various forms are in place in order for the changes to be made on Resource Link; 
though there are different approval requirements across these forms. In addition, 
there is no requirement for managers to confirm on the forms that the relevant MT 
approval has been obtained and this is not independently checked. Audit testing in 
relation to five approved changes to the establishment confirmed that in all five 
instances the changes were supported by the relevant forms and had been reflected 
on Resource Link, with the exception of one post left vacant by a restructure which 
should have been deleted. Procedures are in place for temporary changes to the 
establishment to be monitored through Resource Link. While this process ensures 
appointments are ended in line with agreed changes to the establishment, it does not 
result in the post physically being removed from the establishment; however, if the 
manager wanted to fill the vacant post or make any other changes to it, further MT 
approval would be required which would re-start the process for making changes. 
Opinion: Amber.
RMO2 - The council’s salaries budget is appropriately managed.  
The review found that budgetary provision is made for all posts included within the 
council’s establishment, via the salaries budget, which is prepared on an annual basis 
as part of the council’s overall budget setting procedure. Once the salaries budget is 
set, it is set for the year; however arrangements exist for changes to be monitored via 
a salaries budget monitoring spreadsheet, which allows for a projected outturn to be 
calculated. 

The relevant accountants are made aware of agreed changes to the establishment 
through MT minutes; however, changes are not recorded on the salaries budget 
monitoring spreadsheet until they have actually taken effect, therefore the team are 
largely reliant on starter, leaver and change notifications from HR. However, budget 
holders are sent a link to their salaries budget monitoring sheet on a monthly basis 
and are asked to make the accountants aware of any changes that have not yet been 
recorded. Audit testing in relation to five approved changes to the establishment 
confirmed that in all five instances the changes were appropriately reflected in the 
salaries budget monitoring spreadsheet.

Arrangements exist for salaries budget monitoring reports to be presented to MT on a 
regular basis and procedures are also in place for an annual review of all vacant posts. 
There are not however currently any arrangements to carry out reconciliations 

P
age 96



Page 9 of 22

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

between the HR establishment list and salaries budget monitoring spreadsheet. 
Several discrepancies were identified during testing however these were in relation to 
different post names / numbers being held on the two sources rather than any issues 
with ‘ghost’ employees or similar. Opinion: Amber.

Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: One High, three medium and one low 
priority.

Recommendations relate to ensuring consistent information is provided for all 
requests to make changes to the establishment, ensuring that HR implications are 
formally considered for each change, preparing a policy or procedure note setting 
out the process for making changes to the establishment, reviewing forms used to 
make changes to the establishment on Resource Link and carrying out periodic 
reconciliations between the establishment list and salaries budget.

22 Staff Performance 
Management 
Framework

10 N/A Not Yet Started N/A

23 Manual Handling – 
Brookvale Health & 
Safety

10 N/A Fieldwork 
Completed, in 
Quality Control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Appropriate measures are in place of ensure the health and safety of all 
manual workers at Brookvale.
RMO2 - Appropriate measures are in place for the reporting and investigation of any 
incident/ accidents at Brookvale.

24 Tenancy Enforcement 15 N/A Deferred to 
2019-20

Agreed by Finance & Audit Committee – November 2018 meeting

25 Rent Deposit Scheme 10 16.0 Final Report 
Issued

Findings already reported to Finance & Audit Committee – November 2018 Meeting

26 Repairs & 
Maintenance Supplies 
Management

15 N/A Deferred to 
2019-20

Agreed by Finance & Audit Committee – November 2018 meeting

Counter Fraud Assurance Work
27 Housing Allocations 15 N/A Draft Report 

with Client for 
Consideration.

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to ensure council properties are allocated 
appropriately.

P
age 97



Page 10 of 22

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

28 Residents Parking 
Permits

15 11.5 Final Report 
Issued

Findings already reported to Finance & Audit Committee – November 2018 Meeting

Other consultancy services including advice & information
Client service area Services provided

Repairs & Maintenance Supplies Management One of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders provided control advice as part of the procurement of a 
single supplier for the council’s Repairs & Maintenance function.  

Interreg  France (Channel) England Go Trade 
Project 

One of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders was appointed and has been undertaking the role of First 
Level Controller for Gravesham Borough Council’s part in this project. 

Automated Invoicing Two of the Audit & Counter Fraud Officers were part of the project group overseeing implementation of 
the Creditors automated invoicing system.

Corporate Debt Project One of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders was part of a project group overseeing implementation of 
a system to provide a corporate view of debt.

Counter Fraud Activity

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

30 Pro-active 
investigations work

29 N/A Underway Nothing to report during the period.

31 Data matching 
exercises, including 
National Fraud 
Initiative and Kent 
Intelligence Network

29 N/A Underway Data submissions took place for both the National Fraud Initiative and the Kent 
Intelligence Network data matching projects, however, no matches were received 
during the reporting period.
Matching relating to NNDR small business rate relief has taken place and the matches 
received have been assessed by the NNDR team. To date only one premises has had 
its relief removed but enquiries are being undertaken in relation to some other 
matches.

32 Fraud awareness 10 N/A Not yet 
started

No fraud awareness training undertaken during the period.

Reactive Investigations work: external investigations

P
age 98



Page 11 of 22

Area Number of cases 
concluded Summary of results

Council Tax 7 Two referrals rejected due to insufficient cause to investigate or because investigation was required by 
DWP in relation to benefits. Three cases concluded with no evidence of fraud but two resulted in the 
removal of discounts or exemptions. 

Housing Allocations 1 One referral as insufficient cause to investigate.

Tenancy 5 Three referrals rejected as insufficient cause to investigate and two others concluded with no evidence of 
fraud.

Right to Buy 1 One case concluded with the right to buy blocked based on evidence that the additional applicant had not 
been resident for the required 12 months.

Parking 1 One case closed following acceptance of a simple caution for submitting false medical documents to avoid 
payment of PCN’s.

Reactive Investigations work: internal investigations
Allegation Investigation activity & recommendations

Falsification of time sheets The investigation was concluded with no evidence to substantiate the allegations. Advice given to 
management to address the issue moving forward.

P
age 99



Page 12 of 22

5. Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme 
5.1. The Standards require that: The chief audit executive must develop and maintain a quality assurance and 

improvement programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity. A Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Programme (QAIP) has been prepared to meet this requirement.  The Audit & Counter Fraud 
Shared Service QAIP was agreed by Gravesham’s Finance & Audit Committee in March 2018. 

5.2. The arrangements set out in the QAIP have been implemented with the collection and monitoring of 
performance data largely automated through the team’s time recording and quality management processes.  It 
should be noted that the results recorded below have not been subjected to independent data quality 
verification. 

5.3. In line with the QAIP, the team monitor performance against a suite of 24 performance indicators based on the 
balanced scorecard, covering the four perspectives; financial, internal process, learning & growth and 
customer.  The table below sets out the performance targets, which are grouped into measures for the service 
and those that are specific to the individual authority. Targets have been set for 17 of the 24 indicators, 
however it should be noted that these are for full year outturns; as such outturns at present are not to target 
levels but are provided for Members information.  

Ref Indicator Target Outturn for report period

Non LA Specific Performance Measurements 

A&CF1 Cost of the Audit & Counter Fraud Service 
a) Total Cost
b) LA Share

N/A
£560,257
£201,693

A&CF2 Cost per A&CF day £400 £305
A&CF3 Proportion of staff with relevant 

professional qualification:
a) Relevant audit qualification
b) Relevant counter fraud qualification

75%

21%
57%

A&CF4 Proportion of non-qualified staff 
undertaking professional qualification 
training  

25% 0%

A&CF5 Time spent on CPD/non-professional 
qualification training, learning & 
development

70 days 30 days in this reporting period. 
(76 days in total for April to Dec 
2018)

A&CF6 Compliance with PSIAS 100% The External Quality Assessment 
(EQA) conducted in February 2018 
was positive with performance in 
line with or above that of other 
local authorities as per 
benchmarking; however, it did not 
provide a percentage of 
compliance.
Our January 2019 self- assessment 
showed full compliance with 94% of 
the standards, partial compliance 
with a further 4% and work 
required to address the remaining 
2%. 

Page 100



Page 13 of 22

Ref Indicator Target Outturn for report period

We are working to address the 
areas that require improvement.

A&CF7 Staff turnover N/A 0%  

LA Specific Performance Measurements 

A&CF8 Average cost per assurance review £5,000  £3,727

A&CF9 Proportion of available resources spent on 
productive work 

90% 83%

A&CF10 Proportion of productive time spent on:
a) assurance work
b) consultancy work

65%
58%
7%

A&CF11 Proportion of productive time spent on: 
a) proactive counter fraud work 
b) reactive counter fraud work 

35%
1%
34%

A&CF12 Proportion of agreed assurance 
assignments:
a) Delivered
b) Underway

95%

48%
17%

A&CF13 Proportion of assignments completed within 
allocated day budget

90% 100%

A&CF14 Proportion of completed reviews subject to 
a second stage (senior management) quality 
control check in addition to the primary 
quality control review

10% 75%

A&CF15 Proportion of recommended actions agreed 
by client management

90% 100%

A&CF16 Number of recommendations agreed that 
are:
a) not yet due
b) Implemented
c) Outstanding

N/A

19
82
11

A&CF17 Proportion of recommended actions 
implemented by agreed date

N/A 88.2%

A&CF18 Number of referrals received N/A 8

A&CF19 Number of investigations closed N/A 15

A&CF20 Value of fraud losses identified, by fraud 
type 
a) cashable (losses that can be recovered)

b) non-cashable (notional savings based on 
national estimates)

N/A

£5,476 (council tax) and £7,588 
NNDR
£98,900 – one council property 
recovered and one right to buy 
blocked.

A&CF21 Customer satisfaction with individual 
review/assignment

95% 100% positive 
(based on one response received 
during the reporting period) 

A&CF22 Customer satisfaction with overall service 95% Survey in development for issue 
during Q4.

Page 101



Page 14 of 22

Ref Indicator Target Outturn for report period

A&CF23 Member satisfaction with assurance 
provided (based on Chair of Audit 
Committee contribution to Appraisal of the 
Head of Audit & Counter Fraud role)

Positive Cllr Karen Hurdle provided the 
following comments for the HIACF 
mid-year review in September; 

James provides the Finance and 
Audit Committee with detailed 
updates and reports on the 
progress of the Audit and Counter 
Fraud Team.  He is readily able to 
answer questions from the 
committee and explain procedures 
and outcomes clearly.

I am sure that in his role as Head of 
the Audit and Counter Fraud Shared 
Service, James and the Team will 
continue to provide an excellent 
service to The council.

A&CF24 Statement of external audit Positive External Audit report by exception.
The Audit Plan for 2017-18 from 
Grant Thornton raises no concerns 
in relation to the work of internal 
audit. 

6. Review of Audit & Counter Fraud Plan
6.1 Monitoring of the delivery of planned work is built into the team’s processes with individual officer time 

recording data feeding into an automated performance monitoring workbook; this tracks the performance of 
the team against the shared service work-plan as a whole and enables the supervisory staff to plan and support 
officers to deliver their individual work plans.

6.2 As mentioned at paragraph 3.4, the most recent resource review projects a loss of approximately 75 days from 
the original budget of 660. Two amendments to the plan were agreed at the meeting of the Finance & Audit 
Committee in November, which account for 30 of those days. We would like to request one further 
amendment to the plan in order to address the gap that still exists.  

6.3 A review of the assurance work that is yet to commence was undertaken to identify any audits that could be 
removed without impacting on the ability to provide an annual opinion on the control environment. The 
proposed review of Grant payments was identified as the lowest risk and it is therefore proposed that this 
review be removed.  

7. Follow up of agreed recommendations
7.1 Where the work of the team finds opportunities to strengthen the council’s risk management, governance 

and/or control arrangements, the team make and agree recommendations for improvement with service 
managers.  The Standards require that a follow-up process is established: to monitor and ensure that 
management actions have been effectively implemented or that senior management has accepted the risk of 
not taking action. As with all audit work, resources should be prioritised based on risk.

Page 102



Page 15 of 22

7.2 It was agreed that service managers will be asked to provide an update on action taken towards implementing 
all recommendations agreed, but they will also be asked to supply evidence to confirm the action stated and 
the Audit & Counter Fraud Team will verify this. In addition, recommendations made as part of proactive and 
reactive counter fraud work will be incorporated into the follow up process to ensure action is taken to address 
fraud risks identified. The results of follow up are reported to the council’s Management Team on a quarterly 
basis.  

7.3 The first of the two tables below details the current position in relation to the follow up process and the second 
details recommendations that are now more than six months over their planned implementation date; along 
with an update from the relevant Service Manager/Assistant Director/Director.

Page 103



Page 16 of 22

Status of Agreed Recommendations

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
Planning 
Enforcement

Opinion: Amber
Seven recommendations agreed: three high, three medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations related to the publication of policy and guidance on the 
council’s website and the development of procedure notes for staff, improving 
arrangements to monitor planning conditions, prioritising investigations of reports 
received and introducing specific arrangements to ensure all staff declare any 
interests.

Seven recommendations due, seven 
implemented.

Section 106 
Agreements  & 
Other Planning 
Obligations  

Opinion: Amber
Five recommendations agreed: three high and two low priority. 
Recommendations related to improving consistency of Management Team reports 
requesting changes to the establishment, ensuring appropriate formal agreements 
are in place where external contracted staff are used, and ensuring the salaries 
budget and information held by HR/payroll are regularly reconciled.  

Five recommendations due, five implemented.

Homelessness Opinion: Green
Three recommendations agreed: Two medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations related to ensuring that the council’s homelessness strategy is 
up to date, ensuring that temporary accommodation placements are appropriately 
authorised, and setting a budget to monitor bed & breakfast expenditure.

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented. 

Private Housing 
Enforcement

Opinion: Amber
Three recommendations agreed: one high and two medium priority.
Recommendations related to appropriate records being maintained for PI15, the 
updating of the private housing enforcement policy and gaining understanding of 
whether Category two and non-urgent service requests are being handled in a 
timely manner.

Three recommendations due, two implemented.
One medium priority recommendation 
outstanding relating to the updating of the 
private housing enforcement policy.
See table below for management update, 
including revised implementation date.

Housing Rents Opinion: Amber 
Four recommendations agreed: two high and two medium priority. 
Recommendations related to discussions on the use of Enforcement Officers to 
recover former tenant arears; further measures to ensure that Direct Debits are 
collected in a timely manner; updating the procedure documents supporting the 
recovery of current and former tenant arrears; and, making details of the rent 
balance tracker available on the back of all rent arrears letters.

Four recommendations due, three implemented.
One high priority recommendation outstanding 
relating to discussions on the use of Enforcement 
Officers to recover former tenant arears.
See table below for management update, 
including revised implementation date

P
age 104



Page 17 of 22

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
Use of Council 
Vehicles

Opinion: Amber
Seven recommendations agreed: one high, one medium and five low priority. 
Recommendations related to a policy with a definition of acceptable use, 
monitoring of fuel, use of council vehicles by officers from shared services, 
monitoring of tracker data on fleet vehicles, recording of mileage incurred using 
lease pool vehicles and the cost effectiveness of lease pool vehicles.

Seven recommendations due, seven 
implemented. 

Risk Management 
Framework

Opinion: Amber
Three recommendations agreed: two medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations relate to ensuring that service risk registers are fully completed, 
ensuring roles and responsibilities are clear and ensuring an appropriate link 
between corporate and service level risk management processes. 
One medium priority recommendation rejected relating to staff guidance on the 
risk register template. 

Two recommendations due, two implemented.
Remaining recommendation due to be 
implemented by 31 March 2019. 

IT Security – User 
Access Controls 

Opinion: Amber
Four recommendations agreed: one high and three medium priority. 
Recommendations relate to completion of work required for the PSN connection, 
the updating and circulation of IT related policies, and ensuring that password re-
set options are activated. 

Four recommendations due, three implemented. 
One high priority recommendation outstanding 
relating to completion of work required for the 
PSN connection.

Legal & Contractual 
Advice

Opinion: Amber 
One medium priority recommendation agreed. 
Recommendation relates to creating a suite of KPIs; that include all necessary 
information, and a reporting schedule being agreed by senior management.

One recommendation due, none implemented.
One medium priority recommendation 
outstanding relating to creating a suite of KPIs; 
that include all necessary information, and a 
reporting schedule being agreed by senior 
management. 

NNDR Opinion: Green. 
One medium priority recommendation agreed.
Recommendation relates to consideration of data matching between council 
systems, data sharing between departments and ensuring compliance with the 
GDPR.

One recommendation due, none implemented.
One medium priority recommendation 
outstanding relating to consideration of data 
matching between council systems, data sharing 
between departments and ensuring compliance 
with the GDPR.

P
age 105



Page 18 of 22

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
Creditors Opinion: Amber. 

Six recommendations agreed; three high, two medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to appropriate staff being reminded of the need to raise 
purchase orders in relation to all purchases, Managers being reminded that 
invoices for goods and services should not be paid via petty cash, that petty cash 
claims should not be authorised by Managers who do not have appropriate 
authorisation or are above their limit, Managers not authorising their own or close 
relatives petty cash claims, float holders being reminded to include remaining 
balances on the information provided to Exchequer Services and Management 
Team considering the removal of petty cash and switching the processing of 
expenses through the HR SelfServe4You system.

Six recommendations due, five implemented.
One high priority recommendation outstanding 
relating to Management Team considering the 
removal of petty cash and switching the 
processing of expenses through the HR 
SelfServe4You system.

Business Continuity No Opinion Delivered – Consultancy Review
Four recommendations agreed; one high, two medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to the re-designing of BCP templates, a programme of 
learning for managers, the incorporation of an audit trail in the BCP for reviews 
and testing and the identification of key essential services.

Four recommendations due, three implemented. 
One high priority recommendation outstanding 
relating to a programme of learning for 
managers.

Housing Revenue 
Account Building 
Management – 
Compliancy

Opinion: Amber. 
Six recommendations agreed; two high, one medium and three low priority.
Recommendations relate to enhancement of processes for tackling access issues 
which prevent checks from being carried out, ensuring the electrical contract 
contains KPIs which are regularly monitored, investigating methods of ensuring 
safety compliance in leasehold properties, reviewing processes for budget 
monitoring, ensuring certificates are stored appropriately and streamlining 
processes for monitoring failed checks.

Six recommendations due, six implemented. 

P
age 106



Page 19 of 22

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
Void Property 
Management & Re-
let

Opinion: Amber.
Five recommendations agreed; two high and three medium priority.
Recommendations relate to the introduction of a Voids Policy which includes 
procedure notes, amending the tenancy handbook to include basic repairs that 
tenants are expected to complete, ensuring all recording methods are updated 
regularly to ensure records of every element of the process are correct, a review of 
the re-let process and refresher training for officers on use of the Locata system.

One recommendation implemented before audit 
finalised. Four recommendations due, one 
implemented.
Two high and one medium priority 
recommendations outstanding relating to the 
introduction of a Voids Policy which includes 
procedure notes, ensuring all recording methods 
are updated regularly to ensure records of every 
element of the process are correct and a review 
of the re-let process

Building Security Opinion: Amber. 
Five recommendations agreed; three high and two medium priority.
Recommendations relate to finalisation of the Security Policy, enhancement of 
arrangements for managing the Access Control System and enhancement of 
arrangements for managing temporary passes.

Four recommendations due, four implemented.
Remaining recommendation due to be 
implemented by 31 March 2019. 

Contact Centre 
Operations

Opinion: Green. 
Four recommendations agreed; three medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to aligning the period of the Customer Service and 
Access Strategy to that of the corporate plan, resuming the monitoring of webchat 
performance, Customer Services champions attending the team meetings of other 
services and a review of the main reception area as part of the strategy review.

Four recommendations due, three implemented.
One medium priority recommendation 
outstanding relating to a review of the main 
reception area as part of the strategy review.

NNDR Recovery Opinion: Green.
Two low priority recommendations agreed.
Recommendations relate to the scheduled monitoring of cases with the 
Enforcement Agency and reminder notices to be issued in line with Gravesham’s 
Corporate Fair Debt Policy.

Two recommendations due, two implemented.

Procurement 
Compliance

Opinion: Green.
One low priority recommendation agreed.
Recommendation relates to customer satisfaction surveys being completed for all 
relevant contracts.

One recommendation due, one implemented.

P
age 107



Page 20 of 22

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
Rent Deposit 
Scheme

Opinion: Red.
Thirteen recommendations agreed, seven high and six medium priority.
Recommendations relate to ensuring loan applications  are appropriately assessed, 
authorised and consistently distributed, unsuccessful applicants being advised of 
the reason why, agreement forms being clearer to tenants and updated for 
landlords, appropriate certificates being obtained from landlords, reconciliation 
between Housing records and the General Ledger, training for Housing Needs 
Officers, verification of payment information for Letting Agencies, ensuring 
invoices are raised for all loans granted, deposit loans being held in appropriate 
scheme’s with the councils interest registered and the monitoring of loans.

Thirteen recommendations due, thirteen 
implemented. 

Residents Parking 
Permits

Opinion: Amber.
Seven recommendations agreed, two high, three medium and two low priority.
Recommendations relate to deterring permit misuse through an improved 
declaration by the applicant and a means for the public to report misuse concerns. 
Improvements relating to the recording, retaining of information and decision 
making. A consistent approach by recording Zones on visitor permits. Income 
reconciliation to provide assurance permit income is accounted for.

Four recommendations implemented before 
audit finalised. Two recommendations due, two 
implemented. 
Remaining recommendation due to be 
implemented by 31 March 2019. 

Performance 
Management 
Framework

Opinion: Green.
Three low priority recommendations agreed.
Recommendations relate to an elected Member training document being devised, 
the Data Quality Policy being updated regarding point 5.8 and Appendix 4 and 
documented agreement from the relevant Portfolio holder being obtained for all 
targets. 

Two recommendations due, two implemented.
Remaining recommendation due to be 
implemented by 30 June 2019.

Bad Debt Provision Opinion: Amber.
Three recommendations agreed, one medium and two low priority.
Recommendations relate to ensuring all elements of debt within the council are 
considered, producing written notes on the methodologies being used and 
checking data used in calculation is accurate.

No recommendations due before 31 December

P
age 108



Page 21 of 22

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
Establishment 
Management

Opinion: Amber.
Five recommendations agreed, one high, three medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to ensuring consistent information is provided for all 
requests to make changes to the establishment, ensuring that HR implications are 
formally considered for each change, preparing a policy or procedure note setting 
out the process for making changes to the establishment, reviewing forms used to 
make changes to the establishment on Resource Link and carrying out periodic 
reconciliations between the establishment list and salaries budget.

No recommendations due before 31 December

Recommendations still outstanding more than six months after scheduled implementation date

Directorate Audit & 
Counter Fraud 

Review title

Recommendation Priority Planned 
Implementation 

Date

Management Update

Housing & 
Regeneration

Private 
Housing 
Enforcement

The Private Housing 
Enforcement policy should be 
reviewed and updated in line 
with the Housing and Planning 
Act.

Medium 31 Dec 17 Resource has been directed towards the revised 
Homelessness strategy and as such, work to address this 
recommendation is ongoing. The associated charging 
policy is currently under review.
Revised implementation date 30 September 2019

Housing & 
Regeneration
(Corporate 
Services)

Housing Rents The appointment of a 
Corporate Enforcement Agent 
should be further progressed 
to allow for the timely 
recovery of former tenant 
arrears.

High 31 May 2018 The council has been notified that the framework 
agreement it was considering has been closed.  It is 
understood to be the intention of the Yorkshire Purchasing 
Organisation to establish a new debt recovery framework 
which will include enforcement agency services, though 
this may not be in place until Autumn 2019.  The council 
has expressed an interest in receiving information on any 
new framework and are now investigating if other 
frameworks have been established.  Once further 
information is known, the PID will be finalised and 
presented to Management Team. 
Revised implementation date 31 December 2019.

P
age 109



Page 22 of 22

Definitions of audit opinions & Recommendation 
Priorities

Green – Risk 
management operates 
effectively and 
objectives are being 
met 

Expected controls are in place and effective to ensure risks are well 
managed and the service objectives are being met. Any errors 
found are minor or the occurrence of errors is considered to be 
isolated. Recommendations made are considered to be 
opportunities to enhance existing arrangements.

Amber – Key risks are 
being managed to 
enable the key 
objectives to be met 

Expected key or compensating controls are in place and generally 
complied with ensuring significant risks are adequately managed 
and the service area meets its key objectives. Instances of failure 
to comply with controls or errors / omissions have been identified. 
Improvements to the control process or compliance with controls 
have been identified and recommendations have been made to 
improve this.

Red – Risk management 
arrangements require 
improvement to ensure 
objectives can be met 

The overall control process is weak with one or more expected key 
control(s) or compensating control(s) absent or there is evidence 
of significant non-compliance.  Risk management is not considered 
to be effective and the service risks failing to meet its objectives, 
significant loss/error, fraud/impropriety or damage to reputation.  
Recommendations have been made to introduce new controls, 
improve compliance with existing controls or improve the 
efficiency of operations.

High The findings indicate a fundamental weakness in control that leaves the 
council exposed to significant risk. The recommended action addresses 
the weakness identified; to mitigate the risk exposure and enable the 
achievement of key objectives. Management should address the 
recommendation as a matter of urgency. 

Medium The findings indicate a weakness in control, or lack of compliance with 
existing controls, that leaves the system open to risk, although it is not 
critical to the achievement of objectives. Management should address the 
recommendation within a reasonable timeframe.

Low The findings have identified an opportunity to enhance the efficiency or 
effectiveness of the system/control environment. Management should 
address the recommendation as resources allow. 

Page 110



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 18 February 2018

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: Audit & Counter Fraud Strategy Review 

Purpose and summary of report: 
This report provides an update on progress against the Audit & Counter Fraud Strategy 
2016-2020 made by the team during 2018-19 to date. 

Recommendations:
1. Members note the progress made by the Audit & Counter Fraud Team towards 

delivering its strategic objectives during the 2018-19 year to date.
1. Background

1.1 The Finance & Audit Committee approved the Audit & Counter Fraud Strategy 
2016-2020 on 22 March 2016. The Strategy was prepared to set out a clear vision 
and set of objectives for the development of the Shared Service over its first four 
years. The Strategy reflects that the formation of the Audit & Counter Fraud 
Shared Service with Medway was not solely driven by the requirement to reduce 
costs, but also aspired to deliver increased resilience, flexibility and efficiency and 
ultimately improve the services received by both authorities through shared 
learning and investment in staff.

2. Review of progress against the Audit & Counter Fraud Strategy 2016-2020

2.1 The Strategy sets out three strategic objectives:

 Aligned priorities: Ensuring the team’s work is focussed on the areas of 
most importance to the organisation, ensuring the results of our work are 
balanced, pragmatic and emphasise positive findings alongside areas for 
improvement, and ensuring our performance measurement arrangements 
are focussed on those areas most valued by the organisation,

 Effective staff:  Developing the team into a flexible, resilient and 
multidisciplinary service, providing development opportunities and 
supporting professional and skills training to ensure staff are motivated 
and productive.

 Positive impact: Building strong, positive working relationships with officers 
and Members, raising the profile of the service so the team’s skills and 
resources are used to support the organisation in key projects, and 

Page 111 Agenda Item 8



2

producing high quality reports promptly following our work to maximise the 
positive impact of the work we do.

2.2 A review of this strategy and of action carried out to date against these objectives 
has been carried out. The Strategy is considered to remain appropriate and there 
are no changes proposed to the objectives.

2.3 Good progress is considered to have been made in relation to the objectives for 
aligned priorities and positive impact, with positive feedback from services in 
relation to individual audit reviews and the profile of the service improving with 
increased requests for consultancy advice and investigative assistance. The 
sickness within the service has impacted on staff ability to undertake professional 
qualification training, meaning the drive for multi-disciplinary working has been 
affected but in-house training at team meetings has continued throughout the 
year.

2.4 Members are provided with details of the actions carried out to date along with 
those planned for the coming year at Appendix 2.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 Nil

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 112



3

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible 
for establishing the internal audit service.  Gravesham Borough Council has 
delegated this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver 
internal audit services through the Shared Service to both authorities. The Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards are supported by CIPFA’s Local Government 
Application Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards

Finance and Value 
for Money 

An adequate and effective Audit & Counter Fraud function provides the council with 
assurance on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources 
in delivery of services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have 
an adverse effect on the financial statements of the council.

Risk Assessment The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require that: The chief audit executive 
must establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of the internal audit 
activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals. The Audit & Counter Fraud 
Strategy is intended to ensure that the service continues to develop in line with the 
aspirations of those charged with governance at Medway Council and Gravesham 
Borough Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 113

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Business Plan but is particularly relevant to 
Objective 4: Sound & self-sufficient council. 

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

No implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 114



Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council

Audit & Counter Fraud 
Strategy

2016-2020

Review of Progress 
December 2018

Page 115



Page 2 of 7

I. Introduction
The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service was established on 1 March 2016 to provide internal 
audit, counter fraud and investigation services to Medway Council and Gravesham Borough Council.  
The Audit & Counter Fraud Charter sets out our purpose, authority and responsibilities to deliver 
these services to both authorities.  Our Strategy supports the Charter and provides a framework to 
ensure our work is aligned to the priorities and values of both Medway and Gravesham councils.  

This strategy will be delivered through Annual Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Plans prepared for 
each authority, setting out the annual programme of work and available resources for each.  Our 
Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme (QAIP) will support the service in embedding a culture 
of continuous improvement, and help demonstrate the quality and performance of the service to 
both authorities.

The Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA) defines internal auditing as: an independent, 
objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s 
operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined 
approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance 
processes.  The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service combines this role with working alongside the 
councils to manage their fraud risk, including work to prevent, detect and investigate fraudulent 
activity committed against the councils.  

II. Our mission & vision 

We will adopt the mission statement of internal audit of the Chartered Institute of Internal Audit 
(CIIA) for all aspects of our work:  To enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based 
and objective assurance, advice and insight.

Our vision is to deliver high quality assurance, consultancy and counter fraud work to help ensure the 
authorities meet their objectives. We will act as a catalyst for driving positive change, promoting 
improvement, learning & innovation so that we can truly add value. By investing in our staff and 
working to raise our profile, we aim to become the default respected advisor and critical friend at the 
heart of Medway Council and Gravesham Borough Council.

Page 116



III. Our strategic objectives & progress to date
We have three core strategic objectives for the first four years of the Shared Service to drive us towards achieving our mission & vision: 

Objective Progress in 2017-18 to date

Aligned priorities
Our strategies & work plans will be developed and 
reviewed in consultation with key clients to ensure 
they are closely aligned to the core objectives and 
risks of the authorities. 

The process to develop the Audit & Counter Fraud Plans for both councils in the 
shared service for 2019-20 has commenced and will be based on the organisation’s 
priorities and risk assessments and will include consultation with key clients. The 
process includes:

 Review of the strategies and plans of the organisations;
 Review of the risk management arrangements and risk registers of the 

organisations;
 Review of the budgets and financial monitoring / outturns of both 

organisations;
 Assurance mapping to rely on the work of other providers of assurance to 

the organisations, to avoid duplication of work;
 A horizon scanning exercise to identify any significant legislative or other 

external risks;
 Preparation of detailed risk assessments to determine the areas where 

assurance is required;
 Providing services and senior management of the organisations with the 

opportunity to identify where they feel their risks lay
 Providing services and senior management of the organisations with the 

opportunity to validate the areas of focus for Audit & Counter Fraud 
resources;

 Presentation of the draft plans to the senior management and Audit 
Committees of both authorities for endorsement and approval. 

P
age 117



Page 4 of 7

Our work will be scheduled and the scope defined in 
consultation with key clients to ensure we focus on 
the right areas. 

Service Managers are consulted during the planning process to determine the most 
suitable time to schedule assurance reviews. Based on survey feedback regarding 
notice received for audits to commence, the work plan will be re-issued to Service 
Managers on a quarterly basis to ensure they are aware of any planned reviews in 
their areas for the coming quarter. 

The scope of all assurance and consultancy engagements the team carry out is 
developed in consultation with the key client to ensure we focus on the right risk 
areas. 

We will take a balanced and pragmatic approach to 
our work and our reports will emphasise positive 
findings alongside areas for improvement. 

We continue to invite services to present at our team meetings to ensure that the 
team are aware of wider issues and gain better understanding of the challenges that 
clients may be manging as part of their normal workload.

Team members liaise with clients face to face or by telephone wherever possible 
rather than via email to increase the teams visibility and maintain closer working 
relationships with service users.

A process for the follow up of recommendations is now in place. At the end of each 
month and Audit & Counter Fraud Team leader will contact officers responsible for 
the implementation of recommendations that have reached their due date. 
Confirmation of implementation is sought and in the case of high priority 
recommendations, evidence is also obtained. If the recommendations have not been 
implemented an update is sought in relation to any progress made. 

On a quarterly basis a report is issued to the Management Teams at each of the 
organisations to provide Directors and the Chief Executive with an update on 
progress against all recommendations.

The outcomes of this follow up work are detailed in the Audit & Counter Fraud 
Update Reports to Audit Committee; this ensures that positive action taken by 
management to address any weaknesses identified by our work is highlighted to 
Members and provides assurance that management are strengthening the council’s 
control environment as a result of our work. 

Any recommendations that are still outstanding more than six months after their 
agreed implementation date are now specifically identified to Members as they will 
have been through the Management Team Reporting cycle on at least two occasions.

P
age 118



Page 5 of 7

Our performance measurement and monitoring 
arrangements will be focussed on the aspects of the 
service most valued by senior management and the 
Audit Committees of the both authorities. 

Our performance measurement and monitoring arrangements have been formally 
defined in the Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme (QAIP) that has been 
endorsed by senior management and the Audit Committee. 

The QAIP has been subject to annual review and amended to provide better quality 
statistical information that has been identified over the course of the year. These 
enhancements are driven through feedback received from Members.   

Effective staff
We will develop our team into a multidisciplinary 
service, delivering increased flexibility to meet the 
changing needs of the organisations, resilience and 
succession planning, and development opportunities 
for staff. 

The first year of the shared service was used to introduce staff to the disciplines that 
were new to them and in year two all team members were starting to carry out 
duties in both the audit & counter fraud disciplines.

Unfortunately sickness within the team during years two and three has impacted on 
the ability for staff to properly develop their skills, particularly those that were new 
to investigations. 

The available resource has been directed towards delivery of the audit plan, meaning 
that officers have spent less time with their new discipline and instead have focused 
their existing skills and knowledge towards ensuring the plan is delivered, with 
targets adjusted accordingly. 

We will employ and develop a strong mix of people 
with different skills, technical expertise and we will 
match those people to the work plans to make the 
best use of our staff.  

Following approval of the 2018-19 workplans, individual assurance reviews were 
allocated to officers based upon a mixture of their existing skills and experiences and 
areas where they were less familiar in order to provide them with more challenge 
and increase their experience. 

The work plans for 2019-20 will see further rotation to increase the knowledge base 
amongst the team and provide greater resilience rather than having certain officers 
specialising in individual areas, although this will still take into account their 
particular skill sets. 

We are committed to investing in staff development 
through training and other opportunities and will 
support professional qualification training and 
continuing professional development across the 
service. 

All team members agreed personal learning and development objectives through the 
council’s Personal Development Review process, and all staff are encouraged and 
supported to do professional qualification training and to attend non-professional 
training and development as identified through their one to ones. 

The team has continued bi-monthly team away days that focus on sharing knowledge 
and skills with training also delivered by team members to the rest of the team at 

P
age 119



Page 6 of 7

every meeting. In addition, officers from other services are invited to present at team 
meetings to increase the knowledge of the wider organisation. 

A total of 73 days has been spent on training and development in the 2018-19 year to 
date.

We will be a great place to work with a motivated, 
productive and aspirational workforce.  

All members of the team had one to one meetings with the new Head of Audit & 
Counter Fraud in late 2017 to seek their views on what improvements could be made 
to the team, its structure and operational approach. Following the feedback a mini 
restructure was undertaken in January 2018, which led to an increased resource at a 
reduced cost. 

One to one meetings have taken place again in November 2018, with further new 
approaches discussed and plans to trial new ways of working in 2019-20. 

The introduction of new IT in the form of Surface Pro’s has increased efficiency as 
officers now use them at all meetings. It has also had a positive impact on morale 
due to a significant reduction in the IT issues associated with the laptops used 
previously.  

Positive impact
We will build strong, positive professional 
relationships with key clients and Members across 
both authorities and engage them in the 
development of our strategies and work plans. 

All team members continue to have an objective in their Performance Development 
Reviews to: Contribute to the raising of the profile/impact of the team; by being 
proactive in building good working relationships with clients, achieving positive 
customer feedback / satisfaction scores where applicable and being a positive 
ambassador for the team and the services we can provide to the councils. 

Communication with all clients has increased and the closer working relationships 
ensure that the scope of the work undertaken during the course of assurance 
reviews is more accurate. The improved communication also means that the process 
of reviews runs more smoothly.

Work to identify and liaise with services that may be vulnerable to fraud continues 
with counter fraud reviews being conducted to assist in improving the councils 
resilience to instances of fraud.

We will raise the profile of the work of the service to 
ensure senior management and Members are aware 

The work to further increase the teams profile within the council has continued with 
attendance at a number of team meetings in other services having taken place, or 

P
age 120



Page 7 of 7

of the responsive consultancy and investigation 
services we can provide. 

scheduled to take place in the future, for fraud awareness talks to other services. A 
fraud awareness presentation was also delivered at a Service Managers meeting.

We continue to be the first point of contact for responsive assurance and 
investigation in respect of thefts that have occurred and are now regularly contacted 
by HR to provide investigative services in respect of disciplinary matters. 

Plans for 2019-20 include further awareness sessions and counter fraud assurance 
reviews.

We will seek to be involved in key projects and 
working groups at both authorities to provide 
assistance on governance, risk and control and also to 
promote our work and the services we can provide to 
a wider audience. 

Representatives from the team remain involved in a variety working groups at both 
councils including the Security Information Governance Group (Medway) and 
Information Governance Group (GBC). 

 

We will share our outputs promptly with clients and 
Audit Committees through high quality reports to 
maximise the positive impact of our work. 

The processes for assurance reviews are under constant review and amended when 
efficiencies are identified. The improvements to IT have already seen a number of 
audit reports issued to clients more promptly. 

Outputs are monitored by the Audit & Counter Fraud management team and all 
officers have specific targets for the completion of reviews within set timescales.

The format of Committee reports has been updated based upon feedback and now 
includes further information in relation to recommendations and specifically 
highlights any recommendations that are still outstanding more than six months after 
their agreed implementation dates.

P
age 121



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 18 February 2018

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: Audit & Counter Fraud QAIP Review

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present for approval the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Programme. 

Recommendations:
1. Members approve the QAIP presented at Appendix 2 for use in 2019-20.

1. Background

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (Standards) require that: The chief 
audit executive must develop and maintain a quality assurance and improvement 
programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity. On 09 January 
2018, the Audit Committee approved the Quality Assurance & Improvement 
Programme (QAIP) prepared to meet this requirement.

2. Review of the QAIP

2.1 The QAIP was prepared to reflect both the integration of counter fraud and the 
shared service with Gravesham Borough Council and was designed to meet the 
requirements of the Standards and CIPFA’s Local Government Application Note 
to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

2.2 The QAIP has been reviewed and is considered to continue to meet these 
requirements and will therefore continue to be in place for the coming financial 
year with three minor amendments proposed;

 Reference to the Audit & Counter Fraud Manager has been removed from 
the QAIP as the post has now been deleted,

 PM11a has been inserted to provide details of the level of time devoted to 
the Single Point of Contact (SPOC) duties associated with the 
requirements to provide benefit information to the Single Fraud 
Investigation Service. In previous years this time has been recorded under 
the pro-active and reactive counter fraud activity at PM11 but as it does 
not link directly to the counter fraud work the service delivers for the 
council, it is felt that this should be recorded separately.

Page 123 Agenda Item 9



2

 PM20 value of fraud losses identified – a third category has been added to 
reflect prevented losses associated with applications that have been 
blocked as a result of fraud intervention. As an example, this would relate 
to Right to Buys that have not been actioned.

2.3 A copy of the QAIP can be found at Appendix 2.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 Nil

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 124



3

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible 
for establishing the internal audit service.  Gravesham Borough Council has 
delegated this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver 
internal audit services through the Shared Service to both authorities. The Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards are supported by CIPFA’s Local Government 
Application Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards

Finance and Value 
for Money 

An adequate and effective Audit & Counter Fraud function provides the council with 
assurance on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources 
in delivery of services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have 
an adverse effect on the financial statements of the council.

Risk Assessment The chief audit executive must develop and maintain a quality assurance and 
improvement programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity. A 
Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme (QAIP) has been prepared to meet 
this requirement.  The QAIP is intended to ensure that the service is developed in 
line with the aspirations of those charged with governance at Medway Council and 
Gravesham Borough Council.  

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 125

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Business Plan but is particularly relevant to 
Objective 4: Sound & self-sufficient council. 

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

The council’s performance management framework includes the publication of the 
outturns against the Performance Measures and Indicators in the Corporate 
Business Plan. The proportion of recommendations made by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team that are implemented by Management is one of the council’s overall 
Performance Indicators (PI141) and is therefore reported to the public via the 
council’s Annual Report published on the council’s website. 

The Local Government Transparency Code requires the publication of data relating 
to Fraud Investigation; this is published in line with the requirements on the 
council’s website.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 126



Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council

Audit & Counter Fraud 
Quality Assurance & 

Improvement Programme
2018-19

Page 127



Page 2 of 7

I. INTRODUCTION..................................................................................................................3

II. SUPERVISION & QUALITY MANAGEMENT ........................................................................3

III. INTERNAL ASSESSMENTS ....................................................................................................4

IV. EXTERNAL ASSESSMENTS ...................................................................................................4

V. PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT & MONITORING...........................................................4

VI. REPORTING.........................................................................................................................7

Page 128



Page 3 of 7

I. Introduction
The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Charter sets out that the delivery of internal audit services 
will be in line with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards), with the delivery of 
counter-fraud and investigation services in line with relevant legislation and best practice.  The 
Standards require the Service to develop and maintain a quality assurance and improvement 
programme (QAIP) that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity: A QAIP is designed to enable 
an evaluation of the internal audit activity’s conformance with the Definition of Internal Auditing and 
the Standards and an evaluation of whether internal auditors apply the Code of Ethics.  The 
programme also assesses the efficiency and effectiveness of the internal audit activity and identifies 
opportunities for improvement. The Standards require the QAIP to include both internal and external 
assessments.  

This QAIP is intended to cover the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for both the delivery of 
internal audit and counter fraud work wherever appropriate and to drive continuous improvement in 
the delivery of the service as a whole.  For the purposes of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
(PSIAS) the board is defined as the Audit Committee for Medway Council and the Finance & Audit 
Committee for Gravesham Borough Council.  Senior Management is defined as the Corporate 
Management Team for Medway Council and the Management Team for Gravesham Borough 
Council.  

II. Supervision & quality management 
The Audit & Counter Fraud Service is structured to ensure that all officers are appropriately 
supervised and supported to deliver their work.  Robust quality control arrangements are built into 
every stage of the process of planning and conducting audit and counter fraud work to ensure that 
the service delivers consistent and high quality outputs to both authorities:

 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service works to an agreed process, developed in 
consultation with officers that includes the best elements from the previously separate 
teams. This process is delivered through standard template documents and is supported by a 
procedure manual. The process, templates and manual are all subject to periodic review. 

 Routine supervision checks and one to ones are in place to support officers in the planning 
and delivery of all work.  The ‘matrix’ structure of the service ensures that officers working at 
either site have a member of Audit & Counter Fraud management team on hand to provide 
ad-hoc support and supervision.

 Quality control arrangements are in place for the supervising officer to review and sign off 
the Terms of Reference of each piece prior to issue to the client, and for agreement of the 
programme of work to be completed in advance of the fieldwork beginning. 

 Following the completion of each audit or counter-fraud review, the officer conducting the 
review carries out a self-assessment against the Standards based on a checklist developed 
for this purpose. 

 Each completed audit or counter-fraud review has a detailed quality control review 
conducted by the senior officer responsible for supervising the review. This review seeks to 
confirm that:

o The objectives and scope of the review have been met, 
o The right risks and controls (including those absent) have been identified, 
o Audit testing methodologies and samples are sufficient to reach reasonable 

conclusions,
o Sufficient evidence has been collated to support the conclusions drawn, and 

conclusions drawn are soundly based,
o Recommendations made are practical and address the weaknesses identified,

Page 129



Page 4 of 7

o No independence issues have arisen from the work carried out,
o Work completed is in compliance with the Standards, 
o Agreed review budgets and timescales have been met. 

 All final reports are reviewed by the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud prior to issue to the 
client.  

 Ten percent of all audit and counter fraud reviews completed are subject to an additional 
quality control review by a member of the Audit & Counter Fraud management team, 
independent of the conduct of the initial quality review conducted. This review ensures 
consistency among the reviewers and these checks may be directed to the most complex or 
potentially contentious areas of work.  

III. Internal assessments 
On an annual basis, the Audit & Counter Fraud management team conducts a self-assessment of the 
compliance of the service with the Chartered Institute of Internal Audit (CIIA) definition of internal 
auditing, code of ethics and the Standards.   Any areas of non-compliance are identified and a plan 
for addressing these is implemented.

Results of the Internal Assessment will be shared with the wider Audit & Counter Fraud Team and 
reported to senior management and the Audit Committees of both authorities. 

IV. External assessments
The Standards require an external assessment to be carried out at least once every five years by a 
qualified assessor or assessment team from outside the organisation.  This assessor should be 
independent to avoid any conflict of interest.  The scope of this assessment will be agreed with the 
Section 151 Officers of both authorities as sponsors of the Shared Service. 

The Chartered Institute for Internal Auditors (CIIA) have developed a QAIP Procedure and Evaluation 
document that will be used in advance of the external assessment to prepare the management team 
for the assessment process and results. 

The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service proposes to schedule its first external assessment in the 
financial year 2017-18 to enable the service to establish and refine working practices and procedures 
in advance.  The approach, including who will conduct this external assessment, will be agreed by the 
Head of Audit & Counter Fraud, S151 Officers and Audit Committees of both authorities.

V. Performance measurement & monitoring 
The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service has arrangements in place to capture performance data 
across the delivery of all aspects of work.  Performance measurement is based on the balanced 
scorecard approach to ensure all aspects of the team’s activities are monitored and reported 
appropriately, covering four perspectives: 

 Financial – measuring the cost of the service,
 Internal process – measuring how the service is delivered,
 Learning & growth – measuring how the service supports and develops staff,
 Customer – measuring customer engagement & satisfaction. 

The service measures, monitors and reports against the performance indicators set out in the table 
on page 6 through the quarterly Audit Committee Update reports. 

Page 130



Page 5 of 7

It is not appropriate to set targets for some indicators listed as the returns against these will be for 
information only and the service has no or limited control over the results, for instance the number 
of fraud referrals received by the team.  

Page 131



Page 6 of 7

Ref Indicator Target Frequency

Non LA Specific Performance Measurements 

PM1 Cost of the Audit & Counter Fraud Service 
a) Total Cost
b) LA Share

N/A Quarterly

PM2 Cost per A&CF day £400 Quarterly
PM3 Proportion of staff with relevant professional qualification:

a) Relevant audit qualification
b) Relevant counter fraud qualification

75% Quarterly

PM4 Proportion of non-qualified staff undertaking professional 
qualification training  

25% Quarterly

PM5 Time spent on CPD/non-professional qualification training, 
learning & development

70 days Quarterly

PM6 Compliance with PSIAS 100% Quarterly
PM7 Staff turnover N/A Quarterly

LA Specific Performance Measurements 

PM8 Average cost per assurance review £5,000  Quarterly
PM9 Proportion of available resources spent on productive work 90% Quarterly
PM10 Proportion of productive time* spent on:

a) assurance work
b) consultancy work
*After removal of time on SPOC duties

65% Quarterly

PM11 Proportion of productive time* spent on: 
a) proactive counter fraud work 
b) reactive counter fraud work 
*After removal of time on SPOC duties

35% Quarterly

PM11a Number of days spent on SPOC associated duties N/A Quarterly
PM12 Proportion of agreed assurance assignments:

a) Delivered
b) Underway

95% Quarterly

PM13 Proportion of assignments completed within allocated day 
budget

90% Quarterly

PM14 Proportion of completed reviews subject to a second stage 
(senior management) quality control check in addition to the 
primary quality control review

10% Quarterly

PM15 Proportion of recommended actions agreed by client 
management

90% Quarterly

PM16 Number of recommendations agreed that are:
a) not yet due
b) Implemented
c) Outstanding

N/A Quarterly

PM17 Proportion of recommended actions implemented by agreed 
date

N/A Quarterly

PM18 Number of referrals received N/A Quarterly

Page 132



Page 7 of 7

Ref Indicator Target Frequency

PM19 Number of investigations closed N/A Quarterly
PM20 Value of fraud losses identified: 

a) cashable (losses that can be recovered)
b) non-cashable (notional savings based on national estimates)
c) Prevented Losses (Savings associated with blocked 

applications)

N/A Quarterly

PM21 Customer satisfaction with individual review/assignment 95% Quarterly
PM22 Customer satisfaction with overall service 95% Quarterly
PM23 Member satisfaction with assurance provided (based on Chair of 

Audit Committee contribution to Appraisal of the Head of Audit 
& Counter Fraud role

Positive Quarterly

PM24 Opinion of external audit Positive Quarterly

VI. Reporting 
Quarterly update reports are prepared and presented to senior management and the Audit 
Committees of both authorities, providing details of the findings made by the team in delivering 
agreed work plans, and performance against the indicator suite according to the timescales set out in 
the table above. 

An Annual Report is prepared and presented to senior management and the Audit Committees of 
both authorities, to provide:

  A summary of how the team’s resources have been used, 
  A summary of the findings of the work of the service in the year, 
  The opinion of the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud on the effectiveness of the overall control 

environment of each authority, 
  A summary of the team’s performance against the indicator suite outlined above,
 The results of any internal and external assessments against the Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards along with action plans for any gaps identified,
 Any other opportunities for improvement identified through the results of this QAIP. 

This QAIP is subject to an annual review with the results presented to senior management and the 
Audit Committees of both authorities for approval.

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 18 February 2019

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Development of the Corporate Risk Register for 2019-2020

Purpose and summary of report: 
This report presents the outcome of the annual risk identification and analysis exercise that 
has been carried out to assist in the development of Gravesham Borough Council's 
Corporate Risk Register for 2019-2020.  

The report also considers the review of the Corporate Risk Management Strategy which has 
resulted in updates being made to the strategy that reflect recommendations made by 
Members and Internal Audit. 

Recommendations:
1. Finance & Audit Committee are requested to endorse the changes/updates made to 

the Corporate Risk Management Strategy, prior to it being presented to Cabinet for 
approval.

2. Finance & Audit Committee are requested to review the draft version of the Corporate 
Risk Register that has been developed for 2019-20, prior to it being presented to 
Cabinet for approval.

1. Introduction and Background

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council pursues a forward-looking and dynamic approach to 
delivering services to the local community and in doing so, the council is exposed to 
risk both in terms of threats and loss of opportunities.  The council recognises that 
risks are inevitable and, in practice, cannot be entirely avoided.  Resultantly, the 
council will tolerate a certain degree of risk when pursuing objectives, executing 
strategies and delivering services.  

1.2 Responsibility for risk management runs throughout the council and specific roles 
and responsibilities have been identified so that risk management is embedded in the 
culture of the council.  Finance & Audit Committee have responsibility for monitoring 
the effective development and operation of risk management through:

 Reviewing any changes that have been made to the Risk Management 
Strategy, prior to presentation to Cabinet for approval.

Page 135 Agenda Item 10



2

 Reviewing the annual Corporate Risk Register, prior to presentation to 
Cabinet for approval.

 Considering progress made during the year, in managing or mitigating 
risks contained within the Corporate Risk Register.

 Identifying potential risks for inclusion in the annual Corporate Risk 
Register.

2.         Risk Management Strategy 2019-2020

2.1 The Risk Management Strategy sets out the approach that has been adopted by the 
council for identifying, evaluating, managing and recording risks to which it is 
exposed.  The primary intention of the strategy is to ensure that risk management is 
embedded into the daily operations of the council. The strategy recognises that good 
risk management will lead to good management, good performance, good 
stewardship of public money, good public engagement and ultimately, good 
outcomes for citizens and service users. 

2.2 In March 2011, it was agreed by Cabinet that the Risk Management Strategy would 
be reviewed on an annual basis and, where necessary, presented to Cabinet for 
approval if it was subject to updates and amendments resulting in material changes 
to the strategy. 

2.3 The Risk Management Strategy has been reviewed and the following amendments 
made:

 The term ‘Marginal’ used in the Risk Matrix adopted by the council has been 
changed to ‘Significant’ and the definition of this risk revised as a 
consequence to clarify terms used, as proposed by a Member of the Finance 
and Audit Committee in April 2018.

 The role of Service Managers in risk management as set out in the table at 
Appendix III of the Strategy has been updated to reflect that these officers will 
identify both corporate and operational risks.  This update was in response to 
an Internal Audit recommendation.

 
2.4 The updated Risk Management Strategy is presented at Appendix II and will be 

presented to Cabinet for approval.

3. Draft Corporate Risk Register 2019-2020

3.1 In preparing the draft copy of the Corporate Risk Register for 2019-2020, 
Management Team, Senior Officers and Members were contacted and requested to 
provide details of; 

 Existing risks recorded in the 2018-2019 Corporate Risk Register that have 
generated a risk High risk score and therefore will be carried forward. Existing 
risks include:

 Ongoing financial viability of the Council 
 Changes in national priorities and legislative change  
 Organisational capacity/ resilience
 Business Rates Retention Scheme 
 Implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 

Page 136



3

 Universal Credit
 General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR)

 Any new risks that should be analysed and considered for inclusion in the 
2019-2020 Corporate Risk Register. New risks that have been identified include:

 Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union
 Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data

3.2 A Risk Identification & Analysis Assessment can be found at Appendix III of this 
report. The document details all risks that have been considered when producing the 
draft 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register.

3.3 The outcome of the risk analysis exercise is summarised below:

 Ongoing financial viability of the Council 
The risk has been updated to incorporate the Business Rate Retention Scheme 
risk (previously risk 4) given its linkages to the Fair Funding Review. The score 
still remains high, therefore it will be carried forward to 2019- 2020.

 Changes in national priorities and legislative change  
There have been no major changes to this risk and the score still remains high, 
therefore it will be carried forward to 2019-2020

 Organisational capacity/ resilience
There have been no major changes to risk and the score still remains high, 
therefore it will be carried forward to 2019-2020

 Business Rates Retention Scheme 
Up to date details around this risk have been incorporated into Risk 1 - Ongoing 
financial viability of the Council; therefore it will not be carried forward to 2019-
2020 as a standalone risk

 Implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act & Universal Credit
A notion was raised by a Member during the mid-year review of corporate risks 
that the Implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act risk and the 
Universal Credit Risk be combined as it was believed that they were intrinsically 
link to each other in the risk to the council.  However, after assessment by 
officers it is considered that these risks both remain high in their own right and 
will therefore will be included in the 2019-20 register as separate risks. 

 General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR)
The risk has been reassessed and in light of the actions that the council has 
implemented during the past year, it has been found to now carry a low 
likelihood.  The risk will therefore not be included in the 2019-20 register; 
however it will continue to be monitored by the Information Governance Group 
which meets regularly and managed at departmental level.

 Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union
The risk had been put forward for consideration in previous years, though was 
not able to be fully assessed due to the level of information available at those 
times.  Having been considered for assessment again this year, the risk has 

Page 137



4

scored high and therefore will be included as a new risk in the 2019-2020 
Corporate Risk Register.

 Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data
When assessed last year, this risk generated a medium risk score and therefore 
was not added to the Corporate Risk Register for 2018-19, but was documented 
in the IT Services Risk Register and managed at departmental level.  The risk 
has been put forward for consideration again this year and has scored high and 
will therefore be included as a new risk in the 2019-2020 Corporate Risk 
Register.

3.4 Following completion of the risk identification and analysis exercise, the risks that 
have a “High Risk” score and will therefore be included in the 2019-2020 Corporate 
Risk Register, are listed below.  A draft copy of the register can be found at Appendix 
IV:  

 Risk 1: Ongoing financial viability of the Council 

Risk 2: Changes in national priorities and legislative change  

Risk 3: Organisational capacity/ resilience

Risk 4: Implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act

Risk 5: Universal Credit

Risk 6: Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union

Risk 7: Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data

4.    On-going monitoring of the Corporate Risk Register

4.1 Progress made against the actions in relation to each risk recorded in the Corporate 
Risk Register will be monitored quarterly and progress information will be presented 
via a half yearly report to Finance & Audit Committee

4.2 On presentation of the report, Finance and Audit committee will be responsible for 
ensuring that necessary action is being taken to mitigate risks and to make 
appropriate recommendations to Cabinet

5.    Background Papers

5.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report

5.2 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed 
to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 138



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal There is a specific risk within the Register which highlights the potential issues 
associated with proposed legislative changes that may affect the council moving 
forward.  Senior Management are being kept up to date with legislative change to 
ensure that they are able to be fully aware of potential changes proposed to assess 
how these may affect the council..

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no financial or value for money implications arising from the Corporate 
Risk Register itself.
‘Ongoing financial viability of the Cuncil’ is one of the key corporate risks identified 
within the Corporate Risk register and a specific assessment of this risk is included 
within appendix three.

Risk Assessment The regular review of strategic risks facing the council aids the council in managing 
risk effectively as a contribution to effective strategic decision-making.  It is 
important that the council’s approach to risk is reviewed on a regular basis by both 
officers and Members to ensure new risks are identified and action being taken to 
mitigate existing risks is effectiveT

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Good risk management is a key aspect of the council’s overall governance 
arrangements, which support the delivery of all objectives within the Corporate 
Business Plan 2015-19 but particularly Strategic Objective Four – Sound and Self 
Sufficient Council

Page 139

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


6

Crime and Disorder The risk of Crime and Disorder is considered in the annual review and development 
of the Corporate Risk Register

Digital and website 
implications

The Corporate Risk Strategy and Risk Register for 2019-20 will be placed on the 
website following Council approval

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 140



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2019-2020 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Risk Management Strategy 
2019-2020

Page 141



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2019-2020 

Gravesham Borough Council 
Risk Management Strategy 

2019-2020 
 
Introduction 
 
1.1 Gravesham Borough Council pursues a forward-looking and dynamic approach to 

delivering services to the local community, in doing so the authority is exposed to risk 
both in terms of threats and loss of opportunities. (The table in Appendix I provides a 
brief outline of the major elements of risk to which Gravesham Borough Council 
could potentially be exposed).  The authority recognises that risks are inevitable and, 
in practice, cannot be entirely avoided; therefore the council will tolerate a certain 
degree of risk when pursuing objectives, executing strategies and delivering 
services.   
 

1.2 The council will consider risk in most of its activities and decisions.  Reports to the 
council’s Management Team and Members require risks associated with the decision 
being taken to be considered.  The council’s project management approach also 
recognises the need to identify, manage and monitor risks as a contributing factor to 
effective project management. 

 
1.3 To ensure the council’s risk appetite remains reasonable and does not exceed 

acceptable levels the authority has adopted a prudential approach to risk taking, 
whereby decisions are made within the parameters of the council’s internal control 
arrangements as set out within the constitution. In addition, to help drive continuous 
improvement and promote good risk management practices, a Risk Management 
Strategy has been developed which supports the following key systems: 

 

 Corporate governance 

 Community focus 

 Structures and processes 

 Service delivery arrangements 

 Use of resources 

 Standards of conduct 
 
 

 

Page 142



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2019-2020 

2. The aims & objectives of the Risk Management Strategy 
 

2.1 The purpose of the risk management strategy is to embed risk management into the 
daily operations of the council. Good risk management will lead to good 
management, good performance, good stewardship of public money, good public 
engagement and, ultimately, good outcomes for citizens and service users.  

 
2.2 The aim of the Risk Management Strategy is to: 

 Ensure the security of Council assets 

 Ensure the safety and well-being of Members, employees and service users. 

 Safeguard the reputation and image of the organisation. 

 Prevent litigation and criminal prosecution. 

 Prevent corruption, fraud and financial losses. 

 Minimize the overall cost of risk to the organisation. 

 Protect the quality of service delivered. 

 Manage organisational, political and technological changes. 

 Ensure the integrity of the organisation. 

 Ensure sound ethical conduct and probity.  
 
 
2.3 The objectives of the Risk Management Strategy is to ensure officers and  
       Members: 

 Adopt a logical and systematic approach to identifying, analysing, evaluating, 
treating, and monitoring and reporting all risks, associated with any activity, 
objective, function or process within which they become involved. 

 Evaluate the consequence and likelihood of risks to measure their severity. 

 Utilise the Risk Management Process and structure to minimise losses and 
maximise opportunities. 

 Manage to a reasonable level, all types of risk to which the organisation is 
exposed including Environmental, Financial, Strategic and Operational. 

 Be actively involved in using the risk management process to evaluate risks 
associated with Corporate and Service objectives including risks involved in 
failing to achieve these objectives. 

 Maintain at all times safe, places of work, systems of work, equipment, materials 
for work, together with a safe and healthy working environment.  

 Keep all work activities under review by carrying out regular risk assessments, 
internal and external audits so as to identify all matters likely to affect the safety 
of members, employees, service users, Partners, visitors and others, as well as 
the effective and efficient running of organisational processes.  

 Participate with other bodies including the Council’s insurers to develop and 
share risk management best practice.  

 Implement policies, procedures, preventative and protective measures 
information and training for employees and others based on the outcome of such 
risk assessments / audits, as are necessary to adequately control risk. 

 

Page 143



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2019-2020 

3. The importance of Good Risk Management? 
 

3.1 Risk management is considered the central part of an organisations strategic 
management. A robust risk management process can help create a culture of 
“no surprises” by enabling risks attaching to an organisation’s activities to be 
proactively identified, evaluated and appropriately treated thereby increasing the 
probability of success, and reducing both the probability of failure and the uncertainty 
of achieving objectives. The benefits of good risk management can be seen in 
illustration I. 
 

3.2 A robust risk management process will help raise awareness and understanding of: 
 
• the nature and extent of the risks facing the organisation; 
• the extent and categories of risks that are regarded as acceptable  
• the likelihood and potential impact of risks materialising; 
• the ability to reduce the incidence of impact on the organisation of risks that do 

materialise; 
• the significance of regular and on-going monitoring and reporting of risks 

including implementation of early warning mechanisms; 
• the cost of operating particular controls relative to the benefit obtained in 

managing related risks;  
• the importance of conducting, an annual review of the internal control systems 

that are in place; 
• the results that are reported from the annual review as well as the explanation of 

actions to be taken to address any significant concerns identified. 
 
 

Page 144



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2019-2020 

Illustration I  
 
The Benefits of Good Risk Management 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

         

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          
 
 

         
 
 
 

Achieve benefits 
& exploit 

opportunities 
enabling 

innovation 

 
Adapt to 

changes in the 
market and 

customer needs 

 
Achieve and 
demonstrate 

good 
governance  

Avoid Impact of 
Failure 

(perceived or 
actual) 

Support Value 
for Money, 
project and 

performance 
management 

 
Comply with 

legal and 
regulatory 

requirements 

Manage 
partnerships, 

suppliers’ 
contractors and 

on-going 
services. 

 
Control 

acquisition or 
development of 
new services. 

 
Maintain Service 

Provision 
through 

Adversity 

 
Manage external 

changes in 
culture, political, 
environmental 

etc. 

 
Achieve 

objectives / 
deliver 

services 

Page 145



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2019-2020 

4. The Risk Management Process  
 

4.1 An annual strategic risk management exercise to identify, analyse and prioritise risks 
that may affect the ability of the council to achieve its objectives is conducted by the 
authority. There are a number of critical steps that are taken during the risk 
management exercise and these are as follows: 
 

4.2 Identifying risks 
 
Potential risks that may arise are identified by Members, Management Team, Wider 
Management Team and Service Managers, so that informed decisions can be made 
about policies and/or service delivery methods. They may be general, relating to the 
environment within which the council operates, or specific, relating to a key area of 
service delivery.  
  

4.3 Analysing risks 
 
Available data is used to provide information to help assess the likelihood of any 
risk arising or the potential impact on the councils activities. The council has 
introduced a risk matrix which is a numerical scoring system for analysing risks that 
have been identified by the council: (The risk matrix can be seen at Appendix II) 

 
4.4 Profiling risks 

 
Risks are profiled according to their likelihood and severity as follows: 
 
High risk  A total risk scoring 10 or above (red). 
Medium risk A total risk scoring between 5 and 9 (amber). 
Low risk  A total risk scoring 4 or below (green). 

 
4.5 Prioritising risks 
 

Risks are prioritised based on the how the council decides to approach each risk.            
Control action is then determined based on tolerance and aversion to risk balanced 
against the availability of resources. 

 
4.6 Determining actions on risk 
 
      A course of action can then be determined based on whether the risk is to be 
      Transferred, Tolerated, Treated or Terminated. 
 
4.7 Controlling risk 
 
      Once appropriate action is determined for each risk, the process of controlling that 
      risk commences. This involves either Treating/Terminating/Tolerating or Transferring   
      the risk and/or alleviating its potential impact. 
 

 

 
 

Page 146



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2019-2020 

4.8 Monitoring, progress reporting and recording risks 
 
4.9 Monitoring and Progress reporting 
 

Once risks have been identified, evaluated, their control action agreed and 
implemented, risks must be monitored and their progress should be formally reported 
so that: 

 The adequacy of control actions that have been implemented can be reviewed 

 Changes in the severity of risks can be promptly identified and reported  

 Additional action to further control escalating risks can be promptly undertaken 

 Actions being carried out to control risks in respect of strategies that have been 
executed, or objective’s that have been met can be terminated 

 Lessons can be learned for future risk assessments and decision making. 

 

4.10 Recording Risks 

 

All risks identified during the risk management process are recorded in either the 
Corporate Risk Register; and or individual Service Risk Registers.  The purpose 
of risk registers is to document:  

 Details of each risk, their severity and the monitoring and control actions that 
have been agreed to control each risk. 

 Details of person(s) who are responsible for monitoring and controlling risks and 
reporting on their progress. 

 Details of whether or not agreed controls are effectively  managing risks 

 Details of what additional control actions are necessary to ensure intended 
actions are being achieved  

 Details of any new and emerging risks. 
 
 

5. The roles and responsibilities of various key individuals and groups in relation 
to risk management 

 

5.1 Responsibility for risk management runs throughout the council.  Specific roles and 
responsibilities have been identified so that risk management is embedded in the 
culture of the council. (Table (i) in Appendix III shows the roles and responsibilities of 
various key individuals and groups in relation to risk management and Table (ii) 
shows the annual risk reporting programme) 

 
6. Links to Governance issues 

 
6.1 The following governance arrangements have been identified as having links to the 

councils Risk Management Strategy: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 147



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2019-2020 

6.2 Controls 
 

To ensure departments operate in an efficient and effective manner Service 
Managers are responsible for ensuring appropriate processes and procedures that 
incorporate adequate controls exist and are followed thereby enable the authority to; 

 

 Comply with statutory and management requirements. 

 Safeguard assets. 

 Maintain accurate and secure records. 

 Identify and correct any errors, omissions or oversights. 
 
 
6.3 Systems of internal control 

 
The council as a whole operates within a framework of policies and procedures 
intended to direct the activity of the council and ensure transparency in decision 
making. The Constitution forms the main spine of these arrangements and includes 
the council's financial procedure rules and contract procedure rules.  Responsible 
officers are expected to ensure that effective internal control arrangements are 
incorporated into the design or development of systems and procedures. Such 
arrangements would include ensuring adequate segregation of duties, authorisation 
and physical security controls to protect the council from error, misappropriation or 
loss.  

 
Compliance with internal controls is reviewed by the council’s Internal Audit function.  
Internal Audit is an independent, objective assurance and consulting function 
designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps the 
organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach 
to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and 
governance processes. 

 
6.4 Control environment 
 

The councils control environment comprises of its system of governance, risk 
management process and system of internal control these systems are designed to 
ensure:  

 

 Risk management is embedded into the activity of the organisation. 

 Achievement of the organisations objectives is established and monitored  

 Compliance with  established policies, procedures, laws and regulations  

 Staff are trained and equipped to manage risk in a way appropriate to their 
authority 

 Resources are used economically effectively and efficiently to facilitate continuous 
improvement. 

 Finances are prudently managed and reported. 

 Performance is effectively managed and reported. 
 
All managers are responsible for ensuring the councils objectives are delivered with 
proper controls in place and through the effective and efficient use of resources 
thereby providing value for money.  Controls are reported through the Annual 

Page 148



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2019-2020 

Governance Statement, to ensure that systems are delivering consistent, predictable 
and effective results in or to meet service or corporate objectives. 

 
6.5 Data Quality 
 
    The councils approach to delivering and improving data quality across the whole        
    authority is outlined in the Data Quality Policy.  The policy demonstrates the council’s  
    commitment to ensuring that all information retained or provided by the council is  
    accurate, reliable and fit for purpose.  
 
6.6 Anti-Fraud and Corruption 

 
The councils approach to all forms of fraud and corruption is detailed in the Anti-Fraud 
& Corruption Strategy. The strategy is designed to 

 

 encourage prevention;  

 promote detection, and  

 support investigation  of fraud, bribery and corruption 
 
6.7 Whistleblowing 
 

The councils Whistleblowing Policy aims to ensure openness, probity and 
accountability by encouraging Officers and others, who have serious concerns about 
any aspect of the council's work, to come forward and voice their concerns within the 
council, without fear of reprisals, rather than overlooking a problem or “blowing the 
whistle” outside.  

 
6.8 Money Laundering 
 

In order to prevent the use of council services and personnel for money laundering, the 
council has developed an Anti-Money Laundering Policy that sets out internal 
procedures to ensure  

 

 Potential areas where money laundering may occur are identified. 

 All legal and regulatory requirements are complied with 

 Actual or suspected cases of money laundering activity are appropriately reported  
 
 
6.9 Business Continuity Management 
 

Service Managers are responsible for documenting Business Continuity Plans 
relevant to their service areas, so that critical functions and services can continue to 
be provided and there is effective recovery in the event of and following a disruption 
or catastrophic event. 

Page 149



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2019-2020 

Appendix I 

 

The two categories in which the range of risks facing Gravesham Borough Council can 
be placed into is Strategic Risks and Operational Risks. The table below provides a 
brief outline of the major elements of risk facing Gravesham Borough Council) under 
both categories 
 

Strategic Risks 
 
Operational Risks 
 

Political Risks; arising from changes in 
political control or significant policy changes at 
a national or local level 

Professional Risks: associated with the 
professional competence of Officers employed 
by the authority. 

 
Economic Risks: arising from changes in the 
economic climate 

 
Financial Risk: associated with inadequate 
financial planning resulting in lack of funding 
 

 
Social Risks: arising from unanticipated 
effects of changes in demographic, residential 
or social trends 
 

 
Contractual Risks: arising from the failure of 
contractors to deliver services to an agreed 
cost and quality specification 

 
Technology Risks: arising from unanticipated 
technological changes that might render 
significant investments obsolete or undermine 
key assumptions  
 

 
Technological Risks: arising from over-
reliance on IT and other operational equipment 
 

 
Legislative Risks: arising from legislative 
change at UK or European level placing 
significant new obligations on the authority. 
 

Legal Risks; arising from breaches of 
legislation 

 
Environmental Risks: arising from 
unexpected adverse environmental impacts on 
the council’s delivery of services.   

  
Environmental Risks: arising from pollution, 
noise or the energy efficiency of on-going 
service operations 
 

 
Customer/Citizen Risks: arising from 
unexpected changes in the needs and 
expectations of the public. 

 
Partnership Risks: where projects or activities 
are at risk of not being delivered effectively to 
cost or on time because of the complexity of 
partnership working or failure of a partner in 
some aspects of delivery. 

 

Reputational Risks: threat to the 
organisation’s reputation and public perception 
of service including its efficiency and 
effectiveness 

 
 
Physical Risks: fire hazards, lack of security, 
inadequate health and safety measures, etc. 

Page 150



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2019-2020 

 
 

 
Appendix II 

 
 
 
 
 
The Risk Matrix  

 
 
 
 

L
IK

E
L

IH
O

O
D

 

Very 
High 

5 5 10 15 20 

High 4 4 8 12 16 

Medium 3 3 6 9 12 

Low 2 2 4 6 8 

Very 
Low 

1 1 2 3 4 

High Risk 1 2 3 4 

Medium Risk 
Negligible Significant Serious Critical 

Low Risk 

IMPACT 

 

Page 151



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2019-2020 

Guidance used for assessing Likelihood and Impact   Appendix II 

 

Likelihood: 

Rating Score  

Very High 5 

 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is almost 
certain that this issue will occur sometime within the next year.  The issue 
may have already occurred in previous years either at the council or 
elsewhere. 

High 4 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is very likely 
that this issue or event will occur in the coming year. 

Medium 3 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members the issue is 
more likely to occur than not in the coming year.  

Low 2 

 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is unlikely that 
this event will occur in the coming year.  Occurrences of this risk have 
occurred in the past but occurrences are very few and far between. 

Very Low 1 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is unlikely that 
this event would occur in either the coming year or in future years. 

 

Impact: 

Rating Score  

Critical 4 

 
The impact that the occurrence of this risk would have on the authority 
would threaten the council’s financial stability.  The delivery of service to 
the public could be affected either permanently or for a long duration and 
the council would be unable to achieve its key objectives.  There would 
be a seriously damaging impact on the council’s reputation through poor 
media coverage. 

Serious 3 

 
The financial impact on the authority would be serious although would not 
threaten the stability of the council’s financial position.  Services would 
experience disruption with the delivery of services being affected for a 
number of days.  Whilst the council’s objectives would be met there would 
be significant delays in achieving them.  The council would endure poor 
media coverage for a period of time affecting the council’s reputation 
which would take some time to recover from.  

Significant 2 

 
There would be a financial impact on the authority however this would be 
manageable within the council’s existing financial resources.  There may 
be disruption to services and possibly delays in achieving the council’s 
objectives.  There may be poor media coverage which could affect the 
council in the long term. 

Negligible 1 

 
There is little or no financial impact of the risk to the authority.  There 
would be no disruption to the delivery of the council’s key objectives or 
frontline services.  It is unlikely that this risk will impact on the councils 
reputation  

 
 

Page 152



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2019-2020 

The roles and responsibilities of various key individuals and groups in relation to risk management  Appendix III 
 

Table (i) 
 

 
Cabinet & 
Members 

 
Finance & Audit 
Committee 

 
Management 
Team 

 
Service 
Managers 

 
Support 
Services 

 
Service 
Providers 

 
Risk 
Management 
Framework 
 

 
Review of the Risk 
Management 
Framework on an 
annual basis 

 
Provide independent 
assurance on the 
adequacy of the Risk 
Management 
Framework. 

 
Determine &  agree 
Risk Management  
Framework 

   
Provide advice &  
support 

  

 
Risk 
Management 
Strategy 
 

  
Review  the  Risk 
Management 
Strategy on an 
annual basis 

 
Review Risk 
Management Strategy 
prior to Cabinet Approval. 

 
Determine &  agree 
RM Strategy 

   
Provide advice &  
support 

  

 
Corporate 
Risk Register 

 
Determine & agree 
risks for inclusion in 
Corporate Risk 
register.                                  
Carry out Annual 
Review of the 
Corporate Risk 
Register. 

 
Identify risks for inclusion 
in Corporate Risk 
Register  
Review Corporate Risk 
Register prior to Cabinet 
Approval.  

 
Determine &  agree 
risks for inclusion in 
Corporate Risk 
Register  

  
Identify risks for 
inclusion in 
Corporate Risk 
Register 

 
Provide advice &  
support 

  

 
Service Risk 
Registers 

     
Agree risks for 
inclusion in Service 
Risk Registers                 
Carry out annual 
review of Service 
Risk Registers 

 
Determine  risks 
for inclusion in 
Service Risk 
Registers 

 
Provide advice &  
support 

  

P
age 153



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2019-2020 

The roles and responsibilities of various key individuals and groups in relation to risk management                Appendix III  
 

Table (i)  
Cabinet & 
Members 

 
Finance & Audit 
Committee 

 
Management 
Team 

 
Service 
Managers 

 
Support 
Services 

 
Service 
Providers 

 
Step 1                                             
Risk 
Identification 

 
Identify Strategic 
Risks 

 
Discuss possible risks for 
inclusion in the revised 
risk register 

  
Identify Strategic &  
cross service risks 

 
Identify Strategic 
& Service risks  

 
Provide advice &  
support 

Maintain 
awareness of 
risks &  
feeding these 
into the formal 
processes 

 
Step 2                         
Risk Analysis 

 
Analyse likelihood & 
impact of  Strategic 
Risks 

   
Analyse likelihood 
& impact of 
Strategic & cross 
service risks.  

 
Analyse Strategic 
& Service risks 

 
Provide advice &  
support. 
Responsible for 
Core Functions of 
Risk 
Management. 

Maintain  
awareness of 
the impact & 
cost of risks & 
feeding 
information & 
data 
into the formal 
processes 

 
Step 3                           
Risk Profiling 

 
Profile Strategic 
Risks 

   
Profile Strategic &  
cross service risks 

 
Profile Strategic & 
Service risks 

 
Provide advice &  
support  

  

 
Step 4                              
Risk 
Prioritisation 

 
Prioritising Strategic 
Risks 

   
Prioritise Strategic 
&  cross service 
risks 

 
Prioritise Strategic 
& Service risks 

 
Provide advice &  
support  

  

 
 
 

P
age 154



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2019-2020 

The roles and responsibilities of various key individuals and groups in relation to risk management                Appendix III 
 

Table (i)  
Cabinet & 
Members 

 
Finance & Audit 
Committee 

 
Management 
Team 

 
Service 
Managers 

 
Support 
Services 

 
Service 
Providers 

 
Step 5                       
Determining 
risk 
management 
Actions 

 
Determine actions  to 
transfer, tolerate, 
treat or terminate 
Strategic Risks 

   
Determine actions 
to transfer, tolerate, 
treat or terminate 
Strategic &  cross 
service risks 

 
Determine action 
on Strategic and 
service risks 
Delegate 
responsibility for 
control Ensure 
adequate service 
continuity plans 
are in place   

 
Provide advice &  
support  

  

 
Step 6                                   
Risk Control 

 
Determine control 
Actions 

   
Control risks by 
delegating 
responsibility   

 
Control Risks 
including those 
delegated by 
Management 
Team 

 
Provide advice &  
support, & control 
specific risk 
areas. 

 
Control risk in 
their jobs 

 
Step 7                                             
Monitoring &  
Progress/ 
Performance 
 Reporting 

   
Monitor the effective 
development & operation 
of risk management in 
the authority.  

 
Monitor progress 
on managing 
strategic & cross-
business risks &  
review the 
implementation of 
the Risk 
Management 
Framework, Risk 
Management 
Strategy &  Risk 
Management 
Process 

 
Monitor progress 
on managing risks  
Report to the 
departmental  
management 
team  

 
Provide advice &  
support  

 
Monitor 
progress on 
managing job 
related risks 
Report to the 
Service 
Manager  

P
age 155



  

Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2019-2020 

Appendix IV 
 
The annual risk management reporting programme 2019-2020 
  
        
Table (ii) 

January 2019 Management Team to discuss and review the Risks 
identified and included in the draft version of the 
Corporate Risk Register for 2019-2020. 

18 February 2019 Finance & Audit Committee presented with the 
draft version of the 2019-2020 Risk Management 
Strategy and Corporate Risk Register. Copy to be 
sent to Corporate Performance Team. 

March 2019 Draft version of the 2019-2020 Risk Management 
Strategy (if necessary) and Corporate Risk Register 
presented at Chief Executive Briefing  for review 

March 2019 Cabinet presented with the final version of the 2019-
2020 Risk Management Strategy and Corporate Risk 
Register  

April 2019 Council presented with Annual Report on Strategic 
Risk Management (including Risk Management 
Strategy) 

September 2019 Senior Officers are contacted and requested to 
provide progress information relating to risks 
recorded in the 2019-2020 Corporate Risk Register  

November  2019 Finance & Audit Committee presented with mid-
year risk report. F&A are required to review and 
discuss progress information and consider any new 
risks that have been identified for inclusion in the - 
2020-2021 Corporate Risk Register. 

December  2019 Senior Officers requested to carry out risk 
identification exercise and consider control actions to 
be implemented to manage identified risks.  
Development of the draft version of the Corporate 
Risk Register for 2020-2021 commences. 

 

Page 156



Corporate Risk Register 2019-2020 
Analysis of Risks 

  
Page 1 

 
  

  
Gravesham Borough Council’s Corporate Risk Register is the result of an annual strategic risk management exercise that is conducted to identify, analyse and prioritise those risks that may affect the ability of the council to 
achieve its corporate objectives.  Finance & Audit Committee have responsibility for monitoring the effective development and operation of risk management within the council and reviewing the Corporate Risk Register prior 
to its submission to Cabinet for approval.  This document should be read in conjunction with the report in which the outcomes from the annual risk identification exercise are presented.   

The following matrix is utilised when assessing whether a risk is a high, medium or low risk for the council to help determine which risks should be included in the Corporate Risk Register and which risks should be managed 
at departmental level: 

 
The Risk Matrix 

 

L
IK

E
L

IH
O

O
D

 

Very 
High 

5 5 10 15 20 

High 4 4 8 12 16 

Medium 3 3 6 9 12 

Low 2 2 4 6 8 

Very 
Low 

1 1 2 3 4 

High Risk 1 2 3 4 

Medium Risk 
Negligible Significant Serious Critical 

Low Risk 

IMPACT 

 

 

The Corporate Risks that have been assessed for 2019-20 are:  

 

1. Ongoing financial viability of the Council 
2. Changes in national priorities and legislative change 
3. Organisational capacity/ resilience 
4. Implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 

 
Likelihood 

Rating Score  

Very High 5 

 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is almost certain that this issue will 
occur sometime within the next year.  The issue may have already occurred in previous years 
either at the council or elsewhere. 

High 4 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is very likely that this issue or event will 
occur in the coming year. 

Medium 3 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members the issue is more likely to occur than not 
in the coming year.  

Low 2 

 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is unlikely that this event will occur in 
the coming year.  Occurrences of this risk have occurred in the past but occurrences are very few 
and far between. 

Very Low 1 
 
On the evidence and knowledge that this event would occur in either the coming year or in future 
years. 

Impact 

Rating Score  

Critical 4 

 
The financial impact on the authority would critically threaten the council’s financial stability.  The 
delivery of service to the public could be affected either permanently or for a long duration and the 
council could not achieve its key objectives.  There would be a seriously damaging impact on the 
council’s reputation through poor media coverage. 

Serious 3 

 
The financial impact on the authority would be serious although would not threaten the stability of 
the council’s financial position.  Services would experience disruption with the delivery of services 
being affected for a number of days.  Whilst the council’s objectives would be met there would be 
significant delays in achieving them.  The council would endure poor media coverage for a period 
of time affecting the council’s reputation which would take some time to recover from.  

Significant 2 

 
There would be a financial impact on the authority however this would be manageable within the 
council’s existing financial resources.  There may be disruption to services and possibly delays in 
achieving the council’s objectives.  There may be poor media coverage which could affect the 
council in the long term. 

Negligible 1 

 
There is little or no financial impact of the risk to the authority.  There would be no disruption to the 
delivery of the council’s key objectives or frontline services.  It is unlikely that this risk will impact on 
the council’s reputation. 

5. Universal Credit 
6. General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) 
7. Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union  
8. Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data 

  

P
age 157



Corporate Risk Register 2019-2020 
Analysis of Risks 

  
Page 2 

 
  

 

Risk: 1. Ongoing financial viability of the Council 
 
Owner: Director (Corporate Services); Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 

 

Risk Background: 

Funding pressures on local government continue to put unprecedented strain on the financial sustainability of local 
authorities.  2019-20 will be the final year of the multi- year local government finance settlement and the council has 
experienced a cash reduction in government funding levels of some £5m (65%) since 2010-11 (excluding New Homes 
Bonus Scheme).  
When drafted, the council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2016-17 to 2019-20 identified a funding gap by 2019-20 
of £2.5m. This identified gap has increased since 2016 due to changes in the design of the New Homes Bonus 
Scheme and the council not meeting the ‘deadweight’ level required to secure funding under the scheme every year, 
slower than predicted increases in the Bank of England base rate and employee pay awards being greater than 
budgeted.  The council has taken great strides in proactively managing its financial position through its Bridging the 
Gap activity and a further £1.3m of activity was agreed by Cabinet in November 2018 to meet the additional pressures 
that have become apparent since 2016.  In setting the budget for 2019-20 the council will be realising base budget 
reductions of some £3.5m derived from this activity within its Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 
There is little information currently available regarding the level of government funding the council might anticipate 
receiving after 2019-20.  The 2019 Spending Review is expected in Spring 2019 and will set the envelope of spending 
for the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG).  The Fair Funding Review, to be 
implemented in 2020-21, will set new finding baselines for individual local authorities based on their assessed relative 
needs and the assessed relative resources the authority can access.  There is an expectation that the Resource 
Departmental Expenditure Limit for the MHCLG will be squeezed and the Fair Funding review (the design of which is 
expected to be known in Autumn 2019) will see a greater concentration of resources directed to authorities with Upper 
Tier responsibilities; both of these events will put further pressure on the council’s financial sustainability.  Linked to 
this, the future design of the Business Rates Retention Scheme is still unclear.  Business Rates is the second largest 
funding stream for the council, after Council Tax, and will be equivalent to around 25% of the council’s net revenue 
budget in future years. 
 

 

Consequences: 

 Inability to plan effectively due to the lack of clarity around the future level of government funding 
support and how the business rates retention scheme will operate in practice. 

 Potential for MHCLG to reduce the total funding available to the council (including retained business 
rates) beyond the levels projected in the MTFP to support other departmental funding pressures.  

 Council exposed to increased financial risk and volatility from changes to funding and any redesigned 
business rates scheme.  

 Unplanned cuts in services needed and/or drop in quality of delivery, potentially leading to damage to 
Council’s reputation.  

 Financial savings not achieved.  

 Budgets exceeded and/or reserves depleted.  

 Problems stored up for the future.  

 Minimum working balance of £1.25 million is not maintained.  

 New legislative requirements not met.  

 Uncertainty over future large projects.  

 Potential for infrastructure to deteriorate. 

 Potential for the introduction of further statutory discounts for Business Rates payers without 
compensation from central government. 
 

 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12 

 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer(s) Control Narrative 

 

 
Control Update 

Assessment 
of residual 

risk  

 
1.1 Medium Term Financial Strategy in place 

Director 
Corporate Services) 

Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 

 
General Revenue Reserve increased from £2 
million to £4 million to mitigate financial risks. 
Reassessment of Commercial Income Protection 
Reserve to a level equivalent to 15% of rental 
income. 
 
Continued delivery of Bridging the Gap activity 
and additional £1.3m of activity approved by 
Cabinet in November 2018. 
 
Development of a new Medium Term Financial 
Strategy for the council once the outcomes of the 
Fair Funding Review and Retained Business 
Rates Scheme design are known. 
 
 

 

 

P
age 158



Corporate Risk Register 2019-2020 
Analysis of Risks 

  
Page 3 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer(s) Control Narrative 

 

 
Control Update 

Assessment 
of residual 

risk 

 
1.2 Medium Term Financial Plan in place 

Assistant Director  
(Corporate Services) 

Continued maintenance of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan. 

Modelling of the effects of the Fair Funding review 
and Retained Business Rates Retention Scheme 
once known. 

 

 

 
1.3 Robust budget monitoring arrangements in 
place. 

Assistant Director  
(Corporate Services) 

Continuation of the programme of development 
for the council’s Financial Management System. 

 

Continue compliance with budget monitoring 
arrangements 

 

 

1.4 Continue to actively respond to 
government consultation on the Fair Funding 
Review and Retained Business Rates Scheme 
design. 

Assistant Director  

(Corporate Services) 

Continuation of approach to responding to central 
government consultations on funding for local 
government. 

 

 

P
age 159



Corporate Risk Register 2019-2020 
Analysis of Risks 

  
Page 4 

 
  

 

Risk: 2. Changes in national priorities and legislative change 
 
Owner: Chief Executive & Management Team 

 

Risk Background: 

 The council needs to keep abreast of developments in legislation to ensure that it is best placed to respond to any 
changes it may face. Failure to account for the Government’s legislative programme may involve:  
• Change of direction for the council may be required.  
• Changes result in additional costs/ workloads for staff.  
• Severe financial position encountered which may restrict which services the council can deliver (see Risk 1).  
• Failure to meet stakeholder expectations.  
• Funding pressures / increased costs of working.  
• Staff morale falls with potential for sick absence due to stress.  
• Increased scrutiny from Members and other relevant bodies.  
 

 

Consequences: 

 Change of direction for the council may be required.  

 Changes result in additional costs/ workloads for staff.  

 Severe financial position encountered which may restrict which services the council can deliver 
(see Risk 1).  

 Failure to meet stakeholder expectations.  

 Funding pressures / increased costs of working.  

 Staff morale falls with potential for sick absence due to stress.  

 Increased scrutiny from Members and other relevant bodies.  

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

 
 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer(s) Control Narrative 

 

 
Control Update 

Assessment 
of residual 

risk  

2.1 Circulation of monthly policy and legislative 
briefings 

Corporate Performance Manager 
Continued circulation of monthly policy & 
legislative briefings 

 

 

2.2 Proactive arrangements to respond to 
consultations from central government 
departments and agencies 

Wider Management Team 
Make proactive arrangements to respond to 
consultations from central government 
departments and agencies 

 

 

2.3 Establishment of new member induction 
programme and ongoing training and 
development plan. 

Committee Services/ Wider 
Management Team 

Develop a Member Induction Programme to 
support all Members elected to the Council in the 
May 2019 Local Elections. 

Continue to deliver a training and development 
plan to Members. 

 

 

2.4 Maintenance of interaction with partner 
agencies 

Committee Services/ Wider 
Management Team 

Maintain interaction with partnership agencies. 

 

 

P
age 160



Corporate Risk Register 2019-2020 
Analysis of Risks 

  
Page 5 

 
  

 

Risk 3 : Organisational capacity/ resilience 
 
Owner: Chief Executive and Management Team 

 
Risk Background: 
 
The council’s Management Team have put in place a number of arrangements to help to deal with the reduction in 
Government funding over the medium term, including approval of all new appointments and the cessation of temporary 
staff contracts and non-contractual overtime (except in exceptional circumstances). The recent announcements on 
local government finance are going to require decisions to be taken about future service delivery, and these actions are 
likely to see changes to the staff establishment. This, in turn, will place greater demands on remaining staff, exposing 
the council to key person dependency and the risk of poor resilience. Management and staff can help improve 
organisational capacity and resilience by identifying critical tasks, working flexibly across departments and developing 
the skills and abilities of key leaders and staff. Flexible working with a smaller workforce has made it difficult to extend 
offers to staff, however during 2018-19 there have been significant improvements to IT infrastructure in order to 
facilitate flexible working opportunities. The council also need to ensure that it has plans in place to cope with other 
potential impacts on capacity which may result from severe weather, building damage or pandemic to ensure that key 
services can continue to be delivered 

 

Consequences: 

 Council unprepared for changes resulting in pressure being placed on resources, this in turn 
could lead to the council struggling to meet changes in demand for services.   

 Services areas with reduced staff will suffer a greater impact which in turn will add pressures on 
already stretched recourses. 

 Increased organisational stress can negatively impact productivity, which in turn can reduce staff 
motivation, create low morale and increase sickness and stress levels.  

 The council will be required to provide additional help and support to overcome the problems that 
result from increased organisational stress. 

 Increases in liability claims and weaknesses in internal controls could result due to there being 
insufficient staff resources to carry out essential roles and responsibilities.  

 Cuts in services and a potential drop in service quality is also possible.  

 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer(s) Control Narrative 

 

 
Control Update 

Assessment 
of residual 

risk  

3.1 Effective Allocation of resources Management Team 

Management Team to continue with consistently 
reviewing staff vacancies and restructuring 
opportunities to ensure that resources are 
allocated effectively in each area, complemented 
by regular budgetary and performance 
management data which identifies areas of the 
council that are experiencing pressures 

 

 

3.2 Flexible working arrangements  Management Team 

Shared service opportunities will continue to be 
explored and provide more flexibility to staff who 
transfer to larger authorities. 

 

 

3.3 Provision of training and support Director (Communities) 

Appraisals will continue to be carried out on an 
annual basis and training needs identified.  
Workforce development will maintain liaison with 
Service Managers and above to identify training 
programme for the year ahead which will be 
monitored by HR. All employees will be given 
access to a wide range of e-leaning and the ability 
to book onto physical training courses  

 

 

3.4 Workforce Support  Director (Communities) 

Joint staff forum meetings are to continue and be 
held every 8 weeks with members of management 
team in attendance as well as trade union 
representatives.  

HR will maintain monthly catch up meetings with 
the Trade Unions in order to discuss concerns 
that may be raised by their members. 

 

 

P
age 161



Corporate Risk Register 2019-2020 
Analysis of Risks 

  
Page 6 

 
  

 
 

Risk 4 : Implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 
 
Owner: Director (Housing and Regeneration) Assistant Director (Housing) 

 

Risk Background: 

The Homelessness Reduction Bill received Royal Assent on 27th April 2017 and is now an Act. The date of enactment 
is 1 April 2018. The Homelessness Reduction Act (HR Act) amends Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996. There are 13 
clauses that amend many of the previous homelessness duties and brought in a substantial number of new duties. The 
Council’s Housing Options Service has got to grips with the new duties as required in order to comply with the 
legislation. The Act places additional burdens on the council and whilst some financial assistance was made available 
by the Government to assist in meeting the new duties, this has so far not been sufficient to meet the new burden, 
particularly in relation to the increased cost of temporary accommodation provision. The limited supply of dwellings to 
assist in meeting the new duties also continues to be an area of concern.  
 
There remains a risk of legal challenge if the authority is unable to meet the new legal duties arising from the 
Homelessness Reduction Act. There is also a financial risk to the Council due to an increase in temporary 
accommodation costs if there are insufficient resources to manage the increase in demand for the service. Funding 
from the Government provided to tackle homelessness is for an initial period of 3 years to ensure that the new 
legislation can be successfully implemented and there are still no guarantees of similar levels of funding beyond March 
 

 

Consequences: 

 New legislative requirements not met.  

 Budgets depleted in attempts to fulfil the additional requirements.  

 Reputational damage  

 Adverse impact on staff morale and retention due to the required significant changes to the 
assessment process and the focus of casework, including a doubling of homelessness applications.  

 The service needs to be constantly reviewed to manage the large increase in applications and the 
casework that is required for each application under the HRAct. 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

 

  

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer(s) Control Narrative 

 

 
Control Update 

Assessment 
of residual 

risk  

4.1 Maintain an understanding of the level of 
additional duties 

Assistant Director (Housing) 

Keep abreast of any amendments or changes in 
the level of additional duties 

 

 

 

4.2 Team Structure reviewed to deliver 
additional duties 

Assistant Director (Housing) 

Regular review of Team Structure to ongoing 
ability to deliver the required duties and promote 
awareness / understanding of additional team 
workload 
 

 

 

4.3 Service to continue following cessation of 
New Burdens funding 

Assistant Director (Housing) 
Ensuring sustainability of the service 
following cessation of New Burdens 
funding 

 

 

P
age 162



Corporate Risk Register 2019-2020 
Analysis of Risks 

  
Page 7 

 
  

 
 

Risk 5 :  Universal Credit 
 
Owner: Director (Corporate Services) Service Manager Revenues & Benefits  

 

Risk Background: 

Gravesham adopted Universal Credit ‘Live’ service in its most basic form on the 18 May 2015 for single residents only 
in prescribed circumstances. The impact was minimal and did not produce a risk score. Universal Credit live service 
was closed to new claims from 31 December 2017. 
Universal Credit ‘Full’ service commenced in May 2018 and is available for all types of claimant with the exception of a 
few categories. 
The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) has overall responsibility for implementing Universal Credit, although 
the Council has a key role in in providing Universal Support to residents who wish to claim. However Gravesham 
Citizens Advice provides the Assisted Digital Support and Personal Budgeting Support on our behalf. 
From 1 April 2019 the DWP will sub contract Citizens Advice to do the Assisted Digital Support and Personal Budgeting 
Support directly. 
Gravesham has its own housing and under the housing benefit scheme a weekly transaction was paid to the housing 
account without the tenant having to take responsibility and providing security of payment for the Council and security 
of tenancy for the customer. 
Under UC there is no certainty that Housing will receive the housing cost payment if the customer receives the 
payment direct. 
 
 

 

Consequences: 

There remains much uncertainty as to the exact direct and indirect consequences of the changes upon the 
authority, particularly whether resources to support the scheme will still be required to be retained by the 
council (and at what level) once administration of Universal Credit is taken over by the Department for Work 
and Pensions in its entirety. 
Initial data shows that currently in Full service caseload has dropped and the number of new claims received 
is starting to reduce however the workload has actually increased as a result of the number of notifications 
that the DWP JCP send through on a daily/weekly basis.  
Direct consequences are;  

 A reduction in HB caseload  

 A reduction in council dwelling rental income and increase in rent arrears as payments will be 
made direct to the tenant, rather than direct to the rent account as they are now  

 Increase in workload for Housing Team  

 Increases in evictions/homelessness/voids  

 Rise in level of corporate debt  

 Customers may suffer hardship  
 
Indirect consequences are also expected, with increased costs of cash handling through the shift away from 
rebating benefit to cash transactions  

 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12 

 

 Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer(s) Control Narrative 

 

 
Control Update 

Assessment 
of residual 

risk  

5.1 Regular meetings planned to take place 
with JCP Senior Officers 

Service Manager (Revenues 
and Benefits  

Assistant Revenues and 

Benefits Manager 

 
Continued liaison and meetings with the JCP by 
revenues and Benefits Officers, alongside officers 
from Housing, Customer Services and the 
Citizens Advice Bureau. 

 

 

 

5.2 Customers given help with claiming 
Universal Credit and managing finances 

Service Manager (Revenues 
and Benefits  

Assistant Director (Housing) 

 

 
Citizens Advice to provide Personal Budgeting 
Support and Assisted Digital Support with the help 
of funding from the JCP.  

 

 

 

5.3 Monitoring of the impact of Universal Credit 
upon the Housing collection rate 

Assistant Director (Housing) 

 
Housing officers have access to the Landlord 
Portal, are aware of all tenants in receipt of UC 
and continue to closely monitor Rent Accounts. 
Opportunities to make arrangements for direct 
payment where appropriate will be sought.  

 

 

P
age 163



Corporate Risk Register 2019-2020 
Analysis of Risks 

  
Page 8 

 
  

 

  

 Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer(s) Control Narrative 

 

 
Control Update 

Assessment 
of residual 

risk  

5.4 Contact with residents as well as social 
and private  landlords  to establish impact of 
Universal Credit 

Service Manager (Revenues 
and Benefits  

 

 
Liaison will continue with the DWP, CAB, 
Housing, Private /Social landlords, council tenants 
and Customer Services to ensure that residents 
can be kept informed of how the introduction of 
UC Full Service will affect them.  

 

 

5.5 Maintain briefing arrangements for 
Members and staff and provide regular 
updates of any changes 

Service Manager (Revenues 
and Benefits  

 

 

Briefing arrangements will be maintained to keep 
Members and staff regularly updated of any 
changes that occur. 

 

 

P
age 164



Corporate Risk Register 2019-2020 
Analysis of Risks 

  
Page 9 

 
  

Risk 6 : General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) 

 
Owner: Director (Corporate Services) Information Governance Manager and Data Protection 
Officer to Medway Council and Gravesham Borough Council 
 

 

Risk Background: 

The General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) come into force on 25 May 2018 and is the legal 
framework for data protection across Europe. The decision of the UK to leave the European Union will not 
affect GDPR in the UK.   

The regulations introduced significant changes to the responsibilities of organisations that collect, store and 
share personally identifiable information.  Corporate responsibilities have required the council to introduce 
new processes and achieve some things differently. The council must demonstrate compliance with all 
elements of the GDPR 

 

Consequences: 

 Risk of administrative fine from the Information Commissioners Office (ICO) if evidence of 
non-compliance found 

 Risk of remediation/compensation requirements to the data subject 

 Reputational Damage 

 Costs of ensuring compliance not budgeted for 

 Increased scrutiny from Members and other relevant bodies. 

 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 2 Impact 3 Score 6 Likelihood 2 Impact 3 Score 6 

 

 

  

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer(s) Control Narrative 

 

 
Control Update 

Assessment 
of residual 

risk  

 
6.1 Information Governance Group (IGG) 
Meetings 

Information Governance Group The IGG to continue to meet to discuss GDPR  

 

 

6.2 IGG committed to continue raising 
awareness and arranging appropriate training 
for all staff who have access to personal data. 

Information Governance Group 
Raising awareness and delivering training jointly 
with Medway Council.  
 

 

 

6.3 Appointment of Data Protection Officer Information Governance Group 

Implementing robust arrangements with 
regards to  

 The management of information held. 

 Undertaking Data Impact Assessments 

 International Considerations 

 

 

P
age 165



Corporate Risk Register 2019-2020 
Analysis of Risks 

  
Page 10 

 
  

Risk 7: Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union  
 
Owner:  Management Team 

 
Risk Background: 
In June 2016, the United Kingdom (UK) voted to leave the European Union (EU).  The UK is scheduled to leave the EU 
at 11pm local time on 29 March 2019.  A withdrawal agreement and political declaration on future ties with the bloc 
were announced by the Prime Minister in November, though there has been little public support for this and the House 
of Commons vote on the exit agreement was lost on 15 January 2019.  This has led to a heightened level of political 
and economic uncertainty around the future of the country as well as uncertainty as to whether Brexit will actually take 
place on 29 March 2019. In a ‘No Deal’ situation, the UK would revert to World Trade Organisation rules after 29 March 
2019. 

 

Consequences: 

 Lack of clarity on when the EU withdrawal may take place or impact on government spending plans. 

 Difficulty in delivering services due to disruption to the road network as a consequence of increased 
border and customs checks on port freight traffic.  Disruption in particular to waste collection and 
disposal and to staff ability to reach their usual place of work. 

 Potential for council income from services to reduce due to service disruption or changes to customer 
behaviour (car parking). 

 Potential longer term impacts on staffing and future recruitment and legal and regulatory framework 
of the country. 

 Potential impacts on the council’s supply chain and the procurement of supplies and services 
(through actual supply and inflation-linked contracts). 

 Potential to cause instability in interest rates, affecting investment decisions, returns from current 
investments and pension fund liabilities.  Potential to cause a downgrading in UK sovereign rating 
and UK institutional ratings, limiting options for investment decisions. Impact may also be felt on 
existing commercial property rental income returns and capital values. 

 Potential impacts on funding for longer term regeneration and infrastructure development plans. 

 Increased risk of intentional attempts to disrupt council services around 29 March 2019 through cyber 
and other means. 

 Social Unrest and increase in public disorder. 

 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

 
 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer(s) Control Narrative 

 

 
Control Update 

Assessment 
of residual 

risk  

7.1 The council is part of the Kent Resilience 
Forum (KRF) who are co-ordinating Kent-wide 
Brexit contingency planning arrangements 

David Hughes (as part of the KRF 
Executive Board) 

Proactive engagement with County-wide 
contingency planning arrangements. 
 
Brexit Preparedness Allocation of £35k to be 
received by the council from Government to assist 
in preparations for exit from the EU and 
contingency planning.  Kent Bid for further funding 
from MHCLG to recognise location of county and 
specific pressures that may be experienced. 

 

 

7.2 Business Continuity Plans up to date and 
in place for all services. 

Wider Management Team 

Business Continuity Plans to be reviewed and 
updated to ensure they remain fit for purpose. 

 

Specific ‘Brexit’ Service Risk Registers being 
prepared. 

 

 

P
age 166



Corporate Risk Register 2019-2020 
Analysis of Risks 

  
Page 11 

 
  

 

 

  

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer(s) Control Narrative 

 

 
Control Update 

Assessment 
of residual 

risk  

7.3 Put in place arrangements to enable staff 
to work from alternative locations or work 
flexibly in the event that they are unable to 
travel to their normal place of employment.  

Wider Management Team 

IT Infrastructure to support remote working where 
possible. 
 
Consideration of alternative working patterns 
where this may support service continuity, or 
review hours of service provision. 
 
Consideration of additional staffing or temporary 
redeployment of staff to high priority services 
 
Consideration of reciprocal cross-authority 
working opportunities to support critical service 
delivery and enable staff to work at their nearest 
local authority temporarily. 
 

 

 

7.4 Engagement with key partners and key 
supply chain providers to seek assurance on 
their preparedness.  

Wider Management Team 
Maintain interaction with key partners and supply 
chain providers to seek assurance on their 
preparedness. 

 

 

P
age 167



Corporate Risk Register 2019-2020 
Analysis of Risks 

  
Page 12 

 
  

Risk 8 :  Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data 
 
Owner: Director (Corporate Services) 
 

 

Risk Background: 
As more reliance grows on IT Systems the risks surrounding a cyberattack disrupting those systems becomes more 
important. Whilst there is no specific targeted threat to local government (confirmed by the National Cyber Security 
Centre), criminal activity via Cyber methods remains the most likely motivation. The "Official 2019 Annual Cybercrime 
Report," by Cybersecurity Ventures lists Cyber Crime as the world's biggest criminal growth industry. 
 
Whilst technical and non-technical controls can be put in place to reduce the ease at which an IT Infrastructure can be 
attacked, unknown vulnerabilities (zero day threats) and / or a determined attacker can defeat even the most secure 
systems. 
 
Alongside protecting systems should be well practiced incident response plans. 

 

Consequences: 

A cyberattack can result in the unavailability of systems for normal use, destruction of systems and data, and 
the theft of data for criminal use. 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 3 Impact 4 Score 12 Likelihood 3 Impact 4 Score 12 

 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer(s) Control Narrative 

 

 
Control Update 

Assessment 
of residual 

risk  

8.1 Technical security controls, Security 
policies and IT health checks and penetration 
tests 

Service Manager (IT Services) 

Technical Controls (such as firewalls, anti-virus, 
filtering, log monitoring) are in place and are 
regularly reviewed. 

Offsite backup arrangements are in place and are 
regularly reviewed. 

Participation in local and national Warning, Advice 
and Reporting Points for up to date situational 
intelligence information 

Direct engagement with the National Cyber 
Security Centre and use of their Active Cyber 
Defence tools 

Improvements to existing controls are currently 
underway which includes additional backup 
facilities, faster recovery from backups and a 
partnership approach to proactively monitoring 
security event information. 

  

8.2 Incident Response Plans and cyberattack 
exercise scenarios 

Service Manager (IT Services) 

Expand existing Business Continuity Plans so 
they cover in more detail the specifics of 
cyberattacks. 

Engage with the Local Resilience Partnership 
through the MHCLG Pathfinder programme to 
ensure multi-agency response is appropriate. 

Conduct regular exercises to assess cyberattack 
recovery plans. 

  

P
age 168



Corporate Risk Register 2019-2020 
Analysis of Risks 

  
Page 13 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer(s) Control Narrative 

 

 
Control Update 

Assessment 
of residual 

risk  

8.3 Mandatory training for staff and Members 
on cyber security 

Service Manager (IT Services) 
Rollout training to all staff and members to raise 
awareness of the cyber threat and to promote 
good practice to minimise the human risk factor. 

  

P
age 169



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Corporate Risk Register 

2019-2020 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

 

Page 171



2 | P a g e  

  
Gravesham’s Corporate Risk Register is the result of an annual strategic risk management 
exercise conducted to identify, analyse and prioritise those risks that may affect the ability of 
the council to achieve its corporate objectives.  The key risks facing the council were 
identified through discussion with Cabinet Members, Finance and Audit Committee 
Members, Members, Directors, Assistant Directors, Service Managers and other senior 
managers. 

 

The Corporate Risk Register outlines the key strategic risks facing the council, the controls 
currently in place to respond to these risks and any further action required by the council to 
properly manage these risks.  The actions that the council has in place/needs to implement 
are assessed as one of the following: 

 

 Good – actions in place will mitigate the risk and no further action is required. 

 Adequate – whilst the action will help to mitigate the risk, there is still further work 
that can be undertaken to further mitigate the risk. 

 Inadequate – the action is either not already in place or is not mitigating the risk and 
therefore further work is required. 

 

The following matrix is utilised when assessing whether a risk is a high, medium or low risk 
for the council: 
 

The Risk Matrix 
 

L
IK

E
L

IH
O

O
D

 

Very 
High 

5 5 10 15 20 

High 4 4 8 12 16 

Medium 3 3 6 9 12 

Low 2 2 4 6 8 

Very 
Low 

1 1 2 3 4 

High Risk 1 2 3 4 

Medium Risk 
Negligible Significant Serious Critical 

Low Risk 

IMPACT 

 

Page 172



3 | P a g e  

Guidance used for assessing Likelihood and Impact    

 

 

Likelihood: 

Rating Score  

Very High 5 

 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is 
almost certain that this issue will occur sometime within the next 
year.  The issue may have already occurred in previous years 
either at the council or elsewhere. 

High 4 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is very 
likely that this issue or event will occur in the coming year. 

Medium 3 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members the issue 
is more likely to occur than not in the coming year.  

Low 2 

 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is 
unlikely that this event will occur in the coming year.  Occurrences 
of this risk have occurred in the past but occurrences are very few 
and far between. 

Very Low 1 
 
On the evidence and knowledge that this event would occur in 
either the coming year or in future years. 

 
 

Impact: 

Rating Score  

Critical 4 

 
The financial impact on the authority would critically threaten the 
council’s financial stability.  The delivery of service to the public 
could be affected either permanently or for a long duration and the 
council could not achieve its key objectives.  There would be a 
seriously damaging impact on the council’s reputation through poor 
media coverage. 

Serious 3 

 
The financial impact on the authority would be serious although 
would not threaten the stability of the council’s financial position.  
Services would experience disruption with the delivery of services 
being affected for a number of days.  Whilst the council’s 
objectives would be met there would be significant delays in 
achieving them.  The council would endure poor media coverage 
for a period of time affecting the council’s reputation which would 
take some time to recover from.  

Significant 2 

 
There would be a financial impact on the authority however this 
would be manageable within the council’s existing financial 
resources.  There may be disruption to services and possibly 
delays in achieving the council’s objectives.  There may be poor 
media coverage which could affect the council in the long term. 

Negligible 1 

 
There is little or no financial impact of the risk to the authority.  
There would be no disruption to the delivery of the council’s key 
objectives or frontline services.  It is unlikely that this risk will 
impact on the council’s reputation. 

Page 173



4 | P a g e  

Given that the council works in an ever-changing environment it will be necessary to 
conduct similar risk management exercises on a periodic basis.  Progress against 
management actions recorded in the register will be reported to Cabinet on a quarterly 
basis and the register will be reviewed on a six-monthly basis by the Finance and Audit 
Committee.    

 
As a contribution to good corporate governance, risk management also forms a part of the 
annual business planning process – each departmental business plan has a specific service 
risk register to identify the key risks facing that service.  This reinforces the corporate risk 
management approach through each Service Manager giving proper formal consideration to 
both corporate and operational risks

Page 174



5 | P a g e  

 

The Risk Ongoing financial viability of the Council Risk No. 1 

Assessment 
Date 

 January 2019 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12 

 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Leader of the Executive (but affects all portfolios) 

Risk 
Background 

Funding pressures on local government continue to put 
unprecedented strain on the financial sustainability of local authorities.  
2019-20 will be the final year of the multi- year local government 
finance settlement and the council has experienced a cash reduction 
in government funding levels of some £5m (65%) since 2010-11 
m(excluding New Homes Bonus Scheme,).  
When drafted, the council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2016-17 
to 2019-20 identified a funding gap by 2019-20 of £2.5m. This 
identified gap has increased since 2016 due to changes in the design 
of the New Homes Bonus Scheme and the council not meeting the 
‘deadweight’ level required to secure funding under the scheme every 
year, slower than predicted increases in the Bank of England base 
rate and employee pay awards being greater than budgeted.  The 
council has taken great strides in proactively managing its financial 
position through its Bridging the Gap activity and a further £1.3m of 
activity was agreed by Cabinet in November 2018 to meet the 
additional pressures that have become apparent since 2016.  In 
setting the budget for 2019-20 the council will be realising base 
budget reductions of some £3.5m derived from this activity within its 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 
There is little information currently available regarding the level of 
government funding the council might anticipate receiving after 2019-
20.  The 2019 Spending Review is expected in Spring 2019 and will 
set the envelope of spending for the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government (MHCLG).  The Fair Funding Review, to be 
implemented in 2020-21, will set new finding baselines for individual 
local authorities based on their assessed relative needs and the 
assessed relative resources the authority can access.  There is an 
expectation that the Resource Departmental Expenditure Limit for the 
MHCLG will be squeezed and the Fair Funding review (the design of 
which is expected to be known in Autumn 2019) will see a greater 
concentration of resources directed to authorities with Upper Tier 
responsibilities; both of these events will put further pressure on the 
council’s financial sustainability.  Linked to this, the future design of 
the Business Rates Retention Scheme is still unclear.  Business Rates 
is the second largest funding stream for the council, after Council Tax, 
and will be equivalent to around 25% of the council’s net revenue 
budget in future years.  

Consequences  Inability to plan effectively due to the lack of clarity around the 
future level of government funding support and how the business 
rates retention scheme will operate in practice. 

 Potential for MHCLG to reduce the total funding available to the 
council (including retained business rates) beyond the levels 
projected in the MTFP to support other departmental funding 
pressures.  

 Council exposed to increased financial risk and volatility from 
changes to funding and any redesigned business rates scheme.  

Page 175



6 | P a g e  

 Unplanned cuts in services needed and/or drop in quality of 
delivery, potentially leading to damage to Council’s reputation.  

 Financial savings not achieved.  

 Budgets exceeded and/or reserves depleted.  

 Problems stored up for the future.  

 Minimum working balance of £1.25 million is not maintained.   

 New legislative requirements not met.  

 Uncertainty over future large projects.  

 Potential for infrastructure to deteriorate. 

 Potential for the introduction of further statutory discounts for 
Business Rates payers without compensation from central 
government. 

Controls already 
in place  

 Medium Term Financial Strategy in place 

 Medium Term Financial Plan in place 

 Robust Budget Monitoring arrangements in place 

 Responding actively to government consultation on the Fair 
Funding Review and Retained Business Rates Scheme Design 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Medium Term Financial Plan 

Budget monitoring process 

Risk Owner (s) Director (Corporate Services); Assistant Director (Corporate Services 

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

General Revenue Reserve increased from £2 million 
to £4 million to mitigate financial risks.  
Reassessment of Commercial Income Protection 
Reserve to a level equivalent to 15% of rental income. 
Continued delivery of Bridging the Gap activity and 
additional £1.3m of activity approved by Cabinet in 
November 2018. 
Development of a new Medium Term Financial 
Strategy for the council once the outcomes of the Fair 
Funding Review and Retained Business Rates 
Scheme design are known. 

Director 
(Corporate Services) 

Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services) 

On-going 

Continued maintenance of the Medium Term Financial 
Plan.   

Modelling of the effects of the Fair Funding review and 
Retained Business Rates Retention Scheme once 
known. 

Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services) 

On-going  

Continuation of the programme of development for the 
council’s Financial Management System. 

Continue compliance with budget monitoring 
arrangements 

 
Assistant Director 

(Corporate Services) On-going 

Continuation of approach to responding to central 
government consultations on funding for local 
government 

Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services) 

On-going 

Target for end of the 2019-20 financial year 

Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12 

    

Page 176



7 | P a g e  

The Risk Changes in national priorities and legislative 
change 

Risk No. 2 

Assessment 
Date 

 January 2019 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

All Portfolios 

Risk 
Background 

The council needs to keep abreast of developments in legislation to 
ensure that it is best placed to respond to any changes it may face. 
Failure to account for the Government’s legislative programme may 
involve:  

 Change of direction for the council may be required.  

 Changes result in additional costs/ workloads for staff.  

 Severe financial position encountered which may restrict which 
services the council can deliver (see Risk 1).  

 Failure to meet stakeholder expectations.  

 Funding pressures / increased costs of working.  

 Staff morale falls with potential for sick absence due to stress.  

 Increased scrutiny from Members and other relevant bodies.  

Consequences  Change of direction for the council may be required.  

 Changes result in additional costs/ workloads for staff.  

 Severe financial position encountered which may restrict which 
services the council can deliver (see Risk 1).  

 Failure to meet stakeholder expectations.  

 Funding pressures / increased costs of working.  

 Staff morale falls with potential for sick absence due to stress.  

 Increased scrutiny from Members and other relevant bodies. 

Controls already 
in place  

 Circulation of monthly policy & legislative briefings 

 Proactive arrangements to respond to consultations from central 
government departments and agencies. 

 Establishment of new Member training and development plan for 
the next three years 

 Maintenance of interaction with partner agencies 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Corporate Plan 2015-19  
Medium Term Financial Strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan  

Risk Owner (s) Chief Executive and Management Team  

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Continued circulation of monthly policy & legislative 
briefings 

Corporate 
Performance 

Manager 
 

On-going 

Make proactive arrangements to respond to 
consultations from central government departments 
and agencies. 

Wider Management 
Team 

 

On-going  
 

 

Page 177



8 | P a g e  

 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Develop a Member Induction Programme to support 
all Members elected to the Council in the May 2019 
Local Elections.  Continue to deliver a training and 
development plan to Members. 

Committee Services 
Manager/Wider 

Management Team 

On-going 
 

Maintain interaction with partnership agencies Committee Services 
Manager/Corporate 

Performance 
Manager 

On-going 

Target for end of the 2019-20 financial year 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

Page 178



9 | P a g e  

 

The Risk Organisational capacity/ resilience Risk No. 3 

Assessment 
Date 

 January 2019 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Deputy Leader (but affects all portfolios) 

Risk 
Background 

The council’s Management Team have put in place a number of 
arrangements to help to deal with the reduction in Government 
funding over the medium term, including approval of all new 
appointments and the cessation of temporary staff contracts and non-
contractual overtime (except in exceptional circumstances). The 
recent announcements on local government finance are going to 
require decisions to be taken about future service delivery, and these 
actions are likely to see changes to the staff establishment. This, in 
turn, will place greater demands on remaining staff, exposing the 
council to key person dependency and the risk of poor resilience. 
Management and staff can help improve organisational capacity and 
resilience by identifying critical tasks, working flexibly across 
departments and developing the skills and abilities of key leaders and 
staff. The council also need to ensure that it has plans in place to cope 
with other potential impacts on capacity which may result from severe 
weather, building damage or pandemic to ensure that key services 
can continue to be delivered 

Consequences  Council unprepared for changes resulting in pressure being placed 
on resources, this in turn could lead to the council struggling to 
meet changes in demand for services. 

 Services areas with reduced staff will suffer a greater impact which 
in turn will add pressures on already stretched recourses. 

 Increased organisational stress can negatively impact productivity, 
which in turn can reduce staff motivation, create low morale and 
increase sickness and stress levels.  

 The council will be required to provide additional help and support 
to overcome the problems that result from increased 
organisational stress. 

 Increases in liability claims and weaknesses in internal controls 
could result due to there being insufficient staff resources to carry 
out essential roles and responsibilities.  

 Cuts in services and a potential drop in service quality is also 
possible.  
 

Controls already 
in place  

Effective allocation of resources 

Flexible working arrangements 

Provision of training and support  

Workforce Support 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Corporate Business Plan 2015-19 

Workforce Development Plan 

Risk Owner (s) Chief Executive and Management Team 

Page 179



10 | P a g e  

 

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Management Team to continue with consistently 
reviewing staff vacancies and restructuring 
opportunities to ensure that resources are allocated 
effectively in each area, this will be complemented by 
regular budgetary and performance management data 
which identifies areas of the council that are 
experiencing pressures 

Management Team On-going  

Shared service opportunities will continue to be 
explored and provide more flexibility to staff who 
transfer to larger authorities. 

Management Team On-going  

Appraisals will continue to be carried out on an annual 
basis and training needs identified.  Workforce 
development will maintain liaison with Service 
Managers and above to identify training programme 
for the year ahead which will be monitored by HR. All 
employees will be given access to a wide range of e-
leaning and the ability to book onto physical training 
courses  

Director 
(Communities) 

On-going  

Joint staff forum meetings are to continue and be held 
every 8 weeks with members of management team in 
attendance as well as trade union representatives.  

HR will maintain monthly catch up meetings with the 
Trade Unions in order to discuss concerns that may 
be raised by their members. 

Director 
(Communities) 

On-going  

Target for end of the 2019-20 financial year 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

Page 180



11 | P a g e  

 

The Risk Implementation of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 

Risk No. 
4 

Assessment 
Date 

January 2019 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Housing (H) 

Risk 
Background 

The Homelessness Reduction Bill received Royal Assent on 27th April 
2017 and is now an Act. The date of enactment is 1 April 2018. The 
Homelessness Reduction Act (HR Act) amends Part 7 of the Housing 
Act 1996. There are 13 clauses that amend many of the previous 
homelessness duties and brought in a substantial number of new 
duties. The Council’s Housing Options Service has got to grips with 
the new duties as required in order to comply with the legislation. The 
Act places additional burdens on the council and whilst some financial 
assistance was made available by the Government to assist in 
meeting the new duties, this has so far not been sufficient to meet the 
new burden, particularly in relation to the increased cost of temporary 
accommodation provision. The limited supply of dwellings to assist in 
meeting the new duties also continues to be an area of concern.  
 
There remains a risk of legal challenge if the authority is unable to 
meet the new legal duties arising from the Homelessness Reduction 
Act. There is also a financial risk to the Council due to an increase in 
temporary accommodation costs if there are insufficient resources to 
manage the increase in demand for the service. Funding from the 
Government provided to tackle homelessness is for an initial period of 
3 years to ensure that the new legislation can be successfully 
implemented and there are still no guarantees of similar levels of 
funding beyond March 
 

Consequences  New legislative requirements not met. 

 Budgets depleted in attempts to fulfil the additional requirements. 

 Reputational damage 

 Adverse impact on staff morale and retention due to the required 
significant changes to the assessment process and the focus of 
casework, including a doubling of homelessness applications.  

 The service needs to be ‘geared up’ to manage a large increase in 
applications and the casework that will be required for each 
application under the HRAct changes 

Controls already 
in place  

 Maintain an understanding of the level of additional duties 

 Team Structure reviewed to deliver additional duties 

 Service to continue following cessation of New Burdens funding 

 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Medium Term Financial Plan 

Risk Owner (s) Director (Housing and Regeneration); Assistant Director (Housing) 

Page 181



12 | P a g e  

 

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Keep abreast of any amendments or changes in the 
level of additional duties 

Assistant Director 

(Housing) 

Ongoing 

 

Regular review of Team Structure to ongoing ability 
to deliver the required duties and promote 
awareness / understanding of additional team 
workload 

Assistant Director 

(Housing) 
Ongoing 

Ensuring sustainability of the service 
following cessation of New Burdens 
funding 

Assistant Director 

(Housing) 

Ongoing 

 

Target for end of the 2019-20 financial year 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

Page 182



13 | P a g e  

 

The Risk Universal Credit Risk No. 5 

Assessment 
Date 

January 2019 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12 

 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Performance & Administration (PA) 

Risk 
Background 

Gravesham adopted Universal Credit ‘Live’ service in its most basic 
form on the 18 May 2015 for single residents only in prescribed 
circumstances. The impact was minimal and did not produce a risk 
score. Universal Credit live service was closed to new claims from 31 
December 2017. 
Universal Credit ‘Full’ service commenced in May 2018 and is 
available for all types of claimant with the exception of a few 
categories. 
The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) has overall 
responsibility for implementing Universal Credit, although the Council 
has a key role in in providing Universal Support to residents who wish 
to claim. However Gravesham Citizens Advice provides the Assisted 
Digital Support and Personal Budgeting Support on our behalf. 
From 1 April 2019 the DWP will sub contract Citizens Advice to do the 
Assisted Digital Support and Personal Budgeting Support directly. 
Gravesham has its own housing and under the housing benefit 
scheme a weekly transaction was paid to the housing account without 
the tenant having to take responsibility and providing security of 
payment for the Council and security of tenancy for the customer. 
Under UC there is no certainty that Housing will receive the housing 
cost payment if the customer receives the payment direct. 

Consequences There remains much uncertainty as to the exact direct and indirect 
consequences of the changes upon the authority, particularly whether 
resources to support the scheme will still be required to be retained by 
the council (and at what level) once administration of Universal Credit 
is taken over by the Department for Work and Pensions in its entirety. 
Initial data shows that currently in Full service caseload has dropped 
and the number of new claims received is starting to reduce however 
the workload has actually increased as a result of the number of 
notifications that the DWP JCP send through on a daily/weekly basis.  
Direct consequences are;  

 A reduction in HB caseload  

 A reduction in council dwelling rental income and increase 
in rent arrears as payments will be made direct to the 
tenant, rather than direct to the rent account as they are 
now  

 Increase in workload for Housing Team  

 Increases in evictions/homelessness/voids  

 Rise in level of corporate debt  

 Customers may suffer hardship  
 
Indirect consequences are also expected, with increased costs of 
cash handling through the shift away from rebating benefit to cash 
transactions  

 

Page 183



14 | P a g e  

 

Controls already 
in place  

 Regular Meetings planned to take place with JCP Senior Officers. 

 Customers given help with claiming Universal Credit and 
managing finances. 

 Monitoring the impact of Universal Credit upon the Housing 
collection rate. 

 Contact with residents as well as social and private landlords to 
establish impact on Universal Credit  

  Maintain briefing arrangements for members and staff and provide 
regular updates of any changes 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Corporate Business Plan 2015-19 

Revenues & Benefits Business Plan 

HRA Business Plan 

Risk Owner (s) Director (Corporate Services) Service Manager Revenues & Benefits 

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Continued liaison and meetings with the JCP by 
revenues and Benefits Officers, alongside officers 
from Housing, Customer Services and the Citizens 
Advice Bureau. 

Service Manager 
(Revenues and 

Benefits) 

Assistant Revenues 
and Benefits 

Manager 

On-going 

 

Citizens Advice to provide Personal Budgeting 
Support and Assisted Digital Support with the help of 
funding from the JCP. 

Service Manager 
(Revenues & 

Benefits) 

Assistant Director 
(Housing) 

On-going 

 

Housing officers have access to the Landlord Portal, 
are aware of all tenants in receipt of UC and continue 
to closely monitor Rent Accounts. Opportunities to 
make arrangements for direct payment where 
appropriate will be sought. 

Assistant Director 
(Housing) 

On going 

 

Liaison will continue with the DWP, CAB, Housing, 
Private /Social landlords, council tenants and 
Customer Services to ensure that residents can be 
kept informed of how the introduction of UC Full 
Service will affect them.  

Service Manager 
(Revenues & 

Benefits) 

On-going 

 

Briefing arrangements will be maintained to keep 
Members and staff regularly updated of any changes 
that occur. 

Service Manager 
(Revenues & 

Benefits) 

On-going 

 

Target for end of the 2019-20 financial year 

Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12 

 

Page 184



15 | P a g e  

 

 

The Risk Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the 
European Union 

Risk No. 
6 

Assessment 
Date 

January 2019 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

Cabinet Portfolio All Portfolios 

Risk 
Background 

In June 2016, the United Kingdom (UK) voted to leave the European 
Union (EU).  The UK is scheduled to leave the EU at 11pm local time 
on 29 March 2019.  A withdrawal agreement and political declaration 
on future ties with the bloc were announced by the Prime Minister in 
November, though there has been little public support for this and the 
House of Commons vote on the exit agreement was lost on 15 January 
2019.  This has led to a heightened level of political and economic 
uncertainty around the future of the country as well as uncertainty as to 
whether Brexit will actually take place on 29 March 2019. In a ‘No Deal’ 
situation, the UK would revert to World Trade Organisation rules after 
29 March 2019. 

Consequences  Lack of clarity on when the EU withdrawal may take place or impact 
on government spending plans. 

 Difficulty in delivering services due to disruption to the road network 
as a consequence of increased border and customs checks on port 
freight traffic.  Disruption in particular to waste collection and 
disposal and to staff ability to reach their usual place of work. 

 Potential for council income from services to reduce due to service 
disruption or changes to customer behaviour (car parking). 

 Potential longer term impacts on staffing and future recruitment and 
legal and regulatory framework of the country. 

 Potential impacts on the council’s supply chain and the 
procurement of supplies and services (through actual supply and 
inflation-linked contracts). 

 Potential to cause instability in interest rates, affecting investment 
decisions, returns from current investments and pension fund 
liabilities.  Potential to cause a downgrading in UK sovereign rating 
and UK institutional ratings, limiting options for investment 
decisions. Impact may also be felt on existing commercial property 
rental income returns and capital values. 

 Potential impacts on funding for longer term regeneration and 
infrastructure development plans. 

 Increased risk of intentional attempts to disrupt council services 
around 29 March 2019 through cyber and other means. 

 Social Unrest and increase in public disorder. 

 

Page 185



16 | P a g e  

Controls already 
in place  

 The council is part of the Kent Resilience Forum (KRF) who are co-
ordinating Kent-wide Brexit contingency planning arrangements 

 Business Continuity Plans up to date and in place for all services. 

 Arrangements are in place to enable some staff to work from 
alternative locations or work flexibly in the event that they are 
unable to travel to their normal place of employment.  

 Engagement with key partners and key supply chain providers to 
seek assurance on their preparedness. 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Business Continuity Plans 

Risk Owner (s) Management Team 

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Proactive engagement with County-wide contingency 
planning arrangements. 

David Hughes  

(as part of the KRF 
Executive Board) 

On-going 

Business Continuity Plans to be reviewed and 
updated to ensure they remain fit for purpose. 

Wider Management 
Team On-going 

IT Infrastructure to support remote working where 
possible. 
Consideration of alternative working patterns where 
this may support service continuity, or review hours of 
service provision. 
Consideration of additional staffing or temporary 
redeployment of staff to high priority services 
Consideration of reciprocal cross-authority working 
opportunities to support critical service delivery and 
enable staff to work at their nearest local authority 
temporarily. 

Wider Management 
Team On-going 

Maintain interaction with key partners and supply 
chain providers to seek assurance on their 
preparedness 

Wider Management 
Team On-going 

Target for end of the 2019-20 financial year 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

Page 186



17 | P a g e  

 

The Risk Cyberattack Resulting in data breach or 
Corruption of data 

Risk No. 
7 

Assessment 
Date 

January 2019 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 3 Impact 4 Score 12 Likelihood 3 Impact 4 Score 12 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Leader 

Risk 
Background 

As more reliance grows on IT Systems the risks surrounding a 
cyberattack disrupting those systems becomes more important. Whilst 
there is no specific targeted threat to local government (confirmed by 
the National Cyber Security Centre), criminal activity via Cyber 
methods remains the most likely motivation. The "Official 2019 Annual 
Cybercrime Report,” by Cybersecurity Ventures lists Cyber Crime as 
the  world's biggest criminal growth industry. 
 
Whilst technical and non-technical controls can be put in place to 
reduce the ease at which an IT Infrastructure can be attacked, 
unknown vulnerabilities (zero day threats) and / or a determined 
attacker can defeat even the most secure systems. 
 
Alongside protecting systems should be well practiced incident 
response plans 

Consequences A cyberattack can result in the unavailability of systems for normal 
use, destruction of systems and data, and the theft of data for criminal 
use. 

Controls already 
in place  

 Technical security controls 

 Security policies 

 IT health checks and penetration tests 

 Incident Response Plans 

 Cyberattack exercise scenarios 

 Mandatory training for staff and Members on cyber security 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Business Continuity Plans 

Risk Owner (s) Director (Corporate Services) 

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action 
Lead 

Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Ensure technical controls (such as firewalls, anti-virus, 
filtering, log monitoring) remain in place and are regularly 
reviewed. 

Ensure offsite backup arrangements remain in place and 
are regularly reviewed. 

Continue with maintaining participation in local and national 
Warning, Advice and Reporting Points for up to date 
situational intelligence information 

Continue maintaining  direct engagement with the National 
Cyber Security Centre and use of their Active Cyber 

Service 
Manager (IT 

Services 

On-going 

Page 187



18 | P a g e  

Defence tools 

Complete improvements to existing controls which includes 
additional backup facilities, faster recovery from backups 
and a partnership approach to proactively monitoring 
security event information. 

Expand existing Business Continuity Plans so they cover in 
more detail the specifics of cyberattacks. 

Engage with the Local Resilience Partnership through the 
MHCLG Pathfinder programme to ensure multi-agency 
response is appropriate 

Conduct regular exercises to assess cyberattack recovery 
plans 

Service 
Manager (IT 

Services 
Ongoing 

Required Management Action 
Lead 

Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Rollout training to all staff and members to raise awareness 
of the cyber threat and to promote good practice to 
minimise the human risk factor 

Service 
Manager (IT 

Services 
Ongoing 

Target for end of the 2019-20 financial year 

Likelihood 3 Impact 4 Score 12 

 

Page 188



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 4 February 2019 / 18 February 2019

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Budget Monitoring Report 2018/19 – Quarter Three

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2018/19, including known variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan 
or Financial Statements.

Recommendations:

1. This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2018/19 financial year for 
the third quarter to 31 December 2018 as well as updating Members on other key areas 
of financial performance. 

1.2. The council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good 
financial governance and respond to the pressures on the council’s finances.  In addition 
to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring reports, 
these actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring recruitment activity (relating to both permanent and temporary 
appointments, and including use of overtime) to be considered and approved by 
Management Team;

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the council’s Bridging the Gap Strategy, 
as set out in the current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

Page 189 Agenda Item 11



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

General Fund (Revenue)

2.1. At the end of Quarter Three there is projected underspend for the year of £823,330.  
Movements affecting the forecast position against the original budget for the year in the 
main pertain to continued implementation of Bridging the Gap activity.

2.2. Because the council ended 2017/18 in a favourable position, budgets totalling £146,360 
were approved for carry forward into 2018/19.

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end are projected to be £8.29m, constituted of 
the minimum working balances of £1.25m, the General Fund reserve of £4m and usable 
Working Balances of £3.04m. 

2.4. Movements in the year are projected to result in a net increase in reserves of £0.97m, 
with the level of reserves being £7.50m at start of year and projected to be £8.47m at 
year- end.

2.5. Significant risks to the General Fund’s financial position continue to come from the lack 
of clarity regarding the future of local government funding and legislative change, such 
as the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act.  

General Fund (Capital)

2.6. The revised budget of the General Fund Capital Programme for the year is £17.72m, 
including £13.25m to support furtherance of the council’s land and commercial property 
portfolio and £3.10m to fund the initial works to redevelop the St George’s Shopping 
Centre.  Actual spend to the end of Quarter Three was £9.39m.

HRA (Revenue)

2.7. At the end of Quarter Three income and expenditure for the year remains balanced, 
albeit the budgeted contribution from reserves to fund revenue expenditure planned for 
the year is no longer required and current information actually indicates a contribution to 
the General HRA Reserve at year-end. The main movements affecting the forecast 
position against the original budget for the year are a reduction in planned repairs and 
maintenance spend due to the delivery of efficiencies in processes as experienced 
towards the end of the last financial year, and savings against staffing budgets.

2.8. The level of Working Balances at year-end are projected to be £3.0m, at the minimum 
level of Working Balances for the HRA.  Movements in the year are projected to result in 
a net decrease in the General HRA Reserves of £2.56m, with the level of reserves being 
£7.44m at start of year and projected to be £4.88m at year-end.

2.9. As with the GF, the significant risk to the HRA’s financial position continues to be the 
lack of clarity regarding funding and regulatory reform.  

Housing Capital

2.10. The revised budget for the Housing Capital Programme for the year is £14.76m, with 
spend to the end of Quarter Three of £11.12m.

Page 190



3

3. GENERAL FUND (REVENUE)

3.1. Budget 2018/19

3.1.1. The approved Original Budget Requirement for 2018/19 was £12,622,790, funded by 
retained Non-Domestic Rates, New Homes Bonus, Council Tax and use of £1,329,640 
Usable Working Balances, in accordance with the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

3.1.2. The table below sets out the current assessment of performance against the Original 
Budget by Directorate, based on known variances as at 31 December 2018. 

 

Directorate / Budget Heading
Original 
Budget 

2018/19 (£)

Forecast 
2018/19 (£)

Variation 
2018/19 (£)

All Directorate - Salaries 0 (507,800) (507,800)
Chief Executive 44,870 44,870 0
Communities 4,199,860 4,005,780 (194,080)
Corporate Services 3,856,280 3,756,170 (100,110)
Environment & Operations 2,598,380 2,400,050 (198,330)
Housing & Regeneration 2,110,220 2,127,900 17,680
Items Carried Forward from 2017-18 0 146,360 146,360
Non-Directorate Specific 1,113,390 1,113,390 0
Interest and Investment Income (627,320) (876,550) (249,230)
Government Grant Funding (904,470) (939,870) (35,400)
Transfers to/ (from) reserves 609,770 932,800 323,030
Transfers to/ (from) balances 1,035,980 1,485,980 450,000
Transactions below the line (1,414,170) (1,285,600) 128,570
BUDGET REQUIREMENT 12,622,790 12,403,480 (219,310)

Business Rates Income (3,679,110) (4,283,130) (604,020)
Council Tax Income (6,705,200) (6,705,200) 0
Parish Precepts (323,120) (323,120) 0
Passported Parish Grant 1,040 1,040 0
New Homes Bonus (586,760) (586,760) 0
Transfers to/(from) the Collection Fund 0 0 0
Use of Working Balances (1,329,640) (1,329,640) 0
BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND) 0 (823,330) (823,330)   

Table 1: General Fund Revenue Outturn by Directorate / Budget heading

 
3.2. ALL DIRECTORATE – SALARIES

3.2.1. Staffing: £508k favourable variance - the General Fund staffing budget for 2018/19 
incorporates a vacancy allowance of £350k for the year. It is anticipated that this will 
occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover within day-to-
day business activities, as well as posts being held vacant pending the re-design of 
services. The current year-end projection is an underspend of £858k, therefore giving 
rise to the net favourable variance of £508k.

Page 191



4

3.3. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE – NIL VARIANCE

3.3.1. There are no significant variances to report.

3.4. COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE –  £194k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.4.1. Acquisition of site at Stuart Road, Gravesend:  £377k favourable variance – in June 
2017 Full Council gave approval for a second tranche of £10m from investment 
balances to be made available for purchases under the council’s existing Property 
Acquisition Strategy. In June 2018, the Council completed the acquisition of the site at 
Stuart Road, Gravesend, currently tenanted by Wickes, which is anticipated to provide a 
current year rental income stream of £377k. The projected full-year income from 
2019/20 onwards is £511k. 

3.4.2. HR Shared Services: £23k favourable variance – as part of Bridging The Gap activity 
identified within the MTFS, the council has explored various shared service opportunities 
in recent years. From 1st April 2018 a shared Human Resources service with Medway 
Council has been established, producing an initial positive effect to the council’s Medium 
Term Financial Plan (MTFP) of £23k. Going forwards as processes are harmonised and 
developed further there may be scope for additional financial benefits, which will be 
reported on in due course. Additionally, the shared service provides greater resilience, 
for example enabling utilisation of the existing recruitment and training teams within 
Medway’s structure.  

3.4.3. Borough Market: neutral variance – although no overall variation is currently 
anticipated, it should be noted that the latest income projections for the market are for a 
£37k year-end deficit in 2018/19 as a result of unit vacancies. There are expected to be, 
however, underspends across staffing and running expense budgets e.g. on repairs and 
maintenance due to the building being relatively new.  Savings on such areas are 
therefore currently projected to contribute to a neutral position overall.  

3.4.4. Safer Stronger Communities: neutral variance – the council has successfully secured 
funding from the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) to support the activity of 
Gravesham’s Community Safety Unit in 2018-19.  It is intended that these funds are 
used to provide specialist intervention work for young people involved in gang activity, to 
meet some of the costs of seasonal and crime prevention activity and to contribute to the 
cost of new and mobile CCTV camera deployments, in part related to tackling serious 
and organised crime.  The funding also includes a small tactical amount to address any 
unforeseen priorities that may occur during the year.

3.4.5. War Memorials: neutral variance – reserve funding of £21k from previously 
unallocated grant balances has been made available to support World War One 
commemoration activity within the borough. This principally involves 
cleaning/conservation work of existing war memorials and supporting the national “There 
But Not There” campaign, which aims to educate all generations in understanding the 
fate of British and Commonwealth soldiers during World War One. 

3.4.6. Information Governance:  £41k adverse variance – prior to General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) 2016/679 coming into implementation on 25th May 2018, the council 
considered resourcing options in terms of managing the potential impact of GDPR 
changes. The result is a further cost of £41k financing an additional post within the Legal 
& Information Governance shared service with Medway Council to support the council in 
responding to the enhanced challenges.

Page 192



5

3.4.7. St Georges’ Shopping Centre rental income: £146k adverse variance – the council 
holds the freehold interest of the St Georges Shopping Centre, though this had 
previously been subject to a 150-year lease to Queenridge Properties since 1982.  
Under the terms of the lease the council received a “basic rent” of £195k per annum and 
an “additional rent” of 10% of the rents that Queenridge Properties received from the 
occupying tenants in excess of £1.95m per annum. To date, no additional rent has ever 
been payable.

3.4.8. At Cabinet in April 2018, the council agreed to enter into an agreement with Reef 
Estates Group for redevelopment of the St George’s Centre. Detailed financial modelling 
was undertaken, incorporating projected annual lease payments to Reef, returns made 
on the initial investment balance received by the council, and rental income receivable 
from the centre. The expectation is that the inflows to the council of rental and 
investment income will be equal, or more than equal, to the annual lease payments for 
the 50-year term of the lease. 

3.4.9. As a result of this change, the arrangement whereby the council received a “basic rent” 
of £195k per annum (as referenced in paragraph 3.3.3) for the Shopping Centre has 
now ceased and been replaced by the new income and expenditure forecasts. 
Resultantly, there is part-year adverse variance in 2018/19’s MTFP of £146k, with a full 
year effect of £195k from 2019/20 onwards.  New arrangements for the running of the 
Heritage Quarter are covered within the financial modelling undertaken, and therefore it 
is projected that over the lifetime of the project, there will be both financial and non-
financial benefits to the Council of redeveloping the St George’s Centre.

3.4.10. Other Minor Variances: £19k adverse variance – a number of minor variances have 
been reported within the Communities Directorate; the net effect of these variances is 
£19k.

3.5. CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE – £100k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.5.1. Corporate Expenses: £77k favourable variance – following activity to refine budgetary 
arrangements including analysis of historic items held on the balance sheet, £77k has 
been released into revenue, generating a positive effect to the Council’s MTFP in 
2018/19. 

3.5.2. Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service: £16k favourable variance - an 
underspend in the service hosted at Medway Council has arisen, largely due to staff 
vacancies  which have generated a favourable salary budget variation.  Although part of 
this saving has been re-directed to upgrading the existing IT equipment to facilitate 
greater agile working and efficiencies, there is an overall projected underspend in 
Gravesham’s contribution to Medway Council for 2018/19 of £16k. 

3.5.3. External Audit Fee: £9k favourable variance – in April 2018 the council received 
notification of the planned audit fee relating to the annual Statement of Accounts for 
2018/19. This is £41k, which represents a reduction from the 2017/18 fee and previously 
budgeted figure of £53k. This has resulted in a positive effect to the General Fund MTFP 
of £9k, with the remaining £3k reflected as a saving within HRA budgets.

3.5.4. St George’s Centre professional services: neutral variance – as reported to Cabinet 
and Overview Scrutiny in May, the council engaged professional services in areas such 
as legal, property, treasury management and taxation to advise on the termination of the 
Development Agreement with Queenridge Properties and the agreement between the 
council and the Reef Estates Group for redevelopment of the St George’s Centre.  The 

Page 193



6

£217k costs of these services are being met from the Growth Fund Reserve, which 
holds monies generated as a result of the council being part of the Kent Business Rates 
Pool and is to be used to fund activity to promote economic growth. 

3.5.5. Corporate Debt Pilot System: neutral variance – funding from the Corporate Priorities 
Reserve of £9k has been made available to support a pilot project for the central 
collation, analysis and management of debt across the council. The project involves 
utilising specialist software to draw data from different income streams, carry out 
matching activity and guide officers in determining specific courses of action for 
individual debtors of the council.

3.5.6. Other Minor Variances: £2k adverse variance – a number of minor variances have 
been reported within the Corporate Services Directorate; the net effect of these 
variances is £2k.

3.6. ENVIRONMENT & OPERATIONS DIRECTORATE –  £199k FAVOURABLE 
VARIANCE

3.6.1. Waste Recycling Support Payment: £153k favourable variance – the 2017/18 
payment received from KCC was £153k greater than estimated.  This has created a 
favourable variance in 2018/19.

3.6.2. Garden Waste Collection Service: £70k favourable variance – the garden waste 
subscription service has continued to flourish in 2018/19 with over 750 new customers 
joining during the early months of the year.  This additional volume, in conjunction with a 
review of the existing charging structure from 1st April 2018, has led to additional net 
income of £70k compared to the original budget. 

3.6.3. Refuse Collection – KCC contribution: £45k favourable variance – KCC have 
reimbursed the council for the additional tipping-away costs (such as fuel and staffing) 
incurred due to the fire at the Pepperhill site. This income will offset staff overtime and 
additional fuel which was required for travelling further when the site was closed.

3.6.4. Waste & Street Cleansing fuel costs: £20k adverse variance – the cost of fuel 
continues to rise.  The forecast as at quarter three is an overspend of £20k.

3.6.5. Security costs: £24k adverse variance – the council has been required to make use of 
additional security services during the year due to an increase in the number of security 
risks and unauthorised traveller encampments within parks and car parks in the 
borough.

3.6.6. Waste Freighter Vehicle parts: £25k adverse variance – there are on-going reliability 
issues with the refuse vehicles which has resulted in higher maintenance costs than 
provided for within the original budget. Rectification of defects with these vehicles 
requires the purchase of replacement parts and as this is expected to continue at the 
same rate for the remainder of the year, the current forecast is an adverse variance of 
£25k.  In the longer term, the plan to diversify the fleet of refuse vehicles in terms of 
make and model of vehicles used will help to minimise the risk of higher than anticipated 
vehicle maintenance costs.

Page 194



7

3.7. HOUSING & REGENERATION – £18k ADVERSE  VARIANCE

3.7.1. STG Building Control Partnership: £18k adverse variance – as a result of an 
unexpected fall in income from building regulation applications in the third quarter of the 
current year, the Director of STG is now forecasting an overall income deficit across the 
partnership.  A principal driver of this is the sustained challenging period for the 
construction industry with falling profitability in five months, and narrow avoidance of 
being declared officially in recession.  This factor has been compounded by an increase 
in approved inspector activity, which has led to increased competitors for STG 
competing in a smaller market.  Resultantly each member of the partnership is likely to 
be required to make an additional contribution in order to balance overall STG finances, 
and the impact for Gravesham in 2018/19 is therefore a projected overspend compared 
to the original budget of £18k.

3.7.2. Digitisation of Planning records: neutral variance – the Planning Department has 26 
years of planning history stored on approximately 68,000 microfiche covering 1974 -
2000. This medium for storing information is out dated and time intensive when 
retrieving information from them.  Funding of £22k was made available from the 
Corporate Priorities Reserve to undertake this work and, prior to 2018/19, £16k had 
been spent.  The remaining £8k has been released into 2018/19. 

Page 195



8

3.8. ITEMS CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2017/18 – £146k

3.8.1. The following items from 2017/18 have been approved for carry forward to 2018/19 by 
the Section 151 Officer and the Council’s Management Team: 

Table 2: Items Carried Forward from 2017/18

Page 196



9

3.9. INTEREST AND INVESTMENT INCOME – £249k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 

3.9.1. Interest & Investment Income: £249k favourable variance – the budgeted return for 
interest and investment income for 2018/19 is £627k.  The Council continues to hold 
£10m invested in three Externally Managed Property Funds and a further £10m invested 
in three Multi-Asset Funds.  Dividends received in relation to the third quarter of 2018/19 
indicate the return on these investments is projected to exceed budgetary expectations.  
The balance of the Council’s investments is held in fixed term deposits, certificates of 
deposit and money market funds; again, the returns on these investments are projected 
to be above budget.  

3.9.2. On 2 August 2018 the Bank of England announced an increase in the base rate from 
0.50% to 0.75%, the highest level since March 2009. The net impact of this increase 
combined with the projected returns for Property Funds, Multi-Asset Funds and 
traditional investments described above, is projected additional income of £189k for 
2018/19.

3.9.3. As part of the agreement for redevelopment of the St George’s Centre (as set out within 
the Communities Directorate), a sum of £14.2m was received by the Council to finance 
the capital works required. Under the terms of the agreement, the Council is able to 
invest and earn interest on this sum until it is fully expended, and the project completed. 
Investments have therefore been made in money market funds and certificates of 
deposit, with a projected benefit to the MTFP of £60k income for 2018/19.

3.10. FUNDING STREAMS – £263k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.10.1. Government Grant Funding – Section 31 grants – see Business Rates Income 
section below.

3.10.2. Transfers to/(from) reserves: £323k adverse variance – in addition to a favourable 
variance of a net £218k relating to reserve drawdowns funding specific service 
expenditure (described below under “Transactions below the line”), there are further 
projected movements now being reflected as at Quarter Three:

  NNDR Growth Fund Reserve – following the latest projections arising from the 
Council’s participation in the Kent Business Rates Pool, there is a small 
reduction of £9k compared to the original budgeted contribution to this reserve.

  NNDR Equalisation Reserve – in lieu of the Council’s anticipated payment to the 
Collection Fund required in 2019/20 (funded from this reserve), the opportunity 
is being taken in 2018/19 to top-up this reserve in advance by a further £136k 
compared to the original budget, thus ensuring that from 2019/20 onwards a 
level of £500k is maintained. 

  Commercial Income Protection Reserve – as the Council now has greater 
exposure to rental income streams, particularly since the commencement of the 
Property Acquisition Strategy designed at purchasing sites to generate a net 
income stream, it is felt prudent to set money aside to negate lost rental from, 
void periods and provide for repair works required, service charges etc. 
Consequently a contribution of £414k has been made to the reserve in 2018/19, 
with the reserve level for all years now reflecting 15% of the overall rental 
income projected for each year.

Page 197



10

3.10.3. The total variation for “Transfers to/(from) reserves” is therefore a combination of the net 
£218k relating to reserve drawdowns funding specific service expenditure, and the 
further net movement of £541k relating to additional reserve contributions made – an 
overall adverse variance of £323k.

3.10.4. Transactions below the line: £129k adverse variance – under accounting 
arrangements the corresponding entries relating to reserve-funded expenditure within 
services (the drawdown from the reserve and the transfer into the specific service) are 
shown here. To this effect, a movement of £218k is projected relating to the reserve 
funded items as described within the Communities, Corporate Services, and Housing & 
Regeneration Directorate sections, and also within the Specific Reserves section 
starting at paragraph 3.11.

3.10.5. The council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund capital 
expenditure each year through a revenue charge known as Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP).  The budget for the 2018-19 MRP charge was set based on the assumption that 
internal cash balances of £5m would be utilised for Commercial Property Acquisition in 
2017-18.  However, in 2017-18 capital expenditure, which required funding by utilising 
cash balances, totalled £2.1m, therefore this has reduced the MRP charge in 2018-19 
by £89k.

3.10.6. The total variation within “Transactions below the line” is therefore a combination of the 
£218k relating to accounting arrangements corresponding to reserve movements, and 
the projected underspend of £89k on the Minimum Revenue Provision – an overall net 
adverse variance of £129k.

3.10.7. Transfers to/(from) balances & Business Rates Income: £189k favourable variance 
– the council entered into the Kent Business Rates Pilot scheme for 2018/19 from 1st 
April whereby the 50% of any business rate growth previously paid over to Central 
Government would instead be retained within Kent.  In setting the budget for 2018/19, 
the council anticipated receiving £250k from the Financial Sustainability Fund 
established through the pilot, with this amount being transferred straight to working 
balances as a means of providing sustainability of the council’s financial position.  
Following the latest business rates monitoring across Kent, a healthy position is 
projected and therefore a further £450k benefit to the council from the Financial 
Sustainability Fund is being recognised at this stage. This is also being applied directly 
to working balances (and therefore has a neutral effect on the MTFP “bottom-line”), the 
effect of which can be found in the table in section 3.12.

3.10.8. In addition to the Pilot scheme described above, the Council also continues to be a 
member of the Kent Business Rates Pool. Latest monitoring indicates a healthy position 
with additional funds of £15k now projected for 2018/19. Furthermore, adjustments to 
the tariff baseline mechanism of £94k have now been realised, resulting in an overall net 
MTFP surplus for Business Rates of £109k.

3.10.9. The projection for Section 31 grants received to compensate the Council for various 
business rate reliefs granted (within the Government Grant Funding section) has also 
been updated, giving a net benefit to the MTFP of £35k.

3.10.10. As part of the provisional finance settlement, the Government announced a one-off 
distribution from the NNDR levy account surplus. The allocation for Gravesham is £45k.

3.10.11. Therefore the total variation for this section is a combination of the £109k net Business 
Rates surplus, the projected additional Section 31 Grant income of £35k, and the levy 
account distribution of £45k – an overall favourable variance to the MTFP of £145k.

Page 198



11

3.11. Other Variances and Risks not reflected in the Current Budget

3.11.1. Fees and Charges (General) – Income received from fees and charges supports the 
annual budget. Monitoring to the end of December indicates that income streams are 
generally performing well against budget; monitoring will continue during the year with 
any known variances reported through budget monitoring reports.

3.11.2. Homelessness – The introduction of the new homelessness legislation at the start of 
the financial year continues to have an upward effect on the number of households the 
council has a duty to assist.  In Quarter Three of 2018/19 the council was approached by 
379 households requiring assistance to resolve their housing issues.  This has resulted 
in 92 households being housed in temporary accommodation (including legacy cases), a 
slight increase on the 91 households requiring such assistance at the end of Quarter 
Two.

3.11.3. Furthermore, in discharging the council’s duties to prevent and relieve homelessness, 50 
cases were prevented from becoming homeless in Quarter Three at the prevention 
stage, by either being able to remain in their current accommodation or by securing 
alternative accommodation.  Similarly, 13 cases were resolved at the relief stage, with 
these households moving into settled housing.

3.11.4. At the end of the quarter there were 152 open cases, of which 14 were at triage stage, 
31 at the prevention stage and a further 34 at the relief stage.  The increased demand 
for homelessness assistance has resulted in greater use of temporary accommodation 
than originally anticipated, with some £290k spent on providing temporary housing to 
households seeking assistance in the first nine months of the year.  This additional 
expenditure can currently be offset through Housing Benefit and use of grant funding 
provided by central government to meet the anticipated new burdens the change in 
legislation would create, thus resulting in a neutral variance against the budget for the 
year. Officers are, however, assessing the situation to ascertain what further action is 
required to manage spend.

3.12. Working Balances and Reserves

3.12.1. The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect 
upon the General Fund working balances:

Balance Brought Forward from 2017/18 7,305,450 
New Homes Bonus (Straight to working balances) 586,760 
NNDR Income - Kent Pilot & Pool (Straight to working balances) 449,220 
NNDR Income - Additional growth in Kent Pilot released to Q3 450,000 
Budgeted use of Working Balances to support the General Fund (1,329,640)
Variances per budget report (Incl.items Bfwd from 2017/18) 823,330 
Forecast Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 31 December 2018) including 
Minimum GF Working Balance 8,285,120 
Less: Minimum GF balance (1,250,000)
Less: Additional General Fund Reserve (4,000,000)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 31 December 2018) 3,035,120 

Working Balances £

 Table 3: Effect on General Fund Balances

Page 199



12

3.12.2. The general working balance is supplemented by specific reserves, established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year.

Opening Forecast Forecast Forecast
General Fund Earmarked Reserves Balance Use of Reserve Contributions Balance

01/04/2018 (Expenditure) (Income) 31/03/2019
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning Policy Reserve 393 (90) 50 353 
Asset Enhancement Reserve 904 (176) 100 828 

 Spend to Save Reserve (Inc.Digital Team) 148 9 157 
Leisure Centres Reserve 1,007 (135) 375 1,247 
Corporate Priorities Reserve 140 (60) 80 
Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 91 (5) 13 99 

 Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS) Reserve 100 (50) 50 
Elections Reserve 149 23 172 

 NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 500 166 666 
IT Infrastructure Reserve 85 (60) 75 100 

 DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve 31 (105) 435 361 
 Freighter Replacement Reserve 559 221 780 
NNDR Growth Fund Reserve 447 (240) 220 427 

 Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150 150 
Woodville Repairs Reserve 57 57 114 
Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500 500 

 Commerical Income Protection Reserve 100 (16) 414 498 
 Service Review Reserve 258 (11) 247 
 Playgrounds Reserve 100 100 
Decriminalisation Reserve 42 42 
Sub-total - Specific Earmarked Reserves 5,761 (948) 2,158 6,971 

 Revenue Grants not yet applied 1,737 (257) 16 1,496 

Total - All Earmarked Reserves 7,498 (1,205) 2,174 8,467 

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves

3.12.3. Significant or new approved use of reserves include:

3.12.4. Planning Policy Reserve – £90k has been released from the Planning Policy reserve to 
cover expenditure incurred to date in 2018/19 associated with the Local Plan.

3.12.5. Corporate Priorities Reserve – £9k Corporate Debt Pilot Systems (Corporate 
Services), £8k Microfilming work (Housing & Regeneration), £25k Feasibility Studies re 
land adjacent to Dering Way and at Milton Place.

3.12.6. NNDR Equalisation Reserve – see section 3.10.

3.12.7. DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve – a contribution of £330k is being made to the reserve in 
2018/19 funded from the repairs & maintenance underspend within HRA budgets. This 
will finance additional vehicles required as part of the expansion of the Council’s 
Housing Repairs service.

3.12.8. NNDR Growth Fund Reserve – £217k has been released to fund the provision of 
specialist professional services associated with the redevelopment of the St George’s 
Centre (Corporate Services).

3.12.9. Commercial Income Protection Reserve – see section 3.10.

Page 200



13

3.12.10. Revenue Grants not yet applied – £91k Flexible Homelessness Grant received in 
2017/18 now released to fund temporary accommodation costs, £21k released to War 
Memorials project (as described within the Communities Directorate section), £28k 
released from Healthy Living Centre reserve to fund various GRAND activities in 
2018/19, £20k released from the Waste Grant to fund Depot improvement works, £38k 
Revenues & Benefits grants released to fund temporary staffing and system upgrade 
costs. 

Page 201



14

3.13. Medium Term Financial Planning

3.13.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to 
take into account longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government 
grants and energy prices, together with building in all known variances to the Council’s 
budget as a result of Management Team and Cabinet decisions.  The latest version of 
the Medium Term Financial Plan is attached to this report at Appendix Two.

3.13.2. The Government has decided to introduce a statutory override to accounting changes to 
pooled investments proposed by the introduction of International Financial Reporting 
Standard 9 (IFRS9).  The standard, implemented from 1 April 2018, initially required 
local authorities who hold certain types of financial instruments to account for any growth 
or reduction in the capital value of those investments in their annual accounts.   The 
statutory override, which is for five years, is intended to enable authorities to effectively 
consider whether they wish to continue to invest, extract themselves from such 
investments or build up their reserves to cover any movements. During the period of the 
statutory override, local authorities will be required to disclose profits and losses from 
pooled investments to as a separate line item in reserves.

3.13.3. On 29 October 2018 the Chancellor delivered his second Autumn Budget, which fired 
the starting gun for the 2019 Spending Review.  The Chancellor announced that there 
would be average real term increases in Resource Departmental Expenditure Limits 
(RDEL) over the next five years of 1.2% per annum, albeit the funding already 
announced for the NHS exceed this level of increase, implying that some departments 
may see funding actually at existing levels or reduced.  The Chancellor also announced 
continued adjustments to the Business Rates Scheme, with bills to be cut by one-third 
for retailers including shops, cafes and restaurants in England with a rateable value 
below £51,000, for 2 years from April 2019 (subject to state aid limits). 

3.13.4. On 13 December 2018 the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement was 
announced. The provisional settlement is the final year of the multi-year finance 
settlement announced in 2016-17 and completes the Government’s intended reduction 
in the total level of funding for local government over the period to 2019/20.  The 
settlement provided a slightly improved position than that expected due to the decision 
of Government to provide an additional £153m of funding to those authorities that were 
due to pay negative RSG for 2019/20.  At the same time, however, it was announced 
that Kent & Medway had been unsuccessful in retaining Pilot Status for Business Rates 
in 2019/20. 

3.13.5. As part of the activity to prepare the draft budget for 2019/20, a review of the council’s 
reserves and working balances has been conducted.  Having considered the risks to the 
council’s financial stability, professional advice and reserve practice of other comparator 
authorities it is the opinion of the Director (Corporate Services), that the minimum of 
£3,250,000 in General Fund working balances should be increased to £5,250,000 during 
2019/20, constituted:

 a minimum working balance of £1.25m to assist cash flow
 £4m General Revenue Reserve to enable the Council to meet unforeseen 

challenges or pressures on its financial position (previously £2m).   

Page 202



15

4. GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1 The following table details the General Fund Capital Programme as at Quarter 3, this 
includes the revised original budget for 2018/19, taking into consideration adjustments 
for carried forward items, as approved by the Section151 Officer and Management team.

Scheme

2018/19 
Original 

Budget inc 
C/Fwd              

£

2018/19 
Approved 

Adjustments                        
£

2018/19 
Working 
Budget                    

£

2018/19 
Actual 

Expenditure 
Qtr 3                  

£

Outstanding 
Balance               

£
Older Persons Champion 6,410 0 6,410 1,028 (5,382)
Essential Repairs to Buildings 99,000 0 99,000 23,503 (75,497)
Gravesend Cemetery Improvements 21,580 0 21,580 0 (21,580)
Local Enterprise Partnership Projects 56,920 0 56,920 4,101 (52,819)
Town Pier Pontoon 84,000 0 84,000 52,743 (31,257)
Parrock St Car Park - Toilet Block (Provision) 34,220 (34,220) 0 0 0
Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 205,000 0 205,000 153,892 (51,108)
Gatekeeper Replacement 50,000 (50,000) 0 0 0
New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling 100,000 0 100,000 0 (100,000)
Waste & Horticulture back office system 200,000 0 200,000 0 (200,000)
Replacement Playground Programme 220,000 (102,300) 117,700 117,695 (5)
Queen Elizabeth II Statue 38,650 0 38,650 9,098 (29,552)
IT Equipment Review 50,540 0 50,540 24,753 (25,787)
Virtual Desktop Infrastructure Software 8,800 0 8,800 8,869 69
Information at Work - Retention Module Software 13,970 0 13,970 13,965 (5)
Civica Financial System upgrade 22,070 0 22,070 13,795 (8,275)
Brookvale Office Accommodation 1,500,000 (1,400,000) 100,000 20,965 (79,035)
St John's House - Refurbishment 70,000 0 70,000 67,526 (2,474)
Property Acquisition Programme 9,141,200 3,871,400 13,012,600 8,480,369 (4,532,231)
Land Acquisiton Programme 0 239,620 239,620 239,623 3
Heritage Quarter - St George's Centre 0 3,104,080 3,104,080 113,045 (2,991,035)
Cascades Replacement Flumes 0 100,000 100,000 0 (100,000)
AV Equipment, Council Chamber 0 39,910 39,910 17,459 (22,452)
Roller Brake Testing 0 30,000 30,000 27,495 (2,505)

11,922,360 5,798,490 17,720,850 9,389,924 (8,330,926)

Table 5: General Fund Capital Programme 2018/19

 Older Persons Champion – the budget for a number of projects was carried forward 
from 2017/18.  Two new benches have now been installed at Portreeve Court.  The 
match funding for Age UK North West Kent bathroom refurbishment is still available.

 Essential Repairs to Buildings – an order has been placed for installing LED lights in 
Civic Centre car park and Committee Section area (the later in order to take account of 
revised layout).  The concrete repair matter has been referred to Legal as the 
Consultant appointed to assist the council had not been responding to requests for 
information.  Legal are now in contact with the Consultant and the Contractor who 
carried out the works.

 Gravesend Cemetery Improvements - the new cemetery software is currently being 
implemented.

 Local Enterprise Partnership Projects (LEP Funded) – Town Centre Way Finding 
signage is now complete with no further changes anticipated until the Barrack Row bus 
interchange is built in 2019.

 Town Pier remedial works – works have now been completed.  The tenant was 
invoiced for the works in December 2018.

 Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) – the workshop are currently awaiting delivery of a 
new ride on mower and panel van.

Page 203



16

 Gatekeeper Replacement – a report has been submitted to Management Team for the 
next stage of this scheme.  The case for ANPR enforcement of a Bus Gate at King 
Street will be made in writing to the Kent Parking and Enforcement Manager at KCC.  

 New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling - a review is taking place looking at blocks of 
flats to determine the number of bins required.

 Waste & Horticulture Back Office System – the preferred supplier for the Waste 
Management Software has been selected and implementation has started.

 Replacement Artificial Sports Pitches - the council has agreed in principle to 
providing £50,000 towards the replacement of the artificial pitch surface as operated by 
the Gravesham Sports Trust, located at the Gravesend Rugby Football Club site. This 
facility was highlighted within the Gravesham 2016 Playing Pitch Strategy as 
strategically important to the local area but in need of refurbishment. The trust are 
currently sourcing some additional funds to cover the total cost of replacement 
(approximately £250k) including the Gravesend Grammar School, Hockey Foundation 
etc.  This scheme has now been moved into the 2019/20 budget.

 Replacement Playground Programme – agreement has been given to update a 
number of sites including Central Avenue, Durndale Lane, Waterton Avenue and 
Wombwell Park.  The procurement for these sites will be undertaken during quarter four.

 Queen Elizabeth II Statue – expenditure on the Queen’s statue has been wholly funded 
from third-party contributions. The Right Reverend James Langstaff, Bishop of 
Rochester and Bishop to H.M. Prisons unveiled the statue jointly with the Leader of the 
Council on 26th July 2018.

 IT Equipment review - work on this project is nearing completion with only a few 
departments awaiting their new equipment to be installed.

 Virtual Desktop Infrastructure software – the work on the “Workspace Suite” phase 
for mobile devices has now been completed.

 Information at Work - Retention Module Software – the module has now been 
installed.

 Civica Financials System Upgrade – the works required to upgrade the server hosting 
the council’s financial systems and the reporting and operations element of the system 
itself have commenced and are due to be completed in February 2019.  

 Brookvale Office Accommodation - works have commenced at the Brookvale Depot 
to prepare the site for development, which is now planned to take place in 2019/20.

 St John’s House Refurbishment - refurbishment works were completed in early 
November and the premises has been let on a 10-year fully repairing and insuring lease 
with effect from 21st December 2018.

 Property Acquisition Programme – in December 2018 Full Council agreed to extend 
the total funding available for the programme to £26.2m.  The council is currently 
seeking to finalise two acquisitions in the final quarter of this financial year, the 
remaining budget has been added to the 2019/20 capital programme. 

 Land Acquisition Programme - there has been no further activity under this 
programme in quarter three.

Page 204



17

 Heritage Quarter (St George’s Centre) - the planning application for the first phase of 
the refurbishment of the St Georges Shopping Centre was approved in December.  
Work is due to commence on the re-enlivenment of the mall areas of the centre in early 
2019.

 Cascades Replacement Flumes - a structural steel survey and flume survey have 
been completed in partnership with GCLL. A specification document is to be developed 
soon in order to tender for the works.

 AV Equipment Council Chamber – the work to replace the projector and enlarge the 
screen within the council chamber commenced before the Christmas period. The 
remaining work to replace the televisions in committee suite 1 and 4 and renew the 
induction (hearing) loops within all the committee suites is scheduled to take place in 
early 2019.  All work is due to completed fully by the end of March and within the 
existing budget.

 Roller Brake Testing – an order for the brake roller testing equipment has been placed 
and it is expected the equipment will be installed by the end of January 2019.

4.2 Capital Resources

4.2.1 The table below shows the General Fund resources available to fund capital projects in 
the future:

General Fund Capital Resources

Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2018                 
£

Actual    
Income        
2018/19                           

£           

Proposed Use 
of Funding 

2018/19                                                          
£       

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2019           
£

Capital Receipts (1,145,475) (6,670) 226,990 (925,155)
S106 Capital Contributions (274,494) (259,462) 52,900 (481,056)
Capital Grants unapplied (588,280) 0 421,640 (166,640)
Total Capital Resources (2,008,249) (266,132) 701,530 (1,572,851)

Table 6: General Fund Capital Resources 2018/19

Capital Grants Unapplied

Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2018                 
£

Actual      
Income        
2018/19                           

£           

Proposed Use 
of Funding 

2018/19              
£

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2019              
£

Public Realm Improvement & Maint Funds (213,540) 0 213,540 0
Transport Quarter Stage 3 (223,610) 0 208,100 (15,510)
Localised Council Tax Support (89,220) 0 0 (89,220)
Local Enterprise Partnership Funding (6,910) 0 0 (6,910)
Land at South of Hever Court Road (55,000) 0 0 (55,000)
Total Capital Grants Unapplied (588,280) 0 421,640 (166,640)

Table 7: Capital Grants Unapplied 2018/19

Page 205



4.2.2 The table below lists the S106 developer contributions currently held by the council.  These contributions are treated as specific grants as 
they have conditions attached to their use.

S106 Developer Contributions General 
Fund          

£
HRA               

£

Third Party 
Contributions     

£ 

Total S106 
Income 
2018/19                  

£

Purpose of S106

Leith Park Road Development 0 (5,680) 0 (5,680)

Originally paid by developer in lieu of providing affordable housing units at Leith 
Park Road. Originally received £310,000.  This balance will be used to fund part of 
the Housing capital programme in 2018/19.

Infrastructure Maintenance Depot (IMD) 
Compensation fund (2,594) 0 0 (2,594)

This grant fund was established by money secured from Union Rail the 
developers of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link. The original contribution was 
£242,000. Its aim is to support the delivery of landscape access, wildlife and 
recreation schemes in the Wards and Parishes affected by the development. 

Land at the South of Hever Court Road 0 0 (80,000) (80,000) Highways contribution.
Springhead Quarter 0 (250,000) 0 (250,000) Provision or major upgrade of affordable housing.

Whitehill Open Space (52,000) 0 0 (52,000)

Towards qualitative improvements to the wider Whitehill amenity space. These 
funds might be put towards a number of potential opportunities including, for 
example, new seating, footpath improvements, new planting and/or the levelling of 
the retained amenity space to the north of the proposed development.

Land South of Dalefield Way, Dering Way (67,000) 0 0 (67,000)
Flood Risk Management - £12,000, Bus Shelter - £5,000, £50,000 Cascades 
Leisure Contribution.

Whitehill Road   0 0 (1,000) (1,000) Highways contribution

Springhead Leisure Contribution (150,000) 0 0 (150,000)
To provide additional and/or improved play facilities at the Recreational ground 
and if not expended in 7 years after payment any unspent sum should be repaid

Bluewater - Gravesend Town Centre Improvements (259,462) (259,462)
A scheme to improve or enhance the environmental setting, visitor and shopper 
experience, and / or attractiveness of Gravesend Town Centre.

Total S106 Contributions (531,056) (255,680) (81,000) (867,736)

Table 8: S106 Contributions 2018/19

P
age 206



5 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 

5.1 Budget 2018/19

5.1.1 The table below sets out the current forecast spend against the original budget for the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA), based on variances to 31 December 2018.

5.1.2 As at 31 December 2018 the forecast reflects a saving of £1.05m due to variances 
within Supervision and Management, Repairs and Maintenance and Capital Finance 
against the Original Budget.

Description
Original 
Budget 

2018/19 (£)

Forecast    
2018/19 (£) Variation (£)

Supervision and Management 6,014,770 5,444,770 (570,000)
Repairs and Maintenance 7,766,870 7,351,870 (415,000)
Depreciation 6,813,840 6,813,840 0
Supporting People Fund - Expenditure 667,200 667,200 0
Capital Finance 6,539,560 6,519,560 (20,000)
Sub Total Expenditure 27,802,240 26,797,240 (1,005,000)
Rents of Dwellings (25,298,700) (25,156,640) 142,060
Other Rental Income (33,370) (33,370) 0
Service Charges (1,380,300) (1,380,300) 0
Non Dwelling Income (327,130) (327,130) 0
Supporting People Fund -Service Charge Income (103,480) (103,480) 0
Supporting People Fund - Grant (418,160) (418,160) 0
Other Income (112,260) (112,260) 0
Sub Total Income (27,673,400) (27,531,340) 142,060
Contributions to/(from) reserves (128,840) 734,100 862,940
Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0

Table 9: Housing Revenue Account 2018/19

5.2 SUPERVISION & MANAGEMENT –  £570k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

5.2.1 Vacancy Management: £550k favourable variance – the HRA staffing budget for 
2018/19 incorporates a vacancy allowance of £100k for the year. It is anticipated that 
this will occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover within 
day-to-day business activities, as well as posts held vacant pending the re-design of 
services. The current year-end projection is an underspend of £650k, therefore giving 
rise to the net favourable variance of £550k.

5.2.2 Stock Condition Survey: £20k adverse variance – It has been agreed to increase the 
number of properties included in the 2018/19 stock condition survey from 1,000 to 2,000 
properties.  This brings forward work proposed for 2019/20 and will produce enhanced 
financial information which will improve the quality of future financial projections on 
repairs and maintenance spend to inform both the revenue and capital programme for 
2019/20 and beyond.  The cost of the additional properties to be surveyed will result in 
an additional cost of £20,000.

Page 207



20

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE – £415k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

5.2.3 Repairs & Maintenance: £420k – favourable variance – As reported in the 2017/18 
outturn report, significant changes within the Responsive Repairs Team continue to 
deliver efficiencies and savings whilst providing an equitable service that meets the 
council’s objectives as a landlord as well as managing tenant’s expectations.  The IT 
system that was introduced continues to support the evolution of the service.  It creates  
further opportunities to work in smarter ways to deliver efficiencies and savings, 
underpinned and reinforced by the introduction of the new and updated polices to 
ensure that only necessary work is carried out and that any works above and beyond 
the responsibility of the council are paid for by the tenant. These changes align to 
recommendations of the Overview Scrutiny Committee; Housing repairs Topic Review 
(Part 2). The position is reduced from that reported in Quarter One following the decision 
by Cabinet to expand the in-house Building Management Team; the report to Cabinet 
set out the need to make a contribution to the Vehicle Replacement Reserve to offset 
the capital cost of new vehicles required for the additional staff.  Whilst the current 
projected underspend at the end of the current financial year is likely, it is also important 
to remember that this budget funds a reactive service where demand naturally fluctuates 
in response to factors outside of the council’s control.

5.2.4 Other Minor Variances: £5k adverse variance – a number of minor variances have 
been reported within Repairs & Maintenance, the net effect of these variances is £5k.

5.3 CAPITAL FINANCE – £20k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

5.3.1 Interest Payable: £20k – favourable variance – the HRA’s share of interest costs on 
external borrowing is lower than originally budgeted as no additional debt was taken in 
2017/18.

5.4 RENTS ON DWELLINGS – £147k ADVERSE VARIANCE

5.4.1 Provision for Bad Debt: £147k – adverse variance – due to the roll out of Universal 
Credits, the provision for bad debt has been adjusted to reflect the potential impact of 
increased rent arrears due to benefits being paid directly to tenants.

5.5 Working Balances and Reserves

5.5.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect 
upon the General Fund working balances:
 

Working Balances £

Balance Brought Forward from 2017/18 3,000,000
Variances per budget report 734,100
Forecast working balances C/Fwd (as at 31 December 2018) including 
minimum HRA Working Balance 3,734,100

Less: Transfer to HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (734,100)
Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd (as at 31 December 2018) 3,000,000

Table 10: Effect on Housing Revenue Account Working Balances

Page 208



21

5.5.2 The working balances are supplemented by specific reserves established to assist with 
future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year.

 

HRA Specific Reserves
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2018

Forecast         
Use of Reserve 

(Expenditure)

Forecast 
Contributions 

(Income)

Forecast 
Balance              

31/03/2019
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (7,441) 3,298 (734) (4,877)
Total (7,441) 3,298 (734) (4,877)

Table 11: Analysis of Specific Reserves – HRA

5.6 HRA Business Planning

5.6.1 The HRA Business Plan is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to take into account 
longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government grants and energy 
prices, together with building in all known variances to the budget resulting from 
Management Team and Cabinet decisions.

5.6.2 The HRA Business Plan reflects the current and future financial spend profiles identified 
in the recent Stock Condition Survey produced by Penningtons in July 2018.  It also 
reflects future forecasts of the New Build Programme beyond the existing three year 
scheme based on the current assumption of the sale of 30 Council Houses per annum.

5.6.3 The latest version of the HRA Business Plan is attached to this report at Appendix 
Three.

5.6.4 On 14 August 2018 Government launched the Social Housing Green Paper, which was 
closely followed by consultation papers being released on right to buy sales and social 
housing rents from April 2020 onwards.  The council responded to these consultations, 
though no response from Government on its intentions has been released as yet.

5.6.5 Following on from the Prime Minister’s announcement at the Conservative Party 
Conference, the Chancellor’s Autumn Budget 2018 confirmed that the removal of the 
Housing Revenue Account borrowing cap from 29 October 2018.

6 HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

6.1 The Housing Capital programme for 2018/19 is £14,760,140 of which £13,383,240 
relates to HRA capital schemes and £1,376,900 relates to non-HRA capital schemes.  
These budgets included £231,230 and £544,140, respectively that are carried forward 
from 2017/18.

6.2 The HRA capital schemes continued to focus on the minimum decent homes standard 
for the Council’s stock in 2018/19, with £7,356,680 earmarked for this purpose within the 
Replacement, Improvement and Health & Safety Programmes.  The council also 
continued its commitment to build new homes with £5,326,780 allocated for this 
purpose.

Page 209



22

 

Ref No: Project
 Original Budget 

2018-19 inc CFwd 
(£)

Expenditure 
Including 

Commitments 
(£)

Balance 
Outstanding 

(£)

A Replacement Programmes 4,017,940 2,494,880 (1,523,060)
B Improvement Programmes 2,228,320 2,488,730 260,410
C Health & Safety Works 1,110,420 500,680 (609,740)
D New Build & Acquisions 5,326,780 4,853,560 (473,220)
E Housing Computer Systems 600,000 0 (600,000)
F Virtual Desktop Infrastructure 2,930 3,130 200
G Replacement Play Equipment 80,000 0 (80,000)
H IT Equipment Review 16,850 8,250 (8,600)

Sub Total (HRA Capital Programme) 13,383,240 10,349,230 (3,034,010)
I Disabled Facilities Grant 1,514,590 770,410 (744,180)

Total (HRA & GF Capital Programme) 14,897,830 11,119,640 (3,778,190)

HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Table 12: Housing Capital Programme 2018/19

6.3 The works undertaken/completed in Quarter Three are detailed below:

6.3.1 Replacement Programmes (Ref A) - the following works have been completed YTD, 
Quarter 3:

 126 kitchen replacements;

 83 bathroom replacements;

 95 properties had new window and door replacements;

 751 properties had electrical tests and/or remedial works including rewiring, 
minor works and upgrades to consumer units;

 65 blocks have had communal electrical tests and/or remedial works completed;
 8 residential blocks had the roofing completely replaced;

 12 domestic properties have had roof renewals

6.3.2 Across the Replacement Programmes, savings of £700k is expected to be achieved at 
the end of the Financial Year.  Schemes within the programme that are contributing to 
this saving are £495k on Kitchen Programme Voids, £127k on Communal Area 
Upgrades and £78k on Roofing Programme.

6.3.3 Improvement Programmes (Ref B) - the following works have been completed YTD, 
Quarter Three:

 311 properties had new central heating systems installed;

 13 properties had new storage heating installed;

 44 properties had level access showers/wet rooms installed;

 23 properties had over-bath installations;

 22 stairs lifts were installed in properties;

Page 210



23

 5 properties had various adaptations completed including accessible kitchens, 
bathrooms and ramps;

 16 properties received renewed soakaways;

 3 properties had major renovations works completed;

 2 properties were converted from a 1 to 2 bedroom unit;

 1 block had major works carried out on the mains water supply. 

6.3.4 Health & Safety Works (Ref C) - the following works have been completed YTD,
Quarter Three: 

 Compartmentalisation works have been carried out in the basement of The Hive.  
The works were agreed as a preventative measure to help contain the spread of 
flames in the event of a fire.  In addition to this, works have been carried out to 
protect the gas and electrical meters situated in the basement;

 4 passenger lifts had modernisation works carried out to the lighting and alarm 
panels;

 336 properties had smoke alarm installations completed;

 16 blocks have had upgrades to the warden call/door entry systems

 

6.4 New Build (Ref D)

6.4.1 The authority signed an agreement with the DCLG to retain part of the Right To Buy 
(RTB) receipts and use them as part-funding of new build and/or acquisition of additional 
social housing.  The following is the reported position at the end of Quarter Two:

 The 10 unit scheme at Packham Road (now known as Alders Court) is in the final 
phase of works with 6 x 2 bed properties, having been completed in October and 
are now occupied.   The remaining units comprising of 3 x 1 bed bungalows and 
1 x 2 bed wheelchair compliant bungalow will be completed in early January 
2019 and have already been allocated;

 The council continues to consider the purchase of RTB properties and flats in 
blocks where GBC are the freeholder.  A total of 8 properties have been 
purchased during 2018/19, bringing the cumulative purchases to date to 38 
properties;

 The conversion of the Kings Farm Estate Office to a 4 bed wheelchair home was  
completed and the property occupied in 2018/19;

 Westridge Construction Limited has commenced work at St Hilda’s Way and the 
demolition of the former depot and garages is underway.  The scheme is set to 
deliver 10 x 1 and 2 bed flats, 4 x 2 bed maisonettes and 32 x 2 bed houses.  
The project is expected to complete in Winter 2019;  

Page 211



24

 Tenders for the approved Whitehill/Nansen Road scheme have been received. 
GBC’s appointed Agent will now compare the tenders and provide a full report, 
upon which, a decision will be taken to appoint a contractor;

 Pre-application meetings to discuss the proposal for the new build scheme at 
Valley Drive have taken place with the Planning Team and a planning application 
is expected to be submitted in late January 2019;

 Three further schemes are at the pre-application stage for sites at Rembrandt 
Drive/Constable Road, St Patrick’s Gardens and St Dunstan’s Drive, which if 
successful, will increase our housing stock by an additional 35 homes;

 Continued consideration is given to other sites across the Borough to enable the 
delivery of new council homes. 

6.4.2 The council is permitted to retain part of the RTB receipts to repay the debt incurred in 
2012 as part of HRA self-financing.  As at 1 April 2018, the balance on the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve fund stood at £425,980.  The proposal is to use the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve to help fund the New Build projects as this can either be used to 
repay debt or finance the capital programme.  This will ensure that the revenue surplus 
being generated can be moved to a general HRA reserve available for future use 
against either revenue or capital and that monies are only borrowed once all available 
resources have been utilised.

6.4.3 Table 13 summarises the one for one receipts retained from the sale of Right To Buy 
properties, since 2012, along with the level of GBC’s contributions required to deliver the 
New Build programme and a summary of when expenditure needs to be delivered to 
avoid having to return funds to Central Government.

Page 212



25

One for one 
receipts 
retained

GBC 70% 
contribution to 
new build

Value of new 
build 
expenditure 
expected

Cumulative value 
of new build 
expenditure 
expected

Date of new 
build expected 
by

£ £ £ £

2012-14 c/f 1,518,530 3,543,220 5,061,750 19,194,350 31-Mar-17
2014-15
Q1 174,940 408,210 583,150 5,644,910 30-Jun-17
Q2 443,310 1,034,390 1,477,700 7,122,600 30-Sep-17
Q3 327,760 764,760 1,092,520 8,215,120 31-Dec-17
Q4 865,790 2,020,160 2,885,950 11,101,070 31-Mar-18
2015-16
Q1 124,270 289,960 414,230 11,515,300 30-Jun-18
Q2 233,510 544,870 778,380 12,293,680 30-Sep-18
Q3 589,670 1,375,910 1,965,580 14,259,260 31-Dec-18
Q4 650,580 1,518,010 2,168,590 16,427,860 31-Mar-19
2016-17
Q1 697,650 1,627,850 2,325,500 18,753,360 30-Jun-19
Q2 205,200 478,790 683,990 19,437,350 30-Sep-19
Q3 541,710 1,263,990 1,805,700 21,243,060 31-Dec-19
Q4 532,670 1,242,890 1,775,560 23,018,620 31-Mar-20
2017-18
Q1 351,150 819,350 1,170,500 24,189,120 30-Jun-20
Q2 296,150 691,020 987,170 25,176,290 30-Sep-20
Q3 730,460 1,704,420 2,434,880 27,611,170 31-Dec-20
Q4 433,800 1,012,210 1,446,010 29,057,180 01-Jan-21
2018-19
Q1 694,160 1,619,710 2,313,870 31,371,040 30-Jun-21
Q2 484,630 1,130,800 1,615,430 32,986,460 30-Sep-21
Q3 379,770 884,130 1,265,900 34,252,360 31-Dec-21

10,250,310 23,917,390 34,167,700

Table 13: New Build

6.5 Housing Computer System (Ref E)
6.5.1 Discussions continue with Medway Council for the joint procurement of a new system 

and headway has been achieved in finalising the specification for the future needs of the 
business.

6.5.2 Our current system provider, Capita, has advised it is likely that formal notification of a 
sunset date is to be given during Quarter Four in the current year.  Therefore a new 
system will need to be implemented, and officers proficient on the system by July 2021.

6.5.3 As previously advised in Quarter One, it is unlikely that there will be any significant 
spend during the current year, with the majority of the capital expenditure being incurred 
in 2019/20.

Page 213



26

6.6 Replacement Playground Equipment (Ref G)

6.6.1 A review of the housing play sites was completed and an action plan is currently being 
drawn up to establish the current needs for each site.  Once completed, the capital 
funding will be allocated against the priority areas.

6.7 Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) (Ref I) 
6.7.1 The Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy has been revised and changes were 

implemented in April 2018.  The changes in policy has enabled people to gain access to 
funding which otherwise would not have been available.  An additional 12 people have 
been assisted in Quarter 3 to have better managed hospital discharges.  A further 12 
people have benefitted from measures which ensured they were discharged from 
hospital into a safer home environment, making a total number of beneficiaries to date 
24 and 41 respectively.

6.7.2 The DFG administration process continues to work well.  74 cases have been processed 
in the third quarter.  Of the 74 cases processed, the breakdown is as follows:

 23 grant cases were approved;

 10 households had works completed;

 11 applications were cancelled due to changes in the client’s circumstances;

 30 grant cases are awaiting approval.

6.7.3 In June 2018, notification was received MHCLG confirming the level of funding to be 
allocated to GBC in 2018/19.  The grant awarded this year was £832,800. However, 
MHCLG advised that further funding was available and that we were eligible to receive a 
further £137,690.  The total budget, including the rolled forward budget (committed and 
underspend) from 2017/18 of £544,140, brings the total funding available to £1,514,630.

6.8 Capital Resources
The table below shows the resources available to fund capital projects in future.

Housing Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2018 (£)

Income 
2018/19 (£)

Use of 
Funding 

2018/19 (£)

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2019 (£)
Capital Receipts - HRA (1,085,850) (255,140) 680,000 (660,990)
Capital Receipts - GF Housing (27,770) 0 0 (27,770)
Capital Receipts - PV Panels (3,573,000) 0 0 (3,573,000)
Major Repairs Reserve - Dwellings (525,330) (6,813,840) 7,145,220 (193,950)
Major Repairs Reserve - Non Dwellings (451,220) 0 0 (451,220)
New Build Reserve: 1-4-1 Receipts (5,248,330) (2,763,280) 1,598,030 (6,413,580)
Right to Buy Allowable Debt Reserve (425,980) (838,520) 155,750 (1,108,750)
Disabled Facility Grants (544,140) (970,490) 675,060 (839,570)
Christianfields Overage (766,000) 0 0 (766,000)
Total (12,647,620) (11,641,270) 10,254,060 (14,034,830)

Table 14: HRA and General Fund Housing Capital Resources 2018/19

6.8.1 Projected Capital Expenditure and funding requirements for the HRA can be found at 
Appendix Four to this report.

Page 214



27

7 TREASURY MANAGEMENT

7.1 The Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management, which sets out the principles and 
guidelines to be followed in borrowing and investment operations undertaken by Local 
Authorities.  On 6 March Full Council approved the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for 2018-19, based on the Code.  The authority’s Annual Investment Strategy 
is incorporated in the TMSS and outlines the authority’s investment priorities as being:

 Security of Capital

 Liquidity

 Yield

7.2 An update on Treasury Management performance is provided to Members through 
budget monitoring reports, with more detailed reporting of treasury management activity 
to the Finance & Audit Committee every six months. A full list of internally managed 
investments held by the Council at 31 December 2018 can be found at Appendix Five of 
this report.

7.3 The Council currently pursues a variety of investment opportunities within its Treasury 
Management strategy: 

a) Around £10m is invested in Externally Managed Property Funds generating returns 
in the region of 3-5%.

b) A further £10m is invested in three Multi-Asset funds generating returns of around 3-
4%.

c) Remaining cash balances are generally invested in short-term deposits and 
overnight money market funds currently generating returns of around 0.62%.

d) A total of £19.3m has been expended purchasing Investment Properties (including 
acquisitions and external professional support) from which initial yields have typically 
been upwards of 6%.

7.4 The following summary of Key economic developments within this reporting period has 
been provided by Link Asset Services (formerly Capita Asset Services), the authority’s 
Treasury Management.

7.5 UK - After weak economic growth of only 0.1% in quarter one, growth picked up to 0.4% 
in quarter 2 and to 0.6% in quarter 3.  However, uncertainties over Brexit look likely to 
cause growth to have weakened again in quarter 4.  After the Monetary Policy 
Committee(MPC) raised Bank Rate from 0.5% to 0.75% in August, no further increases 
have been made.  Further rate changes from the MPC are unlikely until the 
uncertainties over Brexit clear.  In the event of a disorderly exit, the MPC have said that 
rates could go up or down, though it is probably much more likely to be down to support 
growth.  The MPC has concerns over the trend in wage inflation which peaked at a new 
post financial crisis high of 3.3%, (excluding bonuses), in the three months to October.  
The main issue causing this is a lack of suitably skilled people due to the continuing 
increase in total employment and unemployment being near to 43 year lows. 
Correspondingly, the total level of vacancies has risen to new highs.

Page 215



28

7.6 CPI inflation has been falling reaching 2.3% in November. However, in the November 
Bank of England Inflation Report, the latest forecast for inflation over the two year time 
horizon was raised to being marginally above the MPC’s target of 2%, indicating a slight 
build up in inflationary pressures.

7.7 The rise in wage inflation and fall in CPI inflation is good news for consumers as their 
spending power is improving. Given the UK economy is very much services sector 
driven, an increase in household spending power is likely to feed through into providing 
some support to the overall rate of economic growth in the coming months.

7.8 In the political arena, there is a risk that the current Conservative minority government 
may be unable to muster a majority in the Commons over Brexit.  However, our central 
position is that Prime Minister May’s government will endure, despite various setbacks, 
along the route to Brexit in March 2019.  If, however, the UK faces a general election in 
2019, this could result in a potential loosening of monetary policy and therefore medium 
to longer dated gilt yields could rise on the expectation of a weak pound and concerns 
around inflation picking up.

7.9 USA - President Trump’s massive easing of fiscal policy in 2018 fuelled a (temporary) 
boost in consumption in 2018.  The strong growth in employment numbers has fed 
through to an upturn in wage inflation.  However, CPI inflation fell in November and 
looks to be on a falling trend to drop below the Fed’s target of 2% during 2019.  The Fed 
increased rates another 0.25% in December to between 2.25% and 2.50%, this being 
the fifth increase in 2018.  However, they did also reduce their forecast for further 
increases from three to two.  This latest increase compounded investor fears that the 
Fed is over doing the rate and level of increases in rates and that it is going to cause a 
US recession as a result.  There is also much evidence in previous monetary policy 
cycles of the Fed’s series of increases doing exactly that.  Consequently, we have seen 
stock markets around the world plunging under the weight of fears around the Fed’s 
actions, the trade war between the US and China, an expectation that world growth will 
slow and Brexit.

7.10 EUROZONE - Growth fell in quarter 3 but this is likely to be a one off caused primarily 
by a one off fall in car production.  The ECB forecast growth in 2018 to be 1.9% falling 
to 1.7% in 2020.  The ECB ended its programme of quantitative easing purchases of 
debt in December, which now means that the central banks in the US, UK and EU have 
all now ended the phase of post financial crisis expansion of liquidity supporting world 
financial markets

The background papers to this report are held within the Accountancy Section

Page 216



29

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX I 

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk 
Assessment

The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 31 
December against the original budget set for the 2018/19 financial year, and 
illustrate how this affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by 
the Council.

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 
Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

Corporate Plan Objective Four: Sound and self-sufficient council

Crime and 
Disorder

No direct implications

Digital and 
website 
implications

No direct implications

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

No direct implications

Page 217



This page is intentionally left blank



BMR Q3 and Budget-Setting Appendix 2

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

EXPENDITURE
Employees

Salaries (Gross) 8,534,710 7,599,560 10,948,640 10,988,800 11,256,640 11,545,360 11,833,970 12,129,880 12,433,130 12,743,930 13,108,220 
Vacancy allowance (350,000) --   (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)
Salaries (Net) 8,184,710 7,599,560 10,598,640 10,638,800 10,906,640 11,195,360 11,483,970 11,779,880 12,083,130 12,393,930 12,758,220 

Temporary Staff 94,520 97,480 392,840 402,660 412,730 423,060 433,620 444,460 455,570 466,940 478,620 
Wages 97,810 97,810 221,870 104,410 107,010 109,680 232,430 115,250 118,140 121,090 124,120 

Pension and National Insurance Contributions 2,015,370 2,009,070 2,571,420 2,596,420 2,656,210 2,727,920 2,796,110 2,866,070 2,937,990 3,011,390 3,098,300 

Other (Training, Retirement Benefits, etc) 1,493,210 1,519,880 1,510,860 1,494,970 1,512,540 1,491,090 1,492,140 1,493,220 1,494,330 1,495,470 1,495,470 

Running Expenses 9,319,930 11,139,740 10,042,070 10,344,560 10,489,550 10,695,950 11,006,100 11,289,940 11,252,160 11,351,590 11,412,090 

Capital Financing 1,323,930 1,237,180 1,623,430 1,075,820 959,250 935,360 915,920 897,720 868,690 741,810 816,720 

Net Housing Benefit Subsidy (77,330) (77,330) (95,790) (140,920) (52,120) 14,870 64,790 101,450 127,810 146,230 158,570 

Recharges to Other Accounts (224,520) (116,820) (3,014,100) (3,037,690) (3,071,820) (3,109,510) (3,156,310) (3,197,220) (3,241,560) (3,277,850) (3,319,710)

Other Government Grants (2,194,630) (2,299,600) (2,236,120) (2,012,690) (2,037,440) (2,062,690) (2,088,440) (2,114,720) (2,139,640) (2,168,870) (2,196,750)

Investment Income (627,320) (876,550) (843,720) (453,530) (364,420) (486,350) (463,400) (434,620) (175,690) --   --   

Fees & Charges (6,642,170) (7,547,710) (7,433,120) (7,190,980) (7,203,810) (7,199,370) (7,203,330) (7,217,270) (7,214,610) (7,158,000) (7,165,930)

Rental Income (2,214,590) (3,318,560) (3,713,090) (3,863,130) (4,005,950) (3,998,710) (4,025,110) (3,984,730) (4,106,990) (4,149,780) (4,193,850)

APPROPRIATIONS

Capital Items met from Balances and Reserves 105,000 161,500 1,518,300 1,228,000 685,000 605,000 420,000 305,000 305,000 505,000 505,000 

Net Contribution to / (from) Reserves 609,770 968,730 (622,740) (422,390) 263,520 434,020 495,060 659,040 813,440 537,520 537,710 

Appropriation to / (from) Balances 1,035,980 1,485,980 611,150 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 

Parish Precepts 323,120 323,120 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 

BUDGET REQUIREMENT FOR THE YEAR 12,622,790 12,403,480 11,471,640 11,651,050 12,143,630 12,662,420 13,290,290 13,890,210 14,464,510 14,903,210 15,395,320 

Business Rates Income (3,679,110) (4,283,130) (3,085,050) (2,698,680) (2,752,650) (2,807,700) (2,863,850) (2,921,130) (2,979,560) (3,039,150) (3,099,940)

Residual Revenue Support Grant (RSG) --   --   --   243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 

Less: Passported Parish Grant (LSCT) 1,040 1,040 --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

New Homes Bonus (586,760) (586,760) (611,150) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000)

Council Tax Income (6,705,200) (6,705,200) (6,892,290) (7,072,230) (7,256,830) (7,446,490) (7,640,960) (7,840,630) (8,045,590) (8,255,910) (8,471,670)

Parish Precepts (323,120) (323,120) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740)

Transfers to / (from) the Collection Fund --   --   196,460 --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

Recycling of Excess Usable Working Balances above £4m (1,329,640) (1,329,640) (739,870) (1,237,110) (1,491,120) (1,765,200) (600,970) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000)

--   (823,330) --   0 --   --   1,541,480 1,938,420 2,249,330 2,418,120 2,633,680 

--   --   --   0 --   --   1,541,480 396,940 310,910 168,790 215,560 

Projected 

2027-28

Projected 

2025-26

Projected 

2026-27

Projected 

2019-20

Original 

2018-19

Projected 

2024-25

Projected 

2022-23

Projected 

2023-24

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND)

NEW SAVINGS PER ANNUM

Projected 

2021-22

Projected 

2020-21

Projected 

2018-19

P
age 219



BMR Q3 and Budget-Setting Appendix 2

2018-19      

Original

2018-19      

Projected

2019-20      

Original

2020-21      

Original

2021-22      

Original

2022-23      

Original

2023-24      

Original

2024-25      

Original

2025-26      

Original

2026-27      

Original

2027-28      

Original

Working Balances B/Fwd (Exc. £1.25m Min) 6,055,450 6,055,450 7,035,120 6,906,400 6,216,290 5,272,170 4,053,970 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000

New Homes Bonus 586,760 586,760 611,150 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000
NNDR Income - Kent Pilot & Pool 449,220 449,220
NNDR Income - Q2 Projection re Kent Pilot 450,000

Usage of Excess Working Balances to support GF (1,329,640) (1,329,640) (739,870) (1,237,110) (1,491,120) (1,765,200) (600,970) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000)

Transfer from Balances to equalise Council Tax - - - - - - - - - - -

SUB-TOTAL (BEFORE SAVINGS REQUIREMENT) 5,761,790 6,211,790 6,906,400 6,216,290 5,272,170 4,053,970 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000

(Shortfall)/Underspend Against Original Budget - 823,330 - (0) - - (1,541,480) (1,938,420) (2,249,330) (2,418,120) (2,633,680)

GF Working Balances C/FWd (Exc. £1.25m Min) 5,761,790 7,035,120 6,906,400 6,216,290 5,272,170 4,053,970 2,458,520 520,100 (1,729,230) (4,147,350) (6,781,030)

Specific Reserves (as at end of year)

Spend to Save Reserve (incl. Digital Team) 148,220 157,460 159,560 161,660 163,760 165,860 167,960 170,060 172,160 174,260 176,360

Corporate Priorities Reserve 139,880 79,770 79,770 79,770 79,770 79,770 79,770 79,770 79,770 79,770 79,770

Asset Enhancement Reserve 903,510 827,500 519,200 146,200 66,200 66,200 51,200 151,200 251,200 351,200 451,200

Planning Policy Reserve 393,470 353,470 403,470 453,470 503,470 553,470 603,470 653,470 703,470 753,470 803,470

Gravesham CAN Reserve - - - - - - - - - -

Leisure Centres Reserve 1,006,960 1,247,330 1,528,630 1,517,530 1,801,430 2,085,330 2,429,230 2,773,130 3,117,030 3,460,930 3,804,830

Decriminalisation (General) 42,240 42,240 42,240 142,240 242,240 342,240 442,240 542,240 642,240 742,240 842,240

Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 90,990 98,490 110,990 99,490 111,990 124,490 107,990 120,490 132,990 145,490 157,990

Local Authority Mortgage Scheme Reserve 100,000 50,000 25,000 - - - - - - - -

Elections Reserve 149,410 171,750 51,750 81,750 111,750 141,750 51,750 81,750 111,750 141,750 171,750

IT Infrastructure Reserve 84,730 99,730 174,730 79,730 34,730 109,730 144,730 89,730 34,730 (20,270) (75,270)

DSO Fleet Vehicle Replacement Reserve 31,410 361,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410

Waste Freighter Replacement Reserve 559,010 780,360 1,001,710 1,223,060 1,444,410 1,665,760 1,887,110 2,108,460 2,329,810 2,551,160 2,772,510

Business Rates Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 500,000 665,860 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

Growth Fund Reserve 447,390 426,970 411,610 411,610 411,610 411,610 411,610 411,610 411,610 411,610 411,610

Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000

Service Review Reserve 257,580 246,780 196,780 196,780 196,780 196,780 196,780 196,780 196,780 196,780 196,780

Playgrounds Reserve 100,000 100,000 - - - - - - - - -

Woodville Repairs Reserve 57,250 114,500 171,750 229,000 286,250 343,500 400,750 458,000 515,250 572,500 629,750

Commercial Income Protection Reserve 100,000 497,780 556,960 579,470 600,890 599,810 603,770 597,710 616,050 622,470 629,080

Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

TOTAL BALANCES & RESERVES 11,523,840 14,006,520 13,521,960 12,799,460 12,508,860 12,121,680 11,218,290 10,135,910 8,767,020 7,217,420 5,452,450

NB: ADDT. MINIMUM WORKING BALANCES 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000

INCLUDED WITHIN THIS VERSION OF THE PLAN

Council Tax increase of 2.97% in 19-20, then 2% thereafter.  Council Tax Base reduced by 0.17% in 19-20, growth of 0.60% annually thereafter.

Growth in salaries as per latest employers' offer 2018-19 & 2019-20. 2.5% annually thereafter - including pay award & incremental growth.

RSG as per Multi-year settlement offer.  NHB Scheme payments as per revised scheme announced December 2016.

Business Rates income based on actual projected income to be received, net of S31 Grants for busines rate relief initiatives (shown in Other Government Grant Line).

Analysis of Balances & Specific Reserves Balances 

as at the end of the Financial Year (i.e. 31 March)                                       

P
age 220



Original 

Budget Q3

HRA Budget Monitoring 2018.19 2018.19 2019.20 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28

Expenditure

Supervision and Management 6,015           5,445 5,357 5,529 5,700 5,871 6,047 6,229 6,415 6,608 6,806

Repairs and Maintenance 7,767           7,352 7,618 7,975 8,142 8,305 8,471 8,640 8,813 8,989 9,169

Depreciation 6,814           6,814 6,912 7,060 7,088 7,088 7,093 7,099 7,104 7,110 7,116

Intense Housing Management - Expenditure 667              667 667 689 710 732 753 776 799 823 848

Capital Finance 6,539           6,520 7,017 3,983 3,912 3,716 3,490 3,228 2,943 3,002 3,171

RCCO 0 0 0 3,396 3,681 2,502 1,952 7,675 8,214 6,235 5,879

Total Expenditure 27,802        26,797 27,572 28,631 29,234 28,212 27,806 33,646 34,289 32,768 32,989

Income

Rents of Dwellings (25,300) (25,157) (25,031) (26,094) (26,965) (27,631) (28,312) (29,010) (29,435) (29,866) (30,303)

Other Rental Income (Phone masts etc) (33) (33) (29) (30) (31) (32) (33) (34) (35) (36) (37)

Service Charges (1,380) (1,380) (1,400) (1,445) (1,489) (1,534) (1,580) (1,627) (1,676) (1,727) (1,778)

Non Dwelling Income (Garages & Commercial) (327) (327) (140) (144) (149) (153) (158) (163) (168) (173) (178)

Intense Housing Management  - Service Charge Income (103) (103) (103) (107) (110) (113) (117) (120) (124) (128) (131)

Intense Housing Management - Other Income (418) (418) (418) (418) (418) (418) (418) (418) (418) (418) (418)

Other Income (Interest, Ins Reimburse & CCentre) (112) (112) (112) (115) (117) (119) (122) (124) (127) (129) (132)

Total Income (27,673) (27,531) (27,234) (28,353) (29,279) (30,001) (30,740) (31,497) (31,983) (32,477) (32,978)

Contributions to/(from) reserves (129) 734 (338) (278) 45 1,788 2,934 (2,150) (2,306) (291) (12)

Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balances and Reserves

HRA Working Balances

B/fwd Balance 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

Variances per budget report (129) 734 (338) (278) 45 1,788 2,934 (2,150) (2,306) (291) (12)

Forecast Working Balances C/fwd 2,871 3,734 2,662 2,722 3,045 4,788 5,934 850 694 2,709 2,988

Movement to/(from) HRA General Reserve (129) 734 (338) (278) 45 1,788 2,934 (2,150) (2,306) (291) (12)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

HRA General Reserve

Opening Balance 7,441 7,441 4,878 1,367 (103) (58) 1,731 4,664 2,515 209 (82)

Use to support revenue position (129) 0 (337) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Use in capital financing (3,574) (3,298) (3,173) (1,192) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Surplus on HRA revenue account 0 734 0 0 45 1,788 2,934 0 0 0 0

Deficit on HRA revenue account 0 0 (0) (278) 0 0 0 (2,150) (2,306) (291) (12)

Forecast HRA General Reserve Balances C/fwd 3,738 4,878 1,367 (103) (58) 1,731 4,664 2,515 209 (82) (93)

Funding Shortfall 0 0 0 (103) (58) 0 0 0 0 (82) (93)

P
age 221



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Original 

Budget Q3

HRA Capital Budget Monitoring 2018.19 2018.19 2019.20 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28

Capital Expendture

Capital Maintenance Expenditure

Replacement Programme 3,977 3,312 4,537 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Improvement Programme 2,091 2,234 2,069 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Health & Safety 1,078 1,110 1,138 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Planned Maintenance 0 0 0 7,142 3,948 2,609 1,696 7,021 7,148 7,276 7,407

Heating Installations 0 0 0 1,224 1,247 1,270 1,293 1,316 1,340 1,364 1,388

Disabled Adaptations 0 0 0 306 312 317 323 329 335 341 347

Asbestos Management 0 0 0 71 73 74 75 77 78 80 81

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 7,146 6,657 7,744 8,744 5,580 4,270 3,387 8,743 8,900 9,061 9,224

Other Capital Expenditure

Housing Computer System 600 0 600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Virtual Desktop & IT Infrastructure 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Play Equipment 80 0 80 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 680 20 680 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Expenditure

Packham Road 1,228 1,228 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Market Purchases 0 2,039 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Kings Farm 152 152 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

St Hilda's 1,411 1,411 1,284 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Whitehill Road 0 78 3,680 3,963 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Valley Drive Bedsits 0 25 2,501 6,655 125 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other New Build Scheme 2,536 0 0 0 8,677 8,827 9,310 9,843 10,396 10,971 11,567

New Build Expenditure Total 5,327 4,934 7,465 10,618 8,801 8,827 9,310 9,843 10,396 10,971 11,567

Total Capital Expenditure 13,153 11,610 15,889 19,362 14,381 13,097 12,697 18,586 19,297 20,031 20,791

Financing

RCCO 0 0 0 (3,396) (3,681) (2,502) (1,952) (7,675) (8,214) (6,235) (5,879)

HRA Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA New Build Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

MRR (7,145) (6,401) (8,221) (7,140) (7,088) (7,088) (7,093) (7,099) (7,104) (7,110) (7,116)

RTB - Attributable Debt (156) (156) (1,530) (1,299) (859) (859) (859) (859) (859) (859) (859)

RTB - LA Share 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - Transaction Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Capital receipts (680) (20) (725) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gen Cap Reserve 0 0 0 (0) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gen Cap Reserve 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB Buyback 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA General Reserve (3,574) (3,298) (3,173) (1,192) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA Reserve 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - 141 Receipts (1,598) (1,480) (2,239) (3,185) (2,640) (2,648) (2,793) (2,953) (3,119) (3,291) (3,470)

Capital Grant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

S106 0 (256) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Returned to Capital Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Borrowing 0 (0) 0 (3,150) (112) 0 0 0 0 (2,536) (3,466)

Total Financing (13,153) (11,610) (15,889) (19,362) (14,381) (13,097) (12,697) (18,586) (19,297) (20,031) (20,791)

Net Over/Under Financing (0) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 223



T
his page is intentionally left blank



�� ���
� ���
� ���	 �


�� ��� � ��� ���� �� �� �� ��� �� �� �� ���� ���� �
� �
�� �	 �� �� � ��� ������ ���

� � � �� !"#$" %�&
'(�
)*+*�+*'
)�+�,+*-.   ��/0#" 1�2 03  3 0456 78
9 0# :/"# ;� 7''��< => ?��� ?��� 7��

� �� !"#$" %�&
'(*

)*+*�+*'
)*+��+*-@ 0#"  40AB �!# C" 4!# �/D 045 �A EF2$DG
9 0# :/"# ;� 7-'��< => ?��� ?��� 7��

� �� !"#$" %�&
'(>
�>+**+*'
�>+�'+*-.   ��/0#" 1�2 03  3 0456 78
9 0# :/"# ;� 7--��< => ?��� ?��� 7��

� �� !"#$" %�&
'()
��+**+*'
�(+**+*-H  / 4#  =�  C" 4"  4D 045
9 0# :/"# ;* 7*(��< => ?��� ?��� 7��

� �� !"#$" %�&
'I)
*>+�,+*'
**+�,+*-.   ��/0#" 1�2 03  3 0456 78
9 0# :/"# ;� 7-'��< =* ?��� ?��� 7��

� �� !"#$" %�&
'I�
*>+*�+*'
**+*�+*-8 :!# /0A" 004&@ �JK �0A 04&D 045" 4LM / :�

N""#&

9 0# :/"# ;* 7�,��< =) ?��� ?��� 7��

� �� !"#$" %�&
'I'
>I+*�+*'
>I+*�+*-8 :!# /0A" 004&@ �JK �0A 04&D 045" 4LM / :�

N""#&

9 0# :/"# ;* 7�(��< =I ?��� ?��� 7��

OP QRST UV WX

Y Z[\]̂_ `Ŷ a[[[ a[[[ Z[[

' � �� !"#. 0AA =)I& 0;!4 #" E�*>*
*,+*>+*'
b 04# 04& �/6c �A E
9 0# :/"# ;� 7'I��< =I ?��� ?��� 7��

� �� !"#. 0AA =)I& 0;!4 #" E�*>>
*,+*>+*'
b 04# 04& �/6c �A E
9 0# :/"# ;� 7��'I< =) ?��� ?��� 7��

d WXX `efS WghiUVP jRT UV WX

[ Zfe]]_ `k a[[[ a[[[ Z[[

** � �� !"#99
$
l 41�!E 2299$
**+�(+*'
l 41�!E bHl.b# �/A" 4LN" m:"&"# ;l 4!#l 4E9 0# :/"# ;� 7�>I(< =,' ?*,> 7��

� �� !"#99
$
Mb2299$
**+�(+*'
Mbb# �/A" 4LN" m:"&2 �!�/1�l 4!#"# :#"  40Al 4E9 0# :/"# ;� 7(-()< =) ?(-( ?I,* 7*�

� �� !"#99
$
l 4!" Ln#b# �/A" 4LN" m:"&"# ;$ :4&
*>+��+*'
l 4!" Ln#N" m:"&"# ;b# �/A" 4L.I
9 0# :/"# ;� 7(�II< =) ?*�( ?')I 7',

� �� !"#99
$
Mb99$
�*+�,+*(
Mbb# �/A" 4LN" m:"&2 �!�/1�l 4!#"# :#"  40Al 4E9 0# :/"# ;� 7(-()< =* ?I>* ?,I' 7-�

� �� !"#99
$
l 41�!E 99$
�*+�,+*(
l 41�!E bHl.b# �/A" 4LN" m:"&"# ;l 4!#l 4E9 0# :/"# ;� 7�>I(< =( ?'*I ?'I' 7��

ooOT UV WX

[ Z[̂fe_ `Yf aYkk akef Zk]

*I � �� !"#p@
8p$ :4&-,

�-+�>+*'
83 �/& ��4�" 1�/!"q" �&l 4E C�$ :4& !9 0# :/"# ;� 7����< =* ?')- ?-(, 7'�

� �� !"#p@
8p$ :4&-I

*,+�>+*'
r :�"# �/8 !!�#9 040L�C�4#
9 0# :/"# ;� 7����< => ?I-� ?I(* 7>I

� �� !"#p@
8p$ :4&-(

>>+�>+*'
rs9  /L048 !!�#9 040L�C�4#
9 0# :/"# ;� 7����< =, ?I-* ?->, 7,�

� �� !"#p@
8p$ :4&I*

>�+�(+*(
t �/C�!

9 0# :/"# ;� 7����< => ?�,- ?-�� 7'�

� �� !"#p@
8p$ :4&,-

>�+�I+*(
..N8N  E0A8 :#n  /"#" �!s / ��/# ;$ :4&9 0# :/"# ;� 7����< =* ?-I� ?'() 7I�

� �� !"#p@
8p$ :4&I>

>�+�(+*(
t �/C�!

9 0# :/"# ;� 7����< =I)> ?)�� 7,�

� �� !"#p@
8p$ :4&I�

�*+��+*(
N  #n3 :/;

9 0# :/"# ;� 7����< =I ?)(* ?I*� 7�>

uvwuO xiST UV WX

[ Z[[[[_ `Yy azeY aYYz Zk̂

{ R|UhPVT UV WX

[ Zf]Yk_ `fy akYy ayf\ ZŶ

H  # 0AH  # 0A} ~WiST UV WX

`fy akYy ayf\ ZŶ

� ������ ��� ������� �������� ������ ������������
� ���� �� ��� � ���� ���� �� �� ��� � ��

� ��� ��  ��� �� �� ��� � ���� ���� �� �� ���� ������¡

¢ £¢¤ ¥¦§̈§©̈©ª§«

s 0L�*  q*

2 �� /#M �4�/0# �&q  /M /01�!n 0CD  / :Ln.  :4E"A 0#*�+�*+*-*� ¬,)

Page 225



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 12 February 2019

Reporting officer: Sarah Parfitt, Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: PSAA Audit Quality Monitoring Arrangements 2018-19

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Members of updates made by the PSAA to the arrangements to monitor local audit 
quality for the audit year 2018-19. 

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information only. 

1. Background

1.1 Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) is specified by the Secretary of State for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government as the Appointing Person for 
principal local government, including police bodies.  In this role, PSAA lead the 
development, implementation and management of a collective scheme for the 
appointment of local auditors and set associated scale fees.  As part of the 
management of local auditors, PSAA will determine the standards to be followed 
by audit providers in delivering a quality audit process.

1.2 In December 2018 PSAA updated their quality monitoring arrangements for the 
audit year 2018-19.  A paper explaining these updates is attached at Appendix 2 
for Member information.

1.3 Reports on local audit quality published by the PSAA will be presented to future 
meetings of the Finance & Audit Committee for information.

2. BACKGROUND PAPERS

2.1 There are no background papers to this report. 

Page 227 Agenda Item 12



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

   

Legal N/A

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

N/A

Risk 
Assessment

N/A

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 
Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No decision being made

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No decision being made

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

N/A

Crime and 
Disorder

N/A

Digital and 
website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

N/A

Page 228



 

Public Sector Audit Appointments  Page 1  
 

PSAA audit quality monitoring arrangements   
 

PSAA is committed to ensuring good quality audit services for opted-in bodies. PSAA has 

adopted the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board’s Framework for Audit 

Quality (IAASB framework) as the model for its appointing person audit quality arrangements. 

This is widely regarded as a definitive statement on overall audit quality. 

The framework makes clear that a quality audit is likely to be achieved by an engagement team 

that: 

 exhibits appropriate values, ethics and attitudes; 

 is sufficiently knowledgeable, skilled and experienced and has sufficient time allocated to 
perform the audit work; 

 applies a rigorous audit process and quality control procedures that comply with law, 
regulation and applicable standards; 

 provided useful and timely reports; and  

 interacts appropriately with relevant stakeholders. 

Audit quality formed a core part of the evaluation of tenderers in the audit procurement, with 

tenderers encouraged to have regard to the IAASB Framework in their responses to show how 

they would meet our rigorous quality requirements. Ongoing contract management 

arrangements have the dual purpose of reporting for opted-in bodies and ensuring that PSAA 

meets is obligations under the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015, to monitor 

compliance of auditors against the obligations in the audit contracts.  

While responsibility for providing a quality audit rests ultimately with an auditor, audit quality, 

efficiency and effectiveness are shared responsibilities. They are key concerns for appointed 

auditors and audit firms; for chief finance officers (CFOs) and audit committees; for regulatory 

and supervisory bodies; for the Comptroller & Auditor General (C&AG) and the National Audit 

Office (NAO); and for Government. The IAASB Framework notes that all parts of the financial 

reporting supply chain have a role in contributing to and encouraging a local audit environment 

that supports high quality audits for opted-in bodies. PSAA’s sponsorship of the Local Audit 

Quality Forum is intended to support opted-in bodies’ role in audit quality and is in direct 

response to feedback from audited bodies. The forum will allow scope for discussion of 

common concerns by all stakeholders. 

Principles of our approach  

With the IAASB framework as the starting point, PSAA has worked with its Advisory Panel and 

other key stakeholders to develop this approach to monitoring the quality of audit services 

provided to opted-in bodies from 2018/19. 

We intend that our approach is: 

 holistic – includes a range of actions (encouraging, monitoring, reporting); 

 engaged – links with all parts of the financial reporting supply chain including audit 
committees and regulators; 

 informed – brings together intelligence from a variety of sources; 

 transparent – information is shared openly where possible; 

 drives continuous improvement – recognises progress will be made by small gains;  

 proportionate – arrangements should not be unduly bureaucratic or place undue burdens on 
firms; and 

Page 229



 timely – encourages action to be taken when required. 

These principles provide the drivers of our approach to monitoring overall audit quality. 

Monitoring audit quality 

The IAASB framework recognises there is a complex interplay of many factors in audit quality, 

and notes the need for a rounded approach.  

We have taken the attributes that IAASB Framework expects to be present within a quality audit 

and distilled them into three tests which we will use to consider the quality of audit services 

provided by auditors under our contracts:  

 adherence to professional standards and guidance; 

 compliance with contractual requirements; and 

 relationship management. 

This approach will enable PSAA to meet the statutory requirement to monitor compliance with 

contractual obligations, and will provide information for all stakeholders on the quality of audits 

provided under our contracts against IAASB expectations of a quality audit. We have set out 

below the sources we will use to monitor audit quality for the three tests to provide a rounded 

view. 

The diagram at Annex 1 provides an overview of our approach. 

Adherence to professional standards and guidance 

Information on the firms’ adherence to professional standards and guidance will come from the 

results of professional regulatory reviews completed by the Audit Quality Review Team (AQRT) 

for the Financial Reporting Council and the Quality Assurance Department (QAD) for the 

Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales , the principal RSB for local audits in 

England. The regulators will be reviewing a sample of local audits. PSAA will be informed by but 

will not be duplicating the work of the regulators. 

We will triangulate these results with information on audit quality provided by firms in their 

transparency reports and from their own internal quality monitoring reviews (iQMRs) 

Compliance with contractual requirements 

Information on a firm’s compliance with contractual requirements will come from:  

 An assessment against a suite of performance indicators.  We will report publicly on 
firms’ performance against targets of particular interest to opted-in bodies. This will include 
information on delivery of audit opinions and other outputs in a timely manner, to facilitate 
publication of annual accounts. We will distinguish between those items which are indicative 
of audit quality and the work of the firm (for example non-compliance with PSAA Terms of 
Appointment) and those which relate to the local authority financial reporting supply chain 
as a whole (for example issue of opinion on financial statements by statutory publishing 
date). 

 An assessment of a firm’s compliance with its agreed method statement. The method 
statement is taken from the firm’s ITT response and incorporated in the contract, and 
includes inter alia continuing professional development of staff, quality assurance 
arrangements, and achievement of social value commitments. Firms will self-certify their 
compliance. We intend to rely on a firm’s internal control procedures for providing this 
information. This will be subject to PSAA verification testing and triangulated with audit 
quality information from other sources e.g. surveys of audited bodies.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

Page 230



Relationship Management 

Information on a firm’s relationship management will come from satisfaction surveys. Surveys 

will be sent at appropriate times to representatives of both management (for example the 

Director of Finance) and those charged with governance (for example the Audit Committee 

Chair) for each opted-in body. Any complaints made will also be assessed in considering overall 

relationship management. 

Reporting on audit quality 

Based on these monitoring arrangements, PSAA will report on the three tests (professional 

standards, contractual requirements and relationship management) and on overall audit quality 

to stakeholders.  

PSSA will meet with firms’ contact partners to discuss audit quality. We will produce quarterly 

monitoring reports for discussion with each firm, together with an annual report. A summary 

report on the regime as a whole will also be prepared.  

All reports will all be published on our website.  Our annual reports are provided to audit firms’ 

quality and assurance partners. 

Taking action on audit quality concerns 

PSAA has contracted with firms on the basis that quality audit services will be provided to 

audited bodies.  

Where PSAA’s audit quality monitoring arrangements identify that an audit may not have 

reached the required standards (for example failure to meet contractual requirements, or poor 

feedback from audited bodies) firms will have the opportunity to rectify the situation. In the first 

instance, PSAA will meet with the contact partner for the relevant firm to discuss: 

 the reason for any quality concerns; 

 the action being taken by the firm to address the matter; and 

 the expected timetable for improvement. 

We would expect that, recognising their professional registration requirements, firms will take 

action to address problems as they are identified. Failure to do so could lead to loss of 

accreditation from the regulatory bodies. Concerns identified by professional regulators will be 

managed within that framework. 

Where a firm fails to take action, or that action is inconsequential, we would raise the matter 

with the firm’s audit quality partner or equivalent for the firm as a whole. Ultimately, PSAA’s 

appointing person contracts provide that firms must comply with our monitoring arrangements. 

The contracts provide for termination where there is a material breach or persistent failure. 

Consistently providing poor quality audits would be viewed as persistent failure. 

Reviewing PSAA’s approach to audit quality 

We propose that the approach to audit quality be reviewed in the spring of 2020. This will be 

after the first round of reporting on audits completed under the Appointing Person contracts. 

  

Page 231



Appendix 1, Annex A: Audit quality approach diagram 

 

  

 

Page 232



 

Page 233



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Treasury Management Strategy and Capital Strategy 2019/20
	TMSS 2019-20 Final
	1. Gravesham Capital Strategy 2019
	2. Appendix 1 - CP1 Form 2019-20 Budget ORIGINAL
	3. Appendix 2 - GF Capital programme to 2023-24
	4. Appendix 3 - HRA Capital Programme to 2023-24

	7 Audit & Counter Fraud Update - Q3 2018-19
	2. APPENDIX 2 A&CF Update - 1 October 2018 to 31 December 2018

	8 Audit & Counter Fraud Strategy Review
	6. APPENDIX 2. A&CF Strategy Review Dec 2018

	9 Audit & Counter Fraud Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme Review
	4. APPENDIX 2. A&CF QAIP 2019-20

	10 Development of the Corporate Risk Register for 2019-2020
	2. Risk Management Strategy  2019-20 updated as per audit findings and Councillor Suggestions
	3. Appendix III Risk Analysis Document
	4. Appendix IV Draft Corporate Risk Register 2019-20 (updated structure)

	11 Budget Monitoring Report - 2018-19 (Q3)
	Appendix 2 - MTFP - V13 - 2018-19 - BMR Q3 & Budget-Setting
	Appendix 3 - HRA Revenue Business Plan
	Appendix 4 - HRA Capital Business Plan
	Appendix 5 - Investments as at 31 December 2018

	12 PSAA Audit Quality Monitoring Arrangements
	2. PSAA AQMA Dec 2018


